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Dr. LIU Yong, Mr. LI Bu, Ms. CHEN Qingging and Dr. HONG
Kunxue were appointed as executive Directors of the second
session of the Board on May 8, 2024; Dr. WANG Ruwei, Dr.
ZHANG Jiaxin, Dr. ZHOU Hongbin and Mr. HU Houwei were
appointed as non-executive Directors of the second session of
the Board on May 8, 2024; Dr. XIA Lijun, Mr. LIANG Guodong,
Professor GAO Feng and Professor YUEN Ming Fai were
appointed as independent non-executive Directors of the
second session of the Board on May 8, 2024; Dr. LIU Yong
was elected as the chairman of the second session of the
Board on May 8, 2024. Dr. CHEN Jianping ceased to serve as
an executive Director on May 8, 2024.

Ms. QIAO Weiwei and Ms. LIU Ping were re-elected as
employee representative Supervisors of the second session
of the Supervisory Board on May 7, 2024; Ms. QIAN Ranting
and Mr. WANG Feizhou were appointed as non-employee
representative Supervisors of the second session of the
Supervisory Board on May 8, 2024; Ms. QIAO Weiwei was
appointed as the chairwoman of the second session of the
Supervisory Board on May 8, 2024.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES?

Ms. CHEN Qingging
Ms. YUNG Mei Yee

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. LIU Yong
Mr. LI Bu

AUDIT COMMITTEE*

Dr. XIA Lijun (Chairman)
Professor YUEN Ming Fai
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE?®

Professor YUEN Ming Fai (Chairman)
Dr. XIA Lijun

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Professor GAO Feng

Mr. LI Bu

NOMINATION COMMITTEE®

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman)
Professor GAO Feng

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Dr. XIA Lijun

g Ms. YUNG Mei Yee was appointed as a joint company

secretary of the Company on June 18, 2024, and Ms. HO Yin
Kwan ceased to serve as a joint company secretary of the
Company on the same day.

Dr. XIA Lijun, Professor YUEN Ming Fai and Dr. ZHOU Hongbin
were appointed as members of the Audit Committee of the
second session of the Board on May 8, 2024, with Dr. XIA Lijun
serving as the chairman.

Professor YUEN Ming Fai, Dr. XIA Lijun, Mr. LI Bu, Mr. LIANG
Guodong and Professor GAO Feng were appointed as
members of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the
second session of the Board on May 8, 2024, with Professor
YUEN Ming Fai serving as the chairman.

Dr. LIU Yong, Dr. XIA Lijun, Mr. LIANG Guodong and Professor
GAO Feng were appointed as members of the Nomination
Committee of the second session of the Board on May 8, 2024,
with Dr. LIU Yong serving as the chairman.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear Shareholders,

In 2024, the biopharmaceutical industry as a whole continued
to present a complex situation of challenges and opportunities.
Facing the external pressure, Recbio people have always adhered
to the original inspiration of “developing the first class vaccines
to protect human health” and the development principle of “value
creation”, with a view to accumulating vigorous development
potential in the recession and welcoming the value release of our
core products.

In 2024, Recbhio’s research and development and business
efforts progressed in tandem with encouraging results. Our key
product pipelines made progress as expected. The phase Il
clinical trial of REC603, a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine, was
progressing well, and we have finished the visit and observation
of the 36th month and initiated the visit and observation of the
42nd month; The phase | clinical study of REC610, a novel
adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine, with Shingrix® as
positive control was carried out in the Philippines and China,
respectively, and the expected results were obtained. The
data showed that REC610 induced strong gE-specific immune
response at a level comparable to those in the Shingrix® group.
Its phase Il clinical trial started in October in China, and 24,640
subjects were enrolled in just two months. The preclinical study of
REC604c, novel adjuvanted recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine,
was completed. The immunogenicity induced by the vaccination
of two doses of REC604c is generally superior to that induced by
three doses of Merck Sharp & Dohme’s Gardasil®9 under identical
immune dosage.

Our technology platform capability is further recognized by the
industry. The two novel adjuvants BFAO1 and BFAO3 developed
by our Company are included in the adjuvant supply pool of
the Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations (CEPI), an
international authoritative organization. This technology is a core
“bottleneck” in the vaccine field, and Recbio is one of the global
leaders in this field.
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We have completed the construction of our HPV vaccine
industrialization base and started the pilot production stage. The
industrialization base complies with Chinese and international
GMP standards and is capable of producing up to 20 million
doses of recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine per year. We have
also completed the construction of the cell industrialization
base for innovative vaccines (CHO), which can support the
commercialization of novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles
vaccine and other vaccines.

During the Reporting Period, the Board approved the resolution on
the issuance of Domestic Shares, and proposed to issue not more
than 143,112,702 Domestic Shares to the subscriber Yangtze
River Pharmaceutical under the specific mandate. It is expected
that the proceeds raised from the Issuance will be approximately
RMB800,000,004. After deducting the relevant issuance
expenses, it will be used for the research and development of
novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine REC610 and
the supplement of working capital, providing reliable financial
guarantee for the implementation of the medium and long-term
strategy.

With its achievements in ESG and technological innovation,
the Company was listed in the “2024 TOP10 China Listed
Pharmaceutical Companies in ESG Competitiveness” (2024 9 El
ez /A RIESGHIFE 1TOP10), and was awarded the “Golden
Grid Award” — “Annual Innovation Award” (‘&g —FE
A3 7148”) by Gelonghui. This is a strong demonstration of the
Company’s step-by-step progress on the path of sustainable
development and innovation.

In addition, the Company and the School of Public Health of
Nanjing Medical University jointly applied for the “Jiangsu
Infection Immunity and Vaccine Engineering Center” (T#k & &%
PR EZE TI2H L), and the jointly built “Jiangsu Graduate
Workstation” was recognized by the Jiangsu Education
Department. The Company has established internally the “Recbio
College” (##t2PT) and launched the on-the-job graduate
program to provide a platform and assistance for the vigorous
Recbio people to further their education, and to achieve the “four-
chain integration” of education chain, talent chain, industrial chain
and innovation chain.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Looking ahead to 2025, Recbio is expected to submit the
marketing application of its first strategic product. This
achievement is the result of the wisdom and dedication of all
Recbio people, and signifies that shareholders are about to gain
valuable returns for their support over the years.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our investors who have supported us for a long time,
our team who has worked side by side with us and our partners
who have placed their trust in us!

In 2025, let's calibrate the course with “value creation”, break the
waves with the “technology ark”, and open up the vast blue ocean
of innovative vaccines!

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman of the Board and General Manager
Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
April 2025
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Financial Highlights
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the HECEZMBER R BRI A S E i fE
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the MREENEREEERABZHMENT
audited financial information and financial statements is set out

below:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR GEeBEREREMEEHKER
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended December 31,
HZE12A31HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARMFRT AEEFT ARETT AREFT ARETT

Other income and gains HAA Rz 61,644 100,555 147,993 27,810 9,551

Loss before tax BREAIE R (561,897)  (572,443)  (735996)  (657,566)  (179,400)

Loss for the year FREE (561,897)  (572,443)  (735996)  (657,566)  (179,400)

Loss attributable to owners of the parent B2 8% & AfE(HEE (562,389)  (571,957)  (722,703)  (657,561)  (179,400)

Loss per share — Basic and FiER - EAREE (1.16) (1.19) (1.52) (1.56) (0.58)
diluted (in RMB) (AR¥)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL fRE M BARR R

POSITION
As at December 31,
M12A831H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204F
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000
ABEFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Total non-current assets FnBEERE 1,285,103 1,056,904 889,687 624,649 337,638
Total current assets MEBAELT 655,129 1,129,373 1,419,920 1,294,571 709,376
Total current liabilities MEAELTE 839,420 444,235 328,983 139,293 57,481
Net current assets MENBEFE (184,291) 685,138 1,090,937 1,155,278 651,895
Total assets less current liabilities EEQERAHAE 1,100,812 1,742,042 1,980,624 1,779,927 989,533
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEEE 571,488 671,098 327,546 106,631 1,998,317

Total (deficit)/equity (B4t / Em e 529,324 1,070,944 1,653,078 1,673,296 (1,008,784)
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Management Discussion and Ana
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

Founded in 2012, we are a vaccine company dedicated to the
research, development and commercialization of innovative
vaccines, with a high-value innovative vaccine portfolio driven
by in-house developed technologies. We primarily focus on the
R&D of innovative vaccines such as HPV vaccine candidates.
Our vaccine portfolio currently consists of more than 10 vaccines,
including our three strategic products, namely REC603, a
recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine under phase Ill clinical trial;
REC610, a novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine, which
is currently under phase Ill clinical trial in China; and a bivalent
recombinant respiratory syncytial virus vaccine, which is about to
enter the clinical research stage.

Through years of dedication and focus on this area, we have
developed a comprehensive vaccine innovation engine consisting
of a novel adjuvant platform, protein engineering platform,
immunological evaluation platform and process development
platform. These platforms empower us to continue to discover and
develop innovative vaccines that apply advanced technologies
in our vaccine candidates. We are one of the few companies
that are capable of developing novel adjuvants, benchmarking
all of the FDA-approved novel adjuvants to date. Our four
technology platforms create synergies among the design and
optimization of antigens, the development and production of
adjuvants and the identification of the optimal combinations of
antigens and adjuvants. We have also established an IPD system,
enabling us to advance the R&D of multiple vaccine candidates
simultaneously. Guided by our OPTI vaccine development
philosophy, we have established a vaccine portfolio consisting of
more than 10 vaccine candidates.

EH O
BE
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—ERARERFSIE  eERFRER TS &R
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ERNREASTETKIBRUE - HATFEEL
IPDZ T » 23 958 50 R B HEE 2 SRR B R & RO
%o BREHMHOPTIREMEES  BHMEELH
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We have started to build our manufacturing capabilities at an early
stage, aiming at ensuring our vaccine candidates to be smoothly
transferred into successful commercial vaccine products. We have
constructed an HPV vaccine manufacturing facility in Taizhou City,
Jiangsu Province, which meets the WHO Prequalification (WHO
PQ) Standards, with a designed capacity of 20 million doses of
HPV 9-valent vaccines per year. Currently, the facility is under
the stage of pilot production, synchronized with the progress of
the clinical studies for the HPV 9-valent vaccine to support the
BLA application in China. In addition, we have completed the
construction of our innovative vaccines manufacturing facility
based on the CHO cell expression systems in November 2021,
and successfully acquired the vaccine production license issued
by Jiangsu MPA. This manufacturing facility has received the
European Union (EU) Qualified Person Declaration issued by
a Qualified Person (QP) for several consecutive years. This
manufacturing facility has a GFA of approximately 17,000 sg.m.,
and can be used for the manufacturing of a variety of innovative
vaccines (CHO cell), including the novel adjuvanted recombinant
shingles vaccines.

Our Vaccine Pipeline

Our vaccine portfolio strategically covered eight disease areas
with significant burden globally, including HPV, varicella zoster
virus, respiratory syncytial virus, human cytomegalovirus, etc. As
of the Latest Practicable Date, our vaccine portfolio consisted of
more than 10 vaccine candidates including, in particular, REC603,
a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate under phase Il
clinical trial in China; a novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles
vaccine; and a bivalent recombinant respiratory syncytial virus
vaccine, which is about to enter the clinical research stage.
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BEERWED T

The fo

llowing table summarizes our vaccine pipeline as of the

TEBEBEREERA TR RRMANRAEER °

Latest Practicable Date.
R&D Status
#RaE
Diseases Candidates Type of Vaccine Adjuvant Systems. Product Rights Commercial Rights IND Filing Phase | Phase Il Phase Ill Bkl
£5 REER L] MRS (e L] INDE: IR R B
Recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine Alum Self-developed Global ’
RECSD A b
EENEHPVES ] EEES 25
RECG04C Novel adjuvanted recombinant HPY 9-valent vaccine Undisclosed novel adjuvant” Self-developed Global
FENBRNEHPYEE FERAEERO FE 28
Cervical Cancers.
& Genital Warts RECE01 Recombinant HPV bivalent (Types 16/18) vaccine Alum Self-developed Global
o L el hio
SEBLEEER EIA=(F (16/18) HPVEE [23]] BIFE 28 i
RECE02 Recombinant HPV bivalent (Types 6/11) vaccine. Aum Self-developed Global -
HAfF (611 HPVAE ] aEHE 25
Novel adjuvanted recombinant HPY quadrivalent vaccine®™ Self-developed Global
e FEBAREHPYEE B EE S
Novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine® Self-developed Global _
FECE10 FEATERRABEREY EZ T ety 231 4
Respiratory
Diseases
Caused by REC625 Bivalent recombinant respiratory syncytial virus vaccine  Undisclosed novel adjuvant” Self-developed Global -
Respiatory SEEETREARRERE FERALERO EHE 5
Syncytial Virus (RSV)/
Metapneumovirus.
Infection
FRELR
RECE2T Recombinant metapneumovirus vaccine Undisclosed novel adjuvant!! Sell-developed Global
LA TERHFERE AERRLIER EE S L4
B3N
FRERE
Human cytomegaloviru
disease - developed Giotal
RECB09 lovl
AESE BOABERREES FERRRIERD EHE 25 L4
FRER
FEABER ERSEANERERE AfFHEs S
RECE2) Recombinant Hepatiis I Selideveloped Globel
EAZUFAAERE ABBHEED xR 28
RECE30 Therapeutic recomtinant Hepats novel ar J-developed Global
AEREEZUFARERE AR sEHE 25
RECE6 Us vaccine n Sel-developed Global
ARREPFERE FEANDER EE 25 L4
Recombinant infiugnza vaccine Undisclosed nove! adjuvant Self-developed Global
RECB17
BAREAE FEBATE A HERE 25 -

Notes:

Y Core Product HLER:

“Undisclosed novel adjuvant” represents a self-developed
novel adjuvant to be used in vaccine candidates.

Recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine, REC603, obtained the
IND approval from the NMPA in July 2018. Based on product
registration classification and written communication with
the CDE of the NMPA, we were approved to directly conduct
phase Il clinical trial in China upon obtaining phase | clinical
data. REC603 is currently in the pivotal stage of phase Ill
clinical trial in China. Based on the performance commitments
made by the Company in the announcement of the issuance
of Domestic Shares published on November 11, 2024: the
clinical analysis report of the HPV vaccines should be obtained
by August 31, 2025, and no later than February 28, 2026; the
marketing application for HPV vaccines should be submitted
by December 31, 2025, and no later than June 30, 2026; the
HPV vaccines should be approved for marketing by December
31, 2026, and no later than June 30, 2027.

[RBEEMAEH | SBEFREREDHERANE
EIEEE AR

SHNEBHPVE EREC603 201847 &S
BREEFINDHLE - RIEBEREMOEAR
HBREEFEQETIFONEEER © B
HETES I HEREUERE - BERETBETII
HiER R 5.5 ° REC603 1E &2 1A AP BR 111 HA & PR 7Y
R EL - ERNARAFE2024F11 A11 8T
BNEBETRERT AR EREAR : HPVE
B FER 20254 8 A31 BATESRR D ITRE -
HETER202642 A28H : HPVR EHER
2025F 12 A31HAIRREM LT HB ' &E
THEF 202646 A30H : HPVIZ H B 2026
12 A31 BRI £ - SETKER 20276 A
30H o



Novel adjuvanted recombinant HPV quadrivalent vaccine
(REC604a) has obtained the clinical trial approval notice from
Chinese medical products administrations.

Novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine, REC610,
received a drug clinical trial approval notice (notice number:
2023LP02151) issued by the NMPA in October 2023, which
is approved for use as a preventive 3.3 biological product
in its phase | and phase lll clinical trials being carried out
in China. The Company initiated the Phase Il clinical trial in
October 2024. Based on the performance commitments made
by the Company in the announcement of the issuance of
Domestic Shares published on November 11, 2024: the clinical
analysis report of the shingles vaccines should be obtained
by September 30, 2025, and no later than March 31, 2026;
the marketing application for the shingles vaccines should be
submitted by December 31, 2025, and no later than May 31,
2026; the shingles vaccines should be approved for marketing
by November 30, 2026, and no later than May 31, 2027.

Recombinant Bicomponent COVID-19 Vaccine, ReCOV, was
designed and developed by the Group jointly with Professor
Wang Xiangxi's group at the Institute of Biophysics, Chinese
Academy of Science. Since it obtained the first clinical
trial approval in April 2021, the Company has conducted
multiple clinical trials in countries including New Zealand,
the Philippines, the UAE, China, Russia and Nepal, achieving
several complete clinical research results. ReCOV was
granted the emergency use authorization in Mongolia in
2023. Currently, there is no ongoing clinical trial for this
project worldwide. Given the relatively low global demand
for COVID-19 vaccines at present, continuing to advance
the subsequent registration and commercialization of this
project may not yield favorable economic and social benefits.
The Company will no longer make new rounds of clinical
development for COVID-19 vaccine projects developed against
the existing strains, but will reasonably allocate resources
based on the future development plans for respiratory
combination vaccines, the market, policy environment and
other factors.

The preclinical studies of bivalent recombinant respiratory
syncytial virus vaccine, REC625, are scheduled to be
completed in 2025.

The novel adjuvanted recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine,
REC604c, was submitted for clinical trial application (IND) in
China in February 2025 and accepted by NMPA.
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HPV Vaccine Pipeline

HPV is the most common viral pathogen of the reproductive tract.
Although HPV infections may clear up within a few months without
any intervention, certain types of HPV infections can persist and
develop into cervical cancer. These high-risk HPV infections are
mainly caused by HPV types 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58, which
account for approximately 90% of cervical cancer cases globally.
It is widely accepted that HPV vaccine can play an important role
in eliminating cervical cancer as it can prevent HPV infection on
certain high-risk types. In addition, some cancers of the anus,
vulva, vagina, and oropharynx and most genital warts can be
prevented by HPV vaccines.

REC603 — Phase |l Stage HPV 9-valent Vaccine — Our Core
Product

REC603, our Core Product, is designed to provide protection
against HPV types 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58. Our phase
[Il" clinical trial of REC603 in China is in progress and regular
follow-up is being conducted in accordance with the clinical
protocol. We have finished the visit and observation of the 36th
month and initiated the visit and observation of the 42nd month.
We will carry out an interim analysis by adopting pathological
endpoints and anticipate submitting a BLA application in 2025
when conditions are satisfied.

Summary of Clinical Trial: We jointly applied, and obtained the
umbrella IND approval for REC603 in July 2018. Based on product
registration classification and written communication with the CDE
of the NMPA, we were approved to directly conduct phase Il
clinical trial in China upon obtaining phase | clinical data.
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The CDE of the NMPA issued the “Technical Guidelines for
the Clinical Trials of Human Papillomavirus Vaccines (for Trial
Implementation)” (the “Guidelines”) in July 2023, which clearly
points out that the randomized, double-blind and placebo-
controlled design is still the best strategy to confirm the protective
efficacy of the first-generation of vaccine for the time being.
Compared to other domestic HPV 9-valent vaccines, our phase Il
clinical trial in China closely adheres to the Guidelines, which will
help REC603 benefit Chinese women sooner. The phase Il clinical
trial in China consists of three parts, i.e., the primary efficacy
trial, the immuno-bridging trial in younger-age groups, and the
immunogenicity comparative trial with Gardasil®9, with a multi-
center, randomized, blinded and parallel controlled design and
with a total size of 16,050 subjects. At the same time, follow-up on
the subjects of REC603’s primary efficacy trial is being conducted
in accordance with the clinical protocol. We have finished the
visit and observation of the 36th month and initiated the visit
and observation of the 42nd month. We will carry out an interim
analysis by taking pathological endpoints and plan to submit
a BLA application to the NMPA in 2025 when conditions are
satisfied. Since obtaining the IND approval in China, no material
unexpected accidents or adverse changes in relation to REC603
have occurred.

Advantages of REC603: We believe that REC603 has various
advantages, including:

Positive immunogenicity profile. REC603 demonstrates a positive
immunogenicity profile in its phase | clinical trial. In general, we
observed a significant increase in terms of NAb GMT level against
all of the target HPV types.

High-yield and stable production of HPV VLPs. REC603 adopts H.
polymorpha expression system. In general, the VLPs from different
expression systems are all highly similar to natural HPV capsid in
structure and epitope in order to trigger immune response after
vaccination, including those being produced by H. polymorpha
expression system. H. polymorpha, a methylotrophic yeast
species, is able to grow to very high cell density rapidly on simple
media and has relatively high optimum growth temperature.
Owing to its strong and tunable promoters derived from the
methanol utilization pathway, high secretion capacity, and lower
glycosylation activity compared to S. cerevisiae, H. polymorpha
is suitable for production of recombinant proteins for medical
use. With high copies of expression cassettes integrated stably in
the genome of H. polymorpha, high-yield and stable expression
of HPV VLPs is achieved, making our vaccine candidate more
suitable for commercial production.
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Favorable safety profile. REC603 was safe and well-tolerated
as shown in the phase | clinical trial for REC603. There were
no statistical differences in terms of incidences of AEs between
the vaccine group and the placebo group. Although there is
currently no available paper reporting a head-to-head clinical trial
comparing domestic HPV vaccines and foreign HPV vaccines,
in the clinical trial conducted by Merck Sharp & Dohme for
Gardasil®9 in 2009, the rate of adverse event was 86.6% among
subjects enrolled in the vaccine cohort, as compared to 53.75%
as observed in the phase | clinical trial of REC603." The main
adverse reactions were expected fever and inject site pain, mostly
were transient and mild.

Scalable manufacturing potential. Our patented technology in HPV
VLPs in combination with optimized fermentation strategy and
purification process enables us to achieve high and stable yield
in bulk production. With well-defined critical process parameters,
manufacturing of REC603 can be easily scaled up to meet the
market demand domestically and globally.

Opportunities and Potentials: \We believe there are significant
opportunities for our HPV vaccine candidates, considering the
following factors:

Superiority of HPV 9-valent vaccines. In general, HPV 9-valent
vaccines can prevent against approximately 90% of cervical
cancer and 90% of the anal and genital warts and are widely
considered as the most effective vaccines for HPV. Currently,
there is no domestic HPV 9-valent vaccine approved for sale in
China.

L The above information was derived from multiple clinical
trials conducted for different vaccines without the support of
controlled, head-to-head clinical studies, and a number of
factors (including the different subject enrollment standards
adopted in different trials, different population characteristics
of subjects, physicians’ inoculation skills and experiences,
and lifestyle of the subjects) could affect the relevant clinical
results and could render cross-trial comparison results less
meaningful.
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Domestic substitute. To the best knowledge and information of
the Company with reference to independent market research,
the first domestic HPV bivalent vaccine accounted for 66.7% of
China’s HPV bivalent vaccine market in terms of production value
in the first year of its launch by virtue of its cost effectiveness,
even if it was only approved in 2019 whereas the first imported
HPV bivalent vaccine was approved in China in 2016. We believe
that considering domestic vaccine products tend to adopt more
favorable prices as compared to their global peers, HPV 9-valent
vaccines will follow a similar trend in China after being approved.
In recent years, the Chinese government has also promulgated
policies in favor of domestic HPV vaccine developers. For
example, in 2019, the National Health Commission of the People’s
Republic of China released the Healthy China Action — Cancer
Prevention and Control Implementation Plan (2019-2022), stating
to accelerate the review and approval process of domestic HPV
vaccines and improve the accessibility of HPV vaccines. As one
of the few domestic vaccine companies to have phase Ill stage
HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate, we believe we will benefit from
such favorable government policies in the future.

Same age coverage as imported vaccines. On August 30, 2022,
HPV 9-valent vaccine available in the market in China has been
expanded for females aged 9 to 45. Our Core Product, REC603,
has also initiated phase Il clinical trial for females aged 9 to 45 in
2021, indicating a same coverage in terms of age as compared to
the current approved vaccines.

Next-generation HPV vaccines under development. We are also
developing next-generation HPV 9-valent vaccine candidates
with novel adjuvants, which are designed to adopt a two-shot
regimen without compromising the efficacy/safety profile of
vaccine candidates, and are potentially superior as compared to
the commercialized products as they are all adopting three-shot
regimen.

The Guidelines clearly points out that “randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled design is currently the best strategy to confirm
the protective efficacy of first-generation vaccines”. Our phase Il
clinical protocol for the HPV 9-valent vaccine strictly follows the
guidelines of the regulatory authorities; and we have the largest
HPV 9-valent vaccine phase Il clinical trial subjects in China
and are conducting clinical trials in Henan, Shanxi and Yunnan
provinces with high HPV infection rates. Currently, the Company is
conducting follow-up visits according to the established protocol,
maintaining ranking among the leading group in China in terms of
clinical development progress.
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Cautionary Statement required under Rule 18A.08(3)
of the Listing Rules: We cannot guarantee that we will
ultimately develop or market our Core Product successfully.
Shareholders and potential investors of our Company are
advised to exercise due care when dealing in the Shares.

REC601 — Phase | Stage HPV Bivalent (Type 16/18) Vaccine

The bivalent vaccine candidates are designed as HPV protection
solutions for people with different affordability and have the
potential to be included in the national vaccination regime in
China and other jurisdictions. Due to the cost advantage of the
HPV bivalent vaccine, it may become the mainstream vaccine in
developing countries.

We are developing a HPV bivalent vaccine candidate, namely
REC601, targeting HPV types 16 and 18, which are the main
cause for a majority of cervical cancer cases. Currently, we have
completed data evaluation and analysis on the phase | trial in
China. The phase | trial data showed that REC601 has a favorable
safety profile and an immunogenicity profile in healthy females
aged 9 to 45. There was no vaccination-related grade 4 or higher
AEs or SAEs. 30 days after the whole immunization: the positive
rates of HPV types 16 and 18 antibodies reached 100.00%, and
the negative population before immunization also reached positive
conversion after the whole immunization (positive conversion rate
was 100.00%).

The HPV types 16 and 18 antibody levels also increased
significantly: GMT of HPV type 16 antibody increased by 632.99
times and GMT of HPV type 18 antibody increased by 1,194.02
times compared with that before immunization. REC601 adopts a
similar technical process line with the recombinant HPV 9-valent
vaccine.

We will adopt a more reasonable follow-up development strategy
by taking into account market demand and relevant regulatory
guidance.
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REC602 — Phase | Stage HPV Bivalent (Type 6/11) Vaccine

We are also developing REC602, an HPV bivalent vaccine
candidate targeting HPV type 6/11. We have completed the phase
| trial in late 2022. REC602 adopts a similar technical process line
with the recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine. We will adopt a more
reasonable follow-up development strategy by taking into account
market demand and relevant regulatory guidance.

REC604a and REC604c - Early-stage HPV Vaccines Formulated
with Novel Adjuvant

Supported by our strong technology platforms, we are exploring
to develop HPV vaccines formulated with novel adjuvant,
namely REC604a and REC604c. Unlike the traditional aluminum
adjuvant we are currently using, we are conducting early-stage
development of next-generation HPV 9-valent and quadrivalent
vaccines formulated with a self-developed novel adjuvant. Based
on existing studies, compared to Merck’s Gardasil, GSK’s AS04-
adjuvanted Cervarix has demonstrated strong cross-protection
effectiveness with higher titers of neutralizing antibodies in
clinical trials, suggesting that novel adjuvants can enhance the
immunogenicity of HPV vaccines. As the introduction of novel
adjuvant enhances immunogenicity profile of REC604a and
REC604c, they are designed to adopt a two-shot regimen. We
have obtained the clinical trial approval notice for REC604a in
China, and will adopt a more reasonable follow-up development
strategy by taking into account market demand and relevant
regulatory guidance. The application for Chinese clinical trial of
REC604c, a novel adjuvanted recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine,
has been accepted, we plan to use a self-developed novel
adjuvant to improve the immunogenicity of REC604c.
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Shingles Vaccine

REC610 — Novel Adjuvanted Recombinant Shingles Vaccine
Candidate under Phase Il Clinical Stage

REC610 received a drug clinical trial approval notice (notice
number: 2023LP02151) issued by the NMPA in October 2023,
which is approved for use as a preventive 3.3 biological product
in its phase | and phase Il clinical trials being carried out in
China. At present, we have completed the enrollment and the
full course of vaccination of all subjects in the phase Il clinical
trial in China, and are conducting follow-up visit and observation
according to the clinical protocol. The randomized, double-blind
and placebo-controlled clinical study is designed to evaluate the
protection effectiveness, safety and immunogenicity of REC610
vaccine in healthy subjects aged 40 years and above, and a total
of 24,640 subjects have been enrolled in 18 research centers
in Yunnan, Henan and Shanxi provinces. Previously, exploratory
clinical studies of REC610 with Shingrix® as positive control were
carried out in the Philippines and China, respectively, and the
expected results were obtained. The data showed that in healthy
subjects aged 40 years and above, the overall safety profile of
two doses of REC610 was favorable, and no vaccination-related
SAEs or AESIs, or TEAEs leading to early withdrawal from the
study were observed. REC610 induces strong gE-specific immune
response at a level comparable to those in the Shingrix® group.

1) Safety: REC610 had good safety profile with the two-
dose vaccination regimen. No SAE, AESI or TEAE leading
to early discontinuation was reported. The incidences of
vaccination related TEAEs, solicited local and systemic
TEAEs, unsolicited TEAEs were comparable between
REC610 group and Shingrix® group. Majority of vaccination
related TEAEs were grade 1 or grade 2, and all recovered
in 1-3 days post vaccination. The common (=5%) solicited
TEAEs in REC610 group included injection site pain,
injection site swelling, pyrexia, headache, and myalgia.
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2) Immunogenicity: REC610 induced strong gE-specific
humoral and cellular immune responses, which were
evident after the first vaccination and reached the peak
at 30 days after the second vaccination. The humoral and
cellular immune responses were comparable between
REC610 and Shingrix® group, and the immune response
level in REC610 group was numerically higher than that
in Shingrix® group. REC610 induced favorable humoral
and cellular immune responses in both elderly and adult
groups. Both REC610 and Shingrix® groups induced
high levels of anti-gE antibodies at 60 days after the first
dose vaccination, and 30 days after the second dose
vaccination. The GMT, GMI and SCR of anti-gE antibodies
were comparable in REC610 group and Shingrix® group,
especially, the GMT and GMI of anti-gE antibodies were
numerically slightly higher in REC610 group than those
in Shingrix® group. Both REC610 and Shingrix® groups
induced strong cellular immune response at 60 days after
the first dose vaccination, and 30 days after the second
vaccination. Tested by the internationally recognized ICS
method, the frequencies and CMI response rates of CD4+T
cells secreting at least one or two of gE-specific cytokines
were comparable in REC610 group and Shingrix® group,
and the cellular immune response level was numerically
slightly higher in REC610 group than that in Shingrix®
group.

Shingles is an acute infectious skin disease caused by
reactivation of latent varicella zoster virus (VZV) in the body.
There is no specific medicine for shingles, and vaccination is
an effective means of preventing shingles. According to global
research data on shingles vaccines that have been marketed,
as compared to attenuated live vaccines, novel adjuvanted
recombinant protein vaccines can provide stronger cellular
immune and protective efficacy. REC610 is equipped with a novel
adjuvant BFAO1 independently developed by the Company, which
can promote the production of high levels of VZV glycoprotein
E(gE)-specific CD4+T cells and antibody. REC610 is intended
to prevent shingles in adults aged 40 and above. According to
statistics, China’s population aged 40 and above is approximately
700 million. Only GSK Shingrix®, the novel adjuvant recombinant
vaccine, is on the market in China, and there is a strong demand
for import substitution.
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Respiratory Syncytial Virus Vaccine Pipeline

REC625 — Bivalent Recombinant Respiratory Syncytial Virus
Vaccine

The REC625 is equipped with the novel adjuvant independently
developed by us and intended to prevent the diseases caused
by respiratory syncytial virus infection in the elderly population.
Preclinical studies have shown that REC625 has favorable
immunogenicity compared to overseas marketed products and
can induce high levels of specific neutralizing antibodies, and
significantly improve the neutralizing antibodies against subtype
B. The project adopted our independently designed vaccine
antigen structure and relevant invention patent application has
been submitted. We plan to complete the preclinical studies in
2025.

COVID-19 Vaccine
ReCOV — Recombinant Bicomponent COVID-19 Vaccine

ReCOV is a recombinant COVID-19 vaccine developed by
the Company comprehensively using its core technology
platforms, including its novel adjuvant, protein engineering and
immunological evaluation platforms, and the adjuvant used therein
is its self-developed novel adjuvant BFAQ3. Since it obtained
the first clinical trial approval in April 2021, the Company has
conducted multiple clinical trials in countries including New
Zealand, the Philippines, the UAE, China, Russia and Nepal,
achieving several complete clinical research results. ReCOV
was granted the emergency use authorization in Mongolia in
2023. Currently, there is no ongoing clinical trial for this project
worldwide. Given the relatively low global demand for COVID-19
vaccines at present, continuing to advance the subsequent
registration and commercialization of this project may not yield
favorable economic and social benefits. The Company will no
longer make new rounds of clinical development for COVID-19
vaccine projects developed against the existing strains, but will
reasonably allocate resources based on the future development
plans for respiratory combination vaccines, the market, policy
environment and other factors. As there are adjustments in the
business plans for COVID-19 vaccine projects, upon in-depth
analysis and prudent consideration, the Company decides to
deregister its subsidiary, Wuhan Recogen, which was established
to conduct the R&D of mRNA COVID-19 vaccine. At the same
time, the Company will continuously pay attention to and keep
track of the mRNA vaccine technology.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company established a complete
and systematic quality system for large-scale commercial
production of vaccines at its vaccine manufacturing facility in
Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province based on the COVID-19 vaccine
project. The factory meets both Chinese and European Union (EU)
GMP standards and has obtained a Chinese vaccine production
license. It has consistently received the EU Qualified Person
Declaration issued by a Qualified Person (QP) for several years.
The factory has a track record of successful large-scale batch
production, which is of great value in advancing the subsequent
development and industrialization of the Company’s recombinant
shingles vaccine REC610 and bivalent recombinant respiratory
syncytial virus vaccine REC625.

Other Disease Areas

REC609 - Early-stage Recombinant Human Cytomegalovirus
Vaccine

We are developing a recombinant human cytomegalovirus vaccine
(i.e., REC609) with our technology platforms, with a higher cellular
immune response and enhanced protection.

REC629 — Early-stage Recombinant HBV Vaccine

We plan to develop a recombinant HBV vaccine (i.e., REC629)
based on the same yeast expression system as the HPV vaccine,
combined with the immune-enhancing effects of the novel
adjuvant, with a higher humoral immune response and enhanced
protection.

REC630 — Early-stage Therapeutic Recombinant HBV Vaccine

We plan to develop a therapeutic recombinant HBV vaccine (i.e.,
REC630) based on the same yeast expression system as the HPV
vaccine, combined with the immune-enhancing effects of the
novel adjuvant, with a higher immune response and enhanced
protection.
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REC608 — Early-stage Recombinant HSV Vaccine

HSV is a key cause of genital herpes. We are developing a
recombinant HSV vaccine (i.e., REC608) with our technology
platforms, taking into account a multi-antigen combination scheme
in the antigen design to fully utilize the immune-enhancing effects
of the adjuvant, resulting in a higher cellular immune response
and stronger protection.

REC617 — Early-stage Recombinant Influenza Virus Vaccine

Influenza virus is the leading causative pathogen of respiratory
disease. We are developing a recombinant influenza virus vaccine
(i.e., REC617) that is designed with rapid and efficient expression
of protective antigens and takes full advantage of the immune-
enhancing effects of adjuvants.

Our Technology Platforms

We have developed four advanced technology platforms for
novel adjuvant development, protein engineering, immunological
evaluation and process development. These platforms empower
us to continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines and to
apply advanced technologies in our vaccine candidates.

Novel Adjuvant Platform

Adjuvants are substances that are used in conjunction with
antigens to assist in antigen presentation and enhance immune
responses. Conventionally, only the alum adjuvant was widely
used in vaccines for human use. Since the early 21st century,
novel adjuvants have been widely applied in the vaccine industry
gradually, and created vaccine products that can stimulate higher
and broader immune response. At present, five novel adjuvants
are applied in FDA-approved vaccines for human use, namely
ASO01, AS03, AS04, CpG1018, and MF59, the components of which
have been in the public domain for over 20 years. Through this
platform, we are one of the few companies that have been able to
develop adjuvant, benchmarking all of the above-mentioned FDA
approved adjuvants. This capability has enabled us to not rely
on any particular adjuvant supplier. In addition, our platform also
empowers us to discover and apply new adjuvants in the next
generation vaccine candidates. The two independently developed
novel adjuvants, BFAO1 and BFA03, have been successfully
included in the adjuvant supply pool managed by CEPI due to
their significant advantages in efficacy and safety, as well as
their commercial-scale industrialization capabilities, to meet the
demand for innovative adjuvants from vaccine developers around
the world.
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Protein Engineering Platform

Our protein engineering platform utilizes a structure-based
immunogen design approach to provide antigen optimization
solutions for the development of subunit vaccines based on
multidisciplinary studies. This platform enables us to rapidly target
and prepare pathogen-derived antigens, to define the structural
basis of antigenicity, to understand mechanisms of immune
protection and to guide rational immunogen design, which
are critical steps in our vaccine development. In addition, our
protein engineering platform can express the antigens in different
expression systems, including E.coli, H. polymorpha, insect
baculovirus and CHO cell expression systems, among others.
With this diversified expression system toolbox, we are able to
select and apply the most suitable expression systems in vaccine
development. Through this platform, we are capable of rapidly
advancing the development of our recombinant shingles and HPV
vaccine candidates.

Immunological Evaluation Platform

Immunological evaluation is a critical step in subunit vaccine
discovery and development. With this platform, we are able
to select the optimal antigen and adjuvant combination and
in turn improve the immunogenicity profile of our candidates.
The immunological evaluation process involves multiple
disciplines, including immunology, biology, molecular biology
and clinical chemistry. Our core scientific team began to build
our immunological evaluation platform as early as 2004 and we
became one of the first teams in China to have such a platform.
With this platform, we are one of the first companies that can
conduct pseudoviral neutralization, ELISPOT, and ICS tests in
China, which have been used in the development of our vaccine
candidates.

Process Development Platform

The process development platform is the “road builder” of
innovative vaccine research and development. Pharmaceutical
R&D is the process of designing high-quality products and
developing a stable manufacturing process that consistently
produces products that meet the expected quality standards. A
high level of commercialization of innovative vaccines requires
a high level of manufacturing processes and quality control.
Our process development platform has a full set of process
development capabilities such as microbial fermentation, cell
suspension culture, biological macromolecule separation and
purification and lyophilization of preparations.
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Research and Development

R&D is crucial to our sustainable success. We are led by a core
scientific team with over 20 years of experience in the research,
development and commercialization of vaccine products,
including working experience at the CDC in China. As of the
Latest Practicable Date, our in-house R&D team consisted of over
100 talented personnel, most of them held master's or doctoral
degrees in immunology, pathogen biology, clinical medicine or
other related areas. Benefiting from our IPD system, our R&D team
comprises four different product development teams, namely the
vaccine innovation core, process research core, comprehensive
R&D core and R&D quality core. Our R&D team is primarily
located in our Beijing R&D center and our Taizhou R&D base, and
is responsible for the full-cycle vaccine R&D.

Our IPD system lays a solid foundation for our R&D activities. The
IPD system governs the entire life cycle of vaccine candidates.
We conduct market demand analysis for our vaccine candidates
at the early stage of vaccine development. Such analysis will
serve as the basis of our vaccine development program to
ensure our vaccine products can meet the market demand. In
addition, under the IPD system, our R&D resources are allocated
for the goals of each R&D project. As vaccine development
involves a complex and multi-disciplinary process, for each
vaccine development project, we will assign a designated project
manager and establish a product development team, consisting
of employees from technology platforms and related departments
including clinical and regulatory affairs, manufacturing, quality
control and quality assurance. In addition, our management
team is responsible for crucial decision-making and technical
review at key points during the R&D process to ensure the
R&D can satisfy our R&D protocol and the applicable legal and
quality requirements. Empowered by the IPD system, we have
been able to advance multiple vaccine development programs
simultaneously.
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We have developed four advanced technology platforms for
novel adjuvant development, protein engineering, immunological
evaluation and process development. These platforms empower
us to continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines and to
apply advanced technologies in our vaccine candidates. Our
four technology platforms create synergies among the design
and optimization of antigens, the development and production
of vaccines and adjuvants and the identification of the optimal
combinations of antigens and adjuvants. Supported by these
platforms, we have developed several vaccine candidates. We are
constantly upgrading our technology platforms to further enrich
our R&D toolbox and we believe that our technology platforms will
continue to drive our vaccine development going forward.

The Company has further enhanced the high-efficiency matrix
organizational structure based on the IPD concept. In terms of the
products, we divided the entire process from R&D to marketing
into six seamlessly connected processes, namely planning, pre-
research, development, clinical, industrialization and sales, which
are managed in stages according to the characteristics of different
stages, and are uniformly made decisions and coordinated by
IPMT. The Company has also integrated resource capability
modules based on its strategy and pipeline goals, strengthened
its four core technology platforms,
protein engineering,
development platforms, and reorganized its clinical development,
process development and quality analysis departments. Upon in-
depth analysis and prudent consideration, the Board decides to
deregister the wholly-owned subsidiary, Hangzhou Ruibaio, which
is established for the purpose of the R&D of certain products,
so as to improve the management efficiency and operation
profitability, and optimize and integrate R&D resources. Upon the
above organizational optimization, the number of research and
development staff in the Company has experienced a decrease
while efficiency has been improved.

including novel adjuvant,
immunological evaluation and process

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our total research and
development costs amounted to RMB476.1 million and we had
not capitalized any research and development costs for the same
period.
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Manufacturing and Commercialization

Our R&D activities have primarily been conducted at our Beijing
R&D center and Taizhou headquarters. Our Beijing R&D center
is equipped with a pilot plant mainly for the pre-IND process
development and has laboratories for vaccine R&D with a GFA of
approximately 4,000 sqg.m. Our Taizhou headquarters R&D facility
has a GFA of approximately 3,800 sg.m. with a pilot plant of stock
solution, equipped with two production lines for stock solution; and
a pilot plant of preparation, equipped with a pre-filled preparation
line. Our R&D facilities can also support the manufacturing and
development of novel adjuvants. Most of our vaccine candidates
used in our clinical trials have been manufactured by our in-house
manufacturing team, including our HPV vaccine pipeline, shingles
vaccines pipeline, etc.

In anticipation of the huge market demand for our clinical
stage vaccine candidates, we have started to prepare for the
commercial manufacturing of our vaccine candidates. During
the Reporting Period, we completed the construction of our HPV
vaccine manufacturing facility in Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province,
which is currently under the stage of pilot production and has
a designed peak annual capacity of 20 million doses of HPV
9-valent vaccines. During the Reporting Period, the Company
established a complete and systematic quality system for
large-scale commercial production of vaccines at its vaccine
manufacturing facility in Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province based on
the COVID-19 vaccine project. The factory meets both Chinese
and EU GMP standards and has obtained a Chinese vaccine
production license. It has consistently received the European
Union (EU) Qualified Person Declaration issued by a Qualified
Person (QP) for several years. The factory has a track record of
successful large-scale batch production, which is of great value in
advancing the subsequent development of REC610 (recombinant
shingles vaccine) and REC625 (recombinant respiratory syncytial
virus vaccine) of the Company.
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We have formulated clear commercialization strategy for our
clinical-stage vaccine candidates, namely HPV vaccines and
recombinant shingles vaccines. In building sales channels for
the commercialization of our vaccine candidates in international
markets, we are currently building our international business
development team. Our international business development
team plans to enter into collaborations with foreign governments,
MNCs, CSOs and international organizations to commercialize
the Company’s products overseas. In 2024, we have signed
the framework agreement with countries including Saudi
Arabia, Argentina, Russia, Indonesia and South Africa for
the development, registration and commercialization of the
recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine REC603, in which the parties
will separately agree on specific commercial arrangements related
to REC603 under the above-mentioned framework agreement,
which will be disclosed by the Company in a timely manner in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Intellectual Property

As a company focusing on the research, development and
commercialization of recombinant vaccine products, we believe
intellectual property is crucial to our business. We actively seek
patent protection for our vaccine candidates in China and major
jurisdictions and file the relevant patent applications of each
project, when appropriate, to cover certain antigens, strains,
proteins, formulations and production processes. We have
developed a significant portfolio of intellectual property rights to
protect our technologies and products. We hold 33 authorized
patents in China and 73 patent applications (including 104
invention patents and patent applications, and 2 design patents),
among which, the authorized patents are mainly concentrated
in the Core Products related to HPV project, adjuvant platform
and syncytial virus vaccine projects, etc. In particular, we
constantly strengthen the deployment of proprietary intellectual
property rights for innovative vaccines. Among them, based on
the protein engineering platform, we have applied for nearly 40
invention patents in relation to antigens for recombinant human
herpes simplex virus vaccine (HSV), SARS-COV-2 and its variants
vaccine, and respiratory syncytial virus vaccine (RSV) projects.
Based on the new adjuvant platform, we have applied for nearly
30 invention patents in relation to key raw materials for adjuvants,
of which 5 new adjuvant patents have been granted. For the
year ended December 31, 2024, we were not involved in any
proceedings in respect of, and we had not received notice of
any claims of infringement of, any intellectual property rights that
might be threatened or pending as claimant or respondent.
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Employees and Remuneration

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had 531 employees, all of
whom were based in China. The total staff costs incurred by the
Group (which are recorded as part of our administrative expenses,
research and development costs and selling and distribution
expenses) for the year ended December 31, 2024 were RMB187.9
million, as compared to RMB227.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023. The remuneration package of our employees
includes wages and other incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, positions
and performance. We conduct new employee training, as well
as professional and safety training programs for all employees in
accordance with our internal procedures. We make contributions
to social insurance and housing provident funds in compliance
with applicable PRC laws and regulations in all material respects.
We also enter into standard confidentiality, intellectual property
assignment and non-competition agreements with our key
management and research and development staff, which typically
include a standard non-compete agreement that prohibits the
employee from competing with us, directly or indirectly, during
his or her employment and for two years after the termination of
his or her employment. Employees also sign acknowledgments
regarding service inventions and discoveries made during the
course of his or her employment.

Business Outlook

Going forward, leveraging our strengths, we plan to implement the
following strategies:

o accelerate the R&D, clinical trial and commercialization of
our vaccine candidates;

o continue to strengthen our R&D capabilities;

o refine our organization structure and human resource
management to enhance our competitiveness; and

o advance our international strategy through “going-out” and
“bringing-in” strategies.
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We believe that we will further strengthen our core competitive
strengths and enable us to capture rising business opportunities
through the following practices:

o concentrate resources and prioritize the marketing of HPV
9-valent vaccines and recombinant shingles vaccines as
soon as possible;

. actively carry out the planning and pre-research of
subsequent pipelines, and conduct preclinical studies in
due time within the scope of resource capabilities;

o develop intelligent manufacturing processes and
equipment, enhance the construction of quality
management system, strengthen brand construction and
communication, and enhance the construction of marketing
team and marketing network;

o strengthen international BD capabilities to achieve greater
breakthroughs in the international market and foreign
commercial authorization; and

o cooperate with industrial partners to build a strong
domestic marketing network.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this report.

Analysis of the Key Items of Our Results of Operations
Other Income and Gains

Our other income and gains decreased by 38.8% from RMB100.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB61.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024. Such decrease was
primarily attributable to (i) the decrease in bank interest income of
RMB24.2 million; and (ii) the decrease in foreign exchange gains
of RMB8.5 million.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses decreased by 69.4%
from RMB8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
to RMB2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024,
primarily attributable to the reduction of employees, resulting in a
decrease in the headcount of our marketing department, and the
corresponding decrease in labor costs.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs decreased by 2.4% from
RMB487.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB476.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Such
decrease in research and development costs resulted from the
following:

o RMB43.0 million decrease in clinical trial expenses from
RMB197.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
to RMB154.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2024, mainly due to the decrease in clinical expenditure
compared with the previous period as we have finished the
visit and observation of the 36th month and initiated the
visit and observation of the 42nd month in phase Ill clinical
trial in China for our Core Product, REC603;

° RMB5.2 million decrease in pre-IND expenses from
RMB20.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB14.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024,
mainly because the Company’'s major pipeline products
had substantially completed their preliminary research and
development and are currently in the clinical stage, while
most of the other pipeline products are in the pre-research
stage; and

o RMB22.4 million increase in depreciation and amortisation
from RMB50.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 to RMB72.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2024, mainly due to the advancement of the construction
of the vaccine building and the quality inspection building
of the HPV industrialization base, which resulted in the
relevant property, plant and equipment reaching the
condition for intended use and the increase of RMB284.1
million in plant and machinery.

HE R I

BPMEE RS HEAZ AEZ2023F12A31H 1
FEMNAREBS5BBEBILANA69.4%EH E2024%F
12A31ALEFEMNMARK26EET TEEHRN
BERD  HEDFIABRD - HHEATIRARAL

I

HA R A BEE2023F 12 A31HIEFER
ARB487 SEE LR 2.4%EHE2024F 128
SB1BILFEMAREA76 1A BT © 23R
DTIRR THISBEATE

] Fe R B X A £ 2023F 12 H31 HILF
ERARBI197 5B B TRI ARK43.08
BTEHZE2024F12A31BIEFEENAR
154558 TERAREMOZLE
fmREC603 9 Bl 111 HA & IR 54 52 B 52K 58 36
ARIGAEER - WERMEIFE 4210 A MR E
R EIRFSZERATEA T

. INDATFI X A £ 202312 A31 B ILEE
MAREB201BBTROARKES 2EETT
EHZE2024F12A31BILFENARE
14958 TERARARRELERD
AR 3% B E AN SR © B AT B AR IR
BB EMEREMZHEREMEE &

. HreE R BB A E2023F12 A31 HIEFE
MARKES0.0OBEBTEMARK22. 458
TLEEE2024F 1231 A ILFEMARE
7T2ARETT TERBARHPVESRELEME
BE - HREIRENEE  HEDXE  KE

R ERITEE A AR - R s 1
MAR2841BETT



Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased by 24.1% from RMB143.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB109.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024, mainly attributable to a
decrease in labor expenses resulting from optimization of staff.

Other Expenses

Our other expenses decreased from RMB19.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB16.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, mainly due to the decrease of RMB8.7
million in provision of impairment for other non-current assets
and the increase of RMB3.1 million in provision of impairment for
inventories.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased from RMB13.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB18.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, mainly because we obtained additional debt
financing.

Analysis of Key Items of Financial Position
Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment primarily consisted of (i)
leasehold improvements; (ii) plant and machinery; (iii) furniture
and fixtures; (iv) computer and office equipment; (v) motor
vehicles; and (vi) construction in progress. Our property, plant
and equipment increased by 25.5% from RMB840.8 million as
of December 31, 2023 to RMB1,054.8 million as of December
31, 2024, mainly due to the advancement of the purification and
decoration project for the vaccine building and quality inspection
building of HPV industrialization base.

Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represent (i) leasehold land, representing
the land use right of our manufacturing facility for our HPV
vaccines with an original use right of 50 years; and (ii) leased
properties, representing our leased manufacturing facility and our
leased office building and laboratories. Our right-of-use assets
decreased by 20.3% from RMB43.4 million as of December 31,
2023 to RMB34.6 million as of December 31, 2024, mainly due to
normal depreciation of right-of-use assets.
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Other Non-current Assets

Our other non-current assets mainly represent our prepayment
for purchase of property, plant and equipment and long-term
deferred assets. Our other non-current assets increased by 21.9%
from RMB122.2 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB149.0
million as of December 31, 2024, mainly due to the increase in
long-term assets that are amortized based on the useful lives.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets

Our prepayments, other receivables and other assets increased
from RMB123.2 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB136.3
million as of December 31, 2024, mainly due to (i) the decrease of
RMB13.4 million in prepayments for the purchase of shares under
the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme; (ii) the increase of RMB55.3
million in the amount of value-added tax recoverable expected to
be collected or deducted within one year; and (iii) the decrease of
RMB23.1 million in prepayments for raw materials.

Cash and Bank Balances

Our cash and bank balance decreased by 50.0% from RMB912.4
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB456.5 million as of
December 31, 2024, mainly due to the purchase of research
and development services, raw materials, equipment, the
industrialization construction, and administrative expenses.

Trade and Bills Payables

Our trade payables decreased by 48.0% from RMB115.1 million
as of December 31, 2023 to RMB59.8 million as of December 31,
2024, mainly because of the payment for inventory procurement
expenses.

Other Payables and Accruals

Our other payables and accruals increased by 0.5% from
RMB268.1 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB269.4 million
as of December 31, 2024, mainly due to increased spending on
clinical trials.

Lease Liabilities

Our lease liabilities decreased by 43.8% from RMB19.2 million
as of December 31, 2023 to RMB10.8 million as of December 31,
2024, mainly due to the payment of rent related to right-of-use
assets.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary uses of cash relate to the research and development
of our vaccine candidates and the purchase of fixed assets. We
monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate to finance our operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. As our business develops and expands,
we expect to generate more cash from our operating activities
through commercialization of new vaccines. Going forward, we
believe our liquidity requirements will be satisfied by using funds
from a combination of cash from operations, bank balances and
cash, unutilized banking facilities and financing. As of December
31, 2024, our cash and bank balances amounted to RMB456.5
million. Out of the RMB456.5 million cash and bank balances as
of December 31, 2024, RMB271.2 million (approximately 59.4%)
was denominated in RMB, RMB182.5 million (approximately
40.0%) was denominated in U.S. dollars and RMB2.8 million
(approximately 0.6%) was denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Net Current Assets

Our net current assets decreased by 126.9% from RMB685.1
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB-184.3 million as of
December 31, 2024, primarily due to (i) the decrease in cash and
cash equivalents by RMB515.9 million; and (ii) the increase in
current borrowings by RMB453.1 million. Subsequent to December
31, 2024, the Company entered into a supplementary agreement
with Yangtze River Pharmaceutical, pursuant to which Yangtze
River Pharmaceutical has consented to extend the repayment
period of the RMB200 million borrowing up to April 1, 2026.
Concurrently, the Group entered into credit facility agreements,
and as of the Latest Practicable Date, the Group had a total of
RMB146 million of unused credit facilities that would be available
for use beyond December 31, 2025.
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Charge on Asset

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had RMB169.2 million in
assets pledged as collateral (December 31, 2023: RMB83.5
million), mainly due to an increase in collateral as a result of bank
and other borrowings.

Indebtedness and Financial Ratios

The total interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group as of December 31, 2024 were RMB878.3 million.
RMB499.4 million of the bank loans and other borrowings were
current borrowings with maturity dates in 2025 and effective
interest rates ranging from 3.15% to 6.70%. RMB378.9 million of
the bank loans and other borrowings were non-current borrowings
with maturity dates from 2026 to 2028 and effective interest rates
ranging from 3.15% to 6.70%.

Our current ratio (calculated as current assets divided by
current liabilities as of the same date) decreased from 2.5 as of
December 31, 2023 to 0.78 as of December 31, 2024, mainly
due to the increase in bank loans and other borrowings maturing
within one year.

Our gearing ratio (calculated as total liabilities divided by total
assets as of the same date) was 72.7% as of December 31, 2024
(as of December 31, 2023: 51.0%), due to the increase in the size
of bank and other loan financing.

Contingent Liabilities

We had no material contingent liabilities as of December 31, 2024.
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Capital Expenditure and Contractual Commitments

Our capital expenditure is mainly for the purchase of our long-
term assets including (i) construction in progress; (ii) plant and
machinery; (iii) leasehold improvements; (iv) motor vehicles; (v)
computers and office equipment; and (vi) furniture and fixtures.
Our capital expenditure decreased from RMB212.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB171.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, mainly related to the decrease in
amount payable for purchase of production equipment during the
year.

Our capital expenditure commitments increased from RMB76.2
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB381.8 million as of
December 31, 2024, primarily attributable to further progress in
research and development projects, resulting in the continued
increase in investment in construction and procurement of
equipment, as well as a significant increase in construction in
progress during the year.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material capital
expenditure or investment plan as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Significant Investments and Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Our Company had no significant investments, material acquisitions
and/or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for
the year ended December 31, 2024.

Events after the Reporting Period

On March 27, 2025, the Company and Yangtze River
Pharmaceutical entered into a supplementary agreement for
the Share Subscription Contract, pursuant to which Yangtze
River Pharmaceutical has consented to extend the repayment
period of the RMB200 million borrowing up to April 1, 2026.
Save as disclosed above, all other terms and conditions of the
Share Subscription Contract remained unchanged. Details of the
Issuance can be found in the “Purchase, Sale or Redemption of
Our Company’s Shares” section of this report.
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Concurrently, the Group entered into credit facility agreements,
and as of the Latest Practicable Date, the Group had a total of
RMB146 million of unused credit facilities that would be available
for use beyond December 31, 2025.

Save as disclosed above and in this report, we are not aware of
any material subsequent events from the end of the Reporting
Period to the Latest Practicable Date.

Financial Risks

We are exposed to a variety of financial risks, including interest
risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk as set
out below. Our overall risk management program focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on our financial performance.

Interest Risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets other than
time deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises from its borrowings, which are at variable
rates and expose the Group to the risk of changes in market
interest rates. The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group’s exposure to
the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s debt obligations with a floating interest rate.

As at December 31, 2024, if interest rates on loans had been 50
basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the loss before tax for the year ended December 31, 2024 would
have been RMB2,739,000 (2023: RMB2,063,000) higher/lower,
mainly as a result of the higher/lower interest expense on loans.

Foreign Currency Risk

We mainly operate in China and a majority of our transactions are
settled in RMB, the functional currency of our Company’s principal
subsidiaries. The Group however has certain transactional
currency exposure as a portion of our transactions are settled
in U.S. dollars. The Group trades only with recognized and
creditworthy third parties. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant. We currently do not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign exchange exposure should the need arise. The Group did
not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations
as of December 31, 2024.
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Credit Risk

We generally trade only with recognized and creditworthy third
parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and our exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

As of December 31, 2024, cash and cash equivalents were
deposited in banks of high quality without significant credit
risk. The Directors are of the view that our exposure to credit
risk arising from other receivables is not significant since
counterparties to these financial assets have no history of default.

Liquidity Risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, we monitor and maintain
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management of our Group to allocate the working capital and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Our objective is
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank loans and other borrowings and lease
liabilities. We aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents
to meet our liquidity requirements.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in this report, we did not have other plans
for material investments and capital assets as of the Latest
Practicable Date.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. LIU Yong, aged 52, is an executive Director of our Company
and chairman of the Board of our Company. Dr. Liu founded our
Group on March 7, 2011 and has been serving as a Director since
January 25, 2019 and the chairman of our Board since October
2020, and was re-designated as an executive Director on June
28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the overall management
of business strategy, corporate development and research and
development of our Group. Dr. Liu has been serving as the
general manager of Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of our Company, since March 7, 2011. Dr. Liu has been
serving as the executive director of Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences
Co., Ltd. since March 2011. He has been serving as the general
manager and executive director of Wuhan Recbio Technology
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021,
and chairman of the board of directors of Wuhan Recogen, a
subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021. He has been
serving as the general manager and an executive director of
Hangzhou Ruibaio, a subsidiary of our Company, since February
2023.

Dr. Liu has over 23 years of technical and management
experience in the field of novel vaccines. Dr. Liu has published
over 60 publications in leading academic journals and held over
20 invention patents since 1998. Prior to the foundation of our
Group, Dr. Liu worked at National Center for AIDS/STD Control
and Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and
Prevention (7 3% 5 Fa A 122§l o O R %R TB A FldR ) from
February 2004 to September 2010 as a research professor and
led the development of HIV DNA vaccine as a team leader of HIV
DNA vaccine team. Dr. Liu has also worked as a visiting scholar
at the NIH Vaccine Research Center in the U.S., where he carried
out research on HIV.

Dr. Liu graduated from China Union Medical University (4 B3
MEERIKE) with a doctoral degree in pathogen biology in July
2000. Dr. Liu was a research fellow in NIH Vaccine Research
Center in the U.S. from December 2006 to December 2007. Dr.
Liu participated in post-doctoral research in basic medicine at
Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (4 & & &
224 7R R from August 2001 to December 2003.
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Dr. Liu obtained the certificate of research professor in
biochemistry and molecular biology by Ministry of Health, PRC
in July 2008. He was an editorial board (the sixth) member of
the Chinese Journal of Microbiology and Immunology, and the
only Asian member of the Young and Early Career Investigators
Committee (YECIC) of the Global HIV Vaccine Enterprise (GHVE).
Once elected as one of the third “Top Ten Innovative and
Entrepreneurial High-level Talents” of Taizhou Medical New &
Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone in May 2020, Dr. Liu was
also recognized as an excellent entrepreneurial individual (813 %
#1{EA) on the tenth anniversary of the establishment of Taizhou
Medical New & Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone in May 2019.

Mr. LI Bu, aged 48, was appointed as a Director on March
27, 2021 and re-designated as an executive Director on June
28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for managing the daily
operations of administrative, human resources, purchasing and IT
departments and the strategic development of our Company. He
joined our Company in April 2020 as an assistant to the general
manager and human resources director and has been serving
as a vice general manager in our Company since November 9,
2020. He has been serving as a director in Wuhan Recogen, a
subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021.

Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Li served as a human resources
manager in KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (EZEEBERHERRAA]),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600422) from 1999 to May 2005. Mr. Li served as a president
assistant in Walvax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (ERAFLEDEIMTER
‘A 7]), a company listed on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300142) from September 2007 to June
2009. Mr. Li served as a human resources director in Yunnan
Belle Shoes Limited (Ef & B2 A]) from June 2009 to August
2012. Mr. Li served as a general manager in Kunming Hanyu
Business Consulting Co., Ltd (EBRBFE&EHEAERLAEF) from
April 2014 to January 2020.

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’'s degree in technology economics
from Central South University of Technology (Fm L¥AX2) in the
PRC in June 1999. Mr. Li obtained his master's degree in business
management from Kunming University of Science and Technology
(EBAE T KZ) in the PRC in June 2011,
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Ms. CHEN Qingqing, aged 42, was appointed as chief financial
officer, vice general manager and secretary of the Board of our
Company on May 9, 2021, appointed as a joint company secretary
of the Company on June 28, 2021 and appointed as an executive
Director on May 11, 2023. Ms. Chen is primarily responsible for
financing activities, investor relationship, internal audit and control
and corporate governance of the Group. She is also in charge of
the finance and legal department.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Chen worked in Tencent
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BEsEHR(IER)ER A A]) from
May 2005 to April 2008. Ms. Chen worked as a deputy finance
director in Beijing Qianxiang Wangjing Technology Development
Co., Ltd. JERFHRBA=REZEREBR2AA]), a company listed on
New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: RENN) from January
2009 to January 2015. Ms. Chen worked as a vice president of
finance in Qufengi (Ganzhou) Information Technology Co., Ltd.
(B HEEEM)E BRI AR AR, a company listed on New York
Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: QD) from March 2015 to April
2017. From May 2017 to September 2017, Ms. Chen worked
as a senior finance director in Beike Finance Holdings (Beijing)
Limited (H3&ZEERAER)BR2AR]) (currently known as Beike
Finance Holdings (Beijing) Limited (ERZ&EHERALF)BREA
A])), a subsidiary of KE Holdings Inc., a company listed on New
York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: BEKE). Ms. Chen worked as
the chief finance officer in Shihezi Chenshang Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (A Fm /= HARERE S B
(BBRAE)) from November 2017 to July 2020. Ms. Chen worked
as a vice president in Dmall Life (China) Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. (ZBHATE (PR MG R AR A A]) from August 2020 to March
2021.

Ms. Chen obtained her bachelor’'s degree in management and
her master's degree in economics from Central University of
Finance and Economics (AR KE) in the PRC in July 2004
and December 2017, respectively. Ms. Chen also obtained her
master’'s degree in business administration from Peking University
(At AE2) in the PRC in June 2019.
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Dr. HONG Kunxue, aged 60, was appointed as a Director on May
9, 2021, re-designated as a non-executive Director in July 2021,
and re-designated as executive Director in May 2024. Dr. Hong
has been serving as the chief scientist since June 1, 2021. Dr.
Hong is primarily responsible for providing guidance and advice
on R&D strategies of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Dr. Hong was a lecturer in examination
department of Henan Medical University (R FEERIAE) in June
1995. Dr. Hong worked as a research scholar in the University of
California, Los Angeles in the U.S. from August 2004 to February
2005 and a visiting scholar in Duke Human Vaccine Institute
from August 2004 to August 2005. Dr. Hong worked in National
Center for AIDS/STD Control and Prevention of Chinese Center for
Disease Control and Prevention from December 2001 to May 2021
as a team leader of immunity team to lead immunity evaluation of
vaccines and immunity research relating to HIV vaccines.

Dr. Hong obtained his bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine
from Henan Medical University (currently known as Zhengzhou
University (B8 KE)) in the PRC in June 1988. Dr. Hong obtained
his master’'s degree in clinical laboratory diagnostics from
Jilin Medical College (FMEEPT) (currently known as Beihua
University (1tZX2)) in the PRC in July 1991. Dr. Hong obtained
his doctoral degree in genetics from China Union Medical
University (FREI3FEERIRE) (currently known as Peking Union
Medical College (IR iBHMEEEPT)) in the PRC in July 1999. Dr.
Hong participated in post-doctoral research at Chinese Center
for Disease Control and Prevention (/B FEIEEHIF L)) in the
PRC from October 1999 to December 2001.

Dr. Hong has been a member of the Academic Committee and
Degree Committee in National Center for AIDS/STD Control and
Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention
from July 2008 to May 2021. Dr. Hong has also been a member of
the editorial board of Infectious Microbes & Diseases (R4 A
YIERJR R (2 32))) since 2019. Dr. Hong was awarded a certificate
of honor for combating the COVID-19 by the People’s Government
of Hubei Province in April 2020. Dr. Hong was appointed as an
Optical Valley Industry Professor by Wuhan University (EZEAE)
in December 2021.
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Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Ruwei, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on May 8, 2024. He was previously the vice president
of business of the Sixth Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical
University (People’s Hospital of Lishui); successively served as
the director, chief executive officer, vice chairman in Zhejiang
Conba Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (MIERBSIERMHERA
7)), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600572) and concurrently served as the chairman of its
subsidiaries and dean of its research institute from February 2002
to July 2020; has passed the public appraisal and selection by
Zhejiang Chinese Medicine University and acted as a doctoral
supervisor of Traditional Chinese Medicine since 2008; has been
appointed as a member of Chinese Pharmacopoeia Commission
(re-elected for three terms) since December 2010; served as the
vice chairman and chief executive officer in Genor Biopharma
Co., Ltd. (FMEMEXEBRAR]), a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 06998) from March 2018 to
December 2018; served as an independent director in Sichuan
Huiyu Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FUJIIEFEEKMHEFRAA), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
688553) from June 2020 to May 2023; served as the executive
vice president in Hangzhou Tigermed Consulting Co., Ltd. (fi/Zs
B ERFE D AR AR, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300347) and Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 03347) from July 2020 to December 2021; served as
an independent director of Zhejiang Shouxiangu Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (IS IIAEZERMD AR A A]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603896) since May 2021;
served as a founding partner, managing director of Hangzhou
Tailong Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) (#
MNEBRBIEREERLE(BEREH)) from January 2022 to July
2023; served as an independent director of Huadong Medicine
Co., Ltd. (EREZRHAERAA), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000963) since June 2022;
served as the head of strategy, investment, and international
biomedical industrial park of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical since
November 2023; served as special assistant to the chairman
and chief scientist of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical and dean
of pharmaceutical research institute since May 2024; served as
the director of Guangzhou Hipower Pharmaceutical R&D Co.,
Ltd. (BN EEERERK AR AT since June 2021; and served
as an independent director of Zhejiang Sundoc Pharmaceutical
Science And Tech Co., Ltd. (HMTEKEYRHERMDBRRAA]) from
November 2021 to November 2023.
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Dr. Wang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in medicine from
Zhejiang Medical University in 1989, graduate degree in
management from Zhejiang University in 2003 and Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) degree from the
University of East Asia, Macau in 2005, as well as doctoral degree
in medicine from Shimane University, a national university of
Japan (HZARBISZ BB AE) in 2015.

Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on May 11, 2023. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies. Dr.
Zhang is currently a member of the Party committee, secretary
of the disciplinary committee and director of the group office of
Yangtze River Pharmaceutical, mainly responsible for disciplinary
inspection, overall coordination, information
collection, logistics and management of the tertiary industry
units of the Yangtze River Pharmaceutical. Dr. Zhang joined
Yangtze River Pharmaceutical in October 2011 and served as
the director of the general management office of Yangtze River
Pharmaceutical from 2011 to 2016; and the director of the legal
and discipline committee of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical from
2016 to 2019; from 2019 to 2020, he served as the director of the
legal affairs department of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical; from
2020 to 2021, he served as the director of the legal compliance
department of Yangtze River Pharmaceutical;
2017 to the present, he has been serving as a member of the
Party committee and secretary of the disciplinary committee of
Yangtze River Pharmaceutical; from January 2022 to the present,
he has been serving as the director of the group office of Yangtze
River Pharmaceutical.

supervision,

from November

Dr. Zhang studied at Jilin University (F#K2) from September
2002 to June 2011 and obtained a bachelor’'s degree in law, a
master’'s degree in law and a doctoral degree in law from Jilin
University in 2006, 2008 and 2011, respectively.
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Dr. ZHOU Hongbin, aged 51, was appointed as a Director on
November 2, 2020 and re-designated as a non-executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies.

From May 2005 to April 2021, Dr. Zhou successively served
as investment manager, investment vice general manager,
investment director, executive director and managing director
of Legend Capital (EHEARERERHERAT). From April 2021
to December 2024, Dr. Zhou served as the co-chief investment
officer of Legend Capital (BE#&EABTERNDAMRAT]). From June
2015 to September 2021, Dr. Zhou served as a supervisor at
Guangzhou Kingmed Diagnostics Group Co., Ltd. (B &i%EEE
wEEBRM AR AR, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603882). From February 2017 to March
2021, Dr. Zhou served as a director at Shanghai Atour Business
Management (Group) Co., Ltd. (L/BEAEmEER(EE)ERAQ
A]). From December 2018 to March 2021, Dr. Zhou served as a
supervisor of Shanghai Genext Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (=
Y2 ZERL R IR D ABR A F). From April 2020 to December 2021,
Dr. Zhou served as a director of Novast Laboratories, Limited (F
e 2 E YD FRAA]) and Novast Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. (@
BRI 2B R A R]). From September 2015 to September 2024,
Dr. Zhou served as a director of Milkyway Chemical Supply
Chain Service Co., Ltd. (Z@R=Et THEFERBKROERAR),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
603713).
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Dr. Zhou is concurrently serving the following positions outside our
Group: a director of Jiangsu Lihua Animal Husbandry Co., Ltd. ()T
B ERERD AR AT), a company listed in the ChiNext Market
of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300761) from July 2015
to April 2023, a director of Shanghai Cell Therapy Group Co., Ltd.
(BB aEEBEAR2AR) from September 2016, a director of
Pharmaron Beijing Co., Ltd. (FEEE{LAX (1L ) ERITAD AR A
Al), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 03759) and in the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300759) from October 2016 to June
2023, a director of Ningbo Xinwan Technology Development Co.,
Ltd. (ZREFERREREAR AR from August 2017, a director of
Chemclin Diagnostics Co., Ltd. (BIEZERMTKHERAR), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
688468) from February 2018 to December 2023, a director of Joy
Wing Mau Corporation Limited (B4R RERBEBRMDERRQR)
from February 2019, a director of MicuRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(LEBBRIEEIRHBERAR), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688373) from October 2020 to
December 2023, a supervisor of China Southern Airlines Cargo
Logistics (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. (AAME=EEWRENMN)BREA
A]) (currently known as China Southern Airlines Logistics Co., Ltd.
(FAMZEYRABRAR]), which is held by China Southern Airlines
Company Limited (FEEHMZERMDBRAT]) as to 55%, a listed
company on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01055), Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600029) and the New York Stock
Exchange (ticker symbol: ZNH)) from February 2021, the chief
operating officer of Legend Capital (EBENEERMDER D R])
from January 2025, a director of Atour Lifestyle Holdings Limited
since March 2021, and a director of TriApex Laboratories Co., Ltd.
from March 2023.
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Dr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’'s degree in engineering from
Wuhan University (E/ZAZ) in the PRC in July 1994. Dr. Zhou
obtained his master’'s degree in engineering from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1997. Dr. Zhou obtained his doctoral
degree in management from Fudan University (EEAXZ) in the
PRC in July 2000.

Mr. HU Houwei, aged 43, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on May 11, 2023. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies. Mr.
Hu worked at China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch
from July 2006 to March 2008 as a business manager in the
Corporate Department; worked at the Investment Banking Division
of Ping An Securities Co., Ltd. as a senior manager from April
2008 to November 2011; served as a senior business director
of the Investment Banking Division of Hualin Securities Co., Ltd.
from November 2011 to March 2015; and successively served
as research director and head of compliance & risk control in
Shenzhen Fer-Capital Investment Co., Ltd. (FIIFIEREIEEEE
AR 27l from April 2015 to the present.

Mr. Hu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics and a master’s
degree in economics from Nankai University (EFAAZ) in June
2004 and June 2006, respectively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. XIA Lijun, aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. Dr. Xia is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment
to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Dr. Xia served as a lecturer, master's
supervisor, professor and doctoral supervisor of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics (L& & KE) from
March 2006 to January 2011, as a professor of Antai College of
Economics and Management of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (&
BRIBAEBLHEKEEER) since March 2011 and as the head of
Department of Accountancy of Antai College of Economics and
Management of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (E/&XBAZEZR
FZEESBPL) from March 2011 to March 2023. From April 2015
to June 2020, Dr. Xia also served as an independent director of
BBI Life Sciences Corporation, a company formerly listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1035). From July 2019 to July 2022,
Dr. Xia served as an independent director of Shanghai Sanyou
Medical Co., Ltd. (EB=KEEZRMBRMDBRAF]), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688085).
From May 2020 to May 2021, Dr. Xia worked as an independent
director of Visionox Technology Inc. (#E#EHERHERAR]), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
002387). From February 2020 to January 2023, Dr. Xia served as
an independent director of East Money Information Co., Ltd. (27
BEEERMNAR AT, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300059). From July 2016 to March 2024,
Dr. Xia worked as an independent director of Huatai Baoxing
Fund Management Co., Ltd. (EHRREESEEGRAF]).
December 2018 to July 2024, Dr. Xia worked as an independent
director of Zhejiang Sunrise Clothing Group Co., Ltd. (MIEZ
REEBERMHBRAR). From March 2021 to November 2024,
Dr. Xia served as an independent supervisor of Orient Securities
Company Limited (RAZEFRHERAF]), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3958) and Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600958).

From

Dr. Xia is currently serving as a member of the Guiding Committee
of Professional Education of Accountancy of the Ministry of
Education of the PRC.
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Dr. Xia is concurrently serving the following positions outside
our Group, including as an independent director of Shenzhen
Huitai Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (RIIEZ=EE=MALD AR
‘A|]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 688617) from November 2019, an independent director of
Shanghai Tongiji Science & Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. (_E/&[R
EREE XM AR A A]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600846) from April 2020, an independent
director of Shanghai Zhenhua Heavy Industries Co. Ltd. (_E/&#
FEET (EE)RMHERAR), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600320) from June 2024.

Dr. Xia obtained his bachelor's degree in economics from
Hangzhou Institute of Electronic Engineering (M/N&E T2
%) in July 1997. Dr. Xia received his master's degree and
doctoral degree in Management (Accounting) from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in March 2003 and March
2006, respectively, and conducted postdoctoral research at the
Corporate Governance Center of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong from April 2007 to August 2007, and February 2008 to
August 2008.

Dr. Xia is in charge of the Masters of Accounting Training Project
of the Ministry of Finance of PRC since October 2018. He served
as the vice president of Higher Engineering College Committee
under Accounting Society of China from October 2020 to October
2023, the president of Higher Engineering College Committee
under Accounting Society of China from November 2023 to July
2024. He was qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in China
in June 2000.

Mr. LIANG Guodong, aged 73, was appointed as a Director on
May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an independent non-executive
Director on June 28, 2021. Mr. Liang is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liang worked as an assistant
research professor in Institute of Virology of Chinese Academy
of Preventive Medicine (FFEITER, &SR EHREFEMITAT) from
October 1987 to June 1992. Mr. Liang worked in National Institute
for Viral Disease Control and Prevention in China CDC (# Bl%& %
FERT I H R OR SR TER I EFT) from September 1995 to August
2014 with his last positions as a research professor and deputy
director in the Institute.
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Mr. Liang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in medicine and
master’s degree in medicine from Shanxi Medical College (lLI78%
Ep7) in the PRC in September 1977 and July 1987, respectively.
Mr. Liang has been awarded third prize and first prize of Science
and Technology Progress Award of Ministry of Health of the PRC
in September 1998 and August 1999, respectively. Mr. Liang has
been a member of National Planned Immunization Committee
of PRC (BIR:tE|I%%ZZE®) and National Infectious Disease
Standards Committee of PRC (BEIREBRFIZEEZE®) since
September 2010 and December 2013, respectively. Mr. Liang has
been awarded the first prize for Science and Technology Awards
of Chinese Preventive Medicine Association in December 2013
and second prize of Chinese Medicine Science and Technology
Award in January 2014.

Professor GAO Feng, aged 64, was appointed as a Director on
May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an independent non-executive
Director on June 28, 2021. Professor Gao is primarily responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement to our
Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Professor Gao worked in University
of Birmingham, Alabama in the U.S. as a research instructor
from April 1993 to April 1994. Professor Gao worked in Medical
Center of Duke University in the U.S. as an associate research
professor of medicine from July 2002 to June 2011. Professor
Gao served as a professor in Jilin University (ZMAE) in the
PRC from December 2010 to November 2023. Professor Gao
has been serving as an honorary professor in Medical Center of
Duke University since September 2020 and a professor in Jinan
University (2@ K£) in the PRC since October 2020.

Professor Gao obtained his bachelor's degree in medicine from
Harbin Medical College ("5 3/& % 2Fx) (currently known as Harbin
Medical University (FREREERAZ)) in the PRC in July 1984.
Professor Gao obtained his master’'s degree in medicine from
Chinese Academy of Preventive Medicine (7 BB EEE2FR &)
in the PRC in October 1987. Professor Gao participated in post
doctoral research in University of Birmingham, Alabama in the U.S.
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Professor Gao has been serving as the vice chairman of
Professional Committee of Immunity and Cell Therapy of Chinese
Society of Laboratory Animals (FEEHBRBME S 0K EMIRGES
¥Z 8@) and HIV Professional Committee of Chinese Association
of STD and AIDS Prevention and Control (#F BIEE 3% ma H e
YRR EE%Z8%) since December 2018 and October 2020,
respectively. He is also a standing member of Basic Research
Professional Committee of Chinese Association of STD and AIDS
Prevention and Control (FREIMERIER A S ERAREER
E%). Professor Gao has been serving as the vice chairman of
Molecular Diagnostics Branch of China International Exchange
and Promotive Association for Medical and Health Care (FFEIZ
BEREEEIRREE D TLEZEDE) since August 2022 and the
executive president of Foshan Institute of Pathogenic Microbiology
(BB 1R B E YT 5EBR ) from March 2023 to March 2024.

Professor YUEN Ming Fai, aged 74, was appointed as an
independent Director on May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an
independent non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. He is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, from November 1979 to December
1991, Prof. Yuen was appointed as a lecturer, and later senior
lecturer at The University of Hong Kong. After that, Prof. Yuen
worked for The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
(*HKUST”) from January 1992 to June 2016. During his tenure at
HKUST, he had served as professor and head of the Department
of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, professor of the
Department of Biomedical Engineering, Director of the Technology
Transfer Center, and Acting Vice-President (R&D) of HKUST.
Prof. Yuen had also served at the HKUST R and D Corporation
Ltd. (“RDC”) from January 2001 to June 2007 as vice president,
and from April 2009 to November 2010 as the president and the
chairman of the board of directors. He retired from HKUST in July
2016 and was appointed as a professor emeritus. From January
2017 to March 2022, Prof. Yuen was appointed as a specialist
professor in Wuyi University (i 8 X£2).
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Prof. Yuen served as an independent non-executive director of
UDL Holdings Limited (AJT&EEBABMRAF]) (currently known as
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (KE#am
GBI AR A A])), a company listed on the Main Board of
Stock Exchange (stock code: 620) from April 2002 to November
2015. Prof. Yuen also served as an independent non-executive
director of CHTC Fong'’s International Company Limited (FE18X
SEEBEABRATR), a company listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 641) from September 2004 to March 2022.

Prof. Yuen obtained his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
engineering from The University of Hong Kong in October 1971
and obtained his doctoral degree in mechanical engineering from
University of Bristol in the United Kingdom in October 1977.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Ms. QIAO Weiwei, aged 38, was appointed as a Supervisor on
May 9, 2021 and was appointed as chairman of the Board of
Supervisors on September 16, 2022. Ms. Qiao has been serving
as a manager of human resources and director of general
manager’s office in our Company, as well as the deputy director
of human resources of the Company since November 1, 2021. She
is primarily responsible for overseeing the operations and financial
affairs. Ms. Qiao has been serving as a supervisor in Wuhan
Recbio Technology Co., Ltd, one subsidiary of our Company since
September 2021. Ms. Qiao has been serving as a supervisor of
Hangzhou Ruibaio, a subsidiary of the Company since February
2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Qiao worked in Taizhou
Xinshengyuan Biological Medicine Co., Ltd. (=RMFETEREYE
AR /AT from July 2009 to June 2018. Ms. Qiao worked at
Wenzhou Biomedical Collaborative Innovation Center (R4 %)
B @iipEAIFT L) from June 2018 to December 2019. Ms. Qiao
worked as a project performance managing expert in Beijing
ABZYMO Biosciences Co., Ltd. from August 2020 to October
2020.
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Ms. Qiao obtained her bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Nanjing University of Finance and Economics
(BARBHEAE) in the PRC in July 2014. Ms. Qiao has been
qualified as National Certificate of Human Resource Managers
[l and Il of PRC in April 2015 and July 2013, respectively.
In September 2016, Ms. Qiao also obtained certification for
completing the Advanced Seminar on the 13th Five-year
Development Plan of Biopharmaceutical Industry of Jiangsu
Province from Department of Human Resources and Social
Security Department of Jiangsu Province. In May 2014, Ms. Qiao
obtained certification for completing Taizhou's Enterprise Human
Resource Manager Quality Improvement Training Course from
Taizhou Human Resources and Social Security Department.

Ms. LIU Ping, aged 45, was elected as an employee
representative Supervisor on June 30, 2022. Ms. Liu has
successively served as a deputy manager, a manager of the
comprehensive management department of the Company since
November 2019. Ms. Liu served as the QA director of Gan & Lee
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (HZZEXHFRAF]) (the predecessor
of Gan & Lee Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.) from January 2002
to August 2010. Ms. Liu served as the director of the quality
department of Beijing Mabworks Biotech Co., Ltd. (ltRKXEE
EMEAIMIRA AR AR from September 2010 to April 2011. Ms.
Liu served as the manager of the quality department of Beijing
ABZYMO Biosciences Co., Ltd. from May 2011 to October 2019.

Ms. Liu graduated from Shenyang Pharmaceutical University (&
[5#RIK2) in 2001, and from the Network School of Medical
Education of Peking University (1t R AZEEEMEHFEPR) in
2015, both majoring in pharmacy.
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Ms. QIAN Ranting, aged 49, was appointed as a Supervisor
on May 25, 2021. She is primarily responsible for overseeing
the operations and financial affairs. Prior to joining our Group,
Ms. Qian served as a managing director of Huigiao Investment
Advisory (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (BB#&ERR(LF)EBRAAE]) from
February 2018 to July 2019. She served as a director of Shanghai
Duoning Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (E/8ZZE£YEEFR A F]) from
November 2018 to September 2022 and from November 2023
to present. She also served as a managing director of Shanghai
Kuokun Investment Management Co., Ltd. (/&R EERE
fRA7]) from August 2019 to September 2020. She has served
as a director of SMO Clinplus Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 301257) since March
2020, a director of Beijing WeMed Medical Equipment Co., Ltd.
(At RMEBEERE AR A A since April 2021, a director of Jiangsu
Synthgene Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (TEFEBHELYRIZERAQTF)
since March 2022, and a director of Shanghai BangBang Robotics
Co., Ltd. (LE/BHH%EBABRAF) since November 2022,
Ms. Qian has been serving as the general manager and legal
representative of Shanghai Hongjia Private Funds Management
Co., Ltd. (EBLFAEELERER2AA]) (previously known as
Shanghai Hongjia Asset Management Co., Ltd. (E/GAFEEEE
B 27])) since October 2020 and February 2022, respectively.

Ms. Qian obtained her bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Beijing International Studies University (1t5 2 —4MNHEFEEFR) in
the PRC in July 1997. Ms. Qian obtained her master of business
administration from China Europe International Business School
(PRI TR EHEER) in April 2004. Ms. Qian obtained her master
in finance and development from University of London in the
U.K. in December 2011. Ms. Qian has been a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA) since
March 2013.
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Mr. WANG Feizhou, aged 58, was appointed as a Supervisor
on June 17, 2022. Mr. Wang served as a teaching assistant at
Jimei Navigation Institute (a predecessor of Navigation College
of Jimei University) in Xiamen from August 1987 to March 1993,
a lecturer at the School of Information Engineering of Jimei
University in Xiamen from March 1993 to August 1998, a visiting
scholar sponsored by the Ministry of Education of the PRC at
the Centre for Transportation Studies of Nanyang Technological
University in Singapore from July 1998 to July 1999, an associate
professor at the School of Information Engineering of Jimei
University in Xiamen from August 1999 to July 2013, a Telus
technical specialist of ATl Group (a Canadian telecom company
now merged into AFL Group) from February 2014 to September
2015, the risk control director and chief technical analyst of CAUS
HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LTD. in Canada from September 2015
to September 2017, and a fund partner of Shanghai Zhongfu
Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. (E/EHRIBAIZEIREERA
R 2 ®]) from January 2018 to October 2021. Mr. WANG Feizhou
has been a co-founder and the chairman of the fourth session of
the board of supervisors of 1029 CAFE SOCIETY, an entrepreneur
club in Canada, since April 2015, and a co-founder and the chief
technology officer of RAYSENSE TECHNOLOGY CONSULTING
INC. in Canada since May 2018. Meanwhile, Mr. Wang has
served as a fund partner and the legal representative of Jiangsu
OL %
Al) since May 2021 and August 2022,

Zhongwei Tengyun Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd.
TERZEIEREETERARA

respectively.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor's degree in radio communication
engineering from Dalian Maritime University in 1987 and a
master’'s degree in information engineering and control from
Dalian Maritime University in 2000.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. LIU Yong, aged 52, is also the general manager of our
Company. For details of his biography, please see “—Board of
Directors — Executive Directors.”

Mr. LI Bu, aged 48, is also the vice general manager of our
Company. For details of his biography, please see “—Board of
Directors — Executive Directors.”

Ms. CHEN Qingqing, aged 42, is also the chief financial officer,
vice general manager and secretary of the Board. For details
of her biography, please see °
Directors.”

‘—Board of Directors — Executive

Mr. ZHOU Lei, aged 39, was appointed as a finance controller
on March 22, 2019. He is primarily responsible for financial
management. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhou worked as a
finance controller in Yangtze River Pharmaceutical from January
2017 to March 2019.

Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor's degree in accounting from
Jiangsu University of Science and Technology (I# R AZ)
in June 2008. Mr. Zhou has been registered as an intermediate
accountant with the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (F#E AR
MEIEFEER) since May 2011 and as a senior accountant with the
Ministry of Finance of the PRC since August 2022. Mr. Zhou has
been registered as a certified tax agent with the China Certified
Tax Agents Association (FEIFFEI#5ANRE) since November
2020. Mr. Zhou has been a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (% Bzl & 5TRN1% ) since February
2022.
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Ms. WANG Jing, aged 48, was appointed as the chief quality
officer of the Company in January 2022 and was responsible for
the total quality management of the Company.

From August 1998 to December 2021, Ms. Wang successively
served as staff member of gene engineering room and vaccine
room 2, supervisor and assistant director of quality inspection
room, deputy manager of quality assurance department and
manager of quality management department and quality
assurance department in Chengdu Institute of Biological Products
Co., Ltd. (AKEBEME MIAFTFABREE2AF]). Ms. Wang has more
than 20 years of experience in the field of vaccine research and
development, commercial production and quality management,
nearly 10 years of experience in quality management and quality
authorization of vaccine manufacturers, and rich experience in
vaccine registration with many successful registration cases.

Ms. Wang obtained her bachelor's degree in microbiology from
Sichuan University in July 1998 and her master's degree in
biomedical engineering from Sichuan University in December
2013.

Mr. ZHOU Yang, aged 44, was appointed as the chief operating
officer of the Company in March 2023, mainly responsible for the
management of the Company’s production, engineering, storage
and transportation business.

From August 2003 to September 2006, Mr. Zhou Yang worked as
a staff member in the viral vaccine room 1 of Chengdu Institute
of Biological Products Co., Ltd. From October 2006 to October
2016, he worked as a staff member, manager assistant, deputy
manager and manager in the quality assurance department of
Chengdu Institute of Biological Products Co., Ltd. From November
2016 to June 2017, he served as the director of the bacterial
vaccine room 1 of Chengdu Institute of Biological Products Co.,
Ltd. From July 2017 to February 2023, he successively served as
the assistant general manager and deputy general manager of
Chengdu Institute of Biological Products Co.,
than 20 years of experience in the vaccine industry, and has
rich professional and management experience in the business
fields of quality management, pharmacovigilance, storage and
transportation, safety and environmental protection.

Ltd. He has more

Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor's degree in biotechnology from
East China Normal University in Shanghai (/8 EREMEAL) in
July 20083.

THLZL 485k 2022F 1 AEZ X AR AAIEF
BEE  BEARNEAZEEEEI(E-

Iﬁ(i@1998¢8ﬂ§2021¢12)5]f5’\\ﬁ)2%‘ﬁ$%§%55
MEMEREEARETERIRE EE _ZB
8 Eiﬁmii C EEBE  HERBIINL
IS ERPE S REFILE - TLTHE20F
Etﬁﬁﬁﬁé CAECEEREEEEEEMELE
‘ﬁ1oiﬁ**i@ﬁ%%%mﬁ&'%ﬁiwé/\%ﬁﬁ '
U R E SR A Z R MR

FZER1998F7 ARSI REMEYEE L
AL+ WH20135 12 AIEE M) KREBA Y EE %ﬂfﬁé
T2 -

BB EE 4457 20233 AT AARAIEE
BEE  TEAEQRILE IR REZSEBE
BT

B %4 B 200348 A £200649 AR & £ &
mAEFMBRECATASHEEE —ZEETRE -
B 2006F 10 AE2016F 10 A R EPAE M E M7
FERETAREERESELRE « LHEHE
B - K38 - B20164F 11 AE 201746 AR HED
YRR ARETARMAREMERE —EEML
TE - B2017E7 A E2023F2 ARKALYE T
MEFMEBRET R AFETELIEIE - BIAKRE -
ERETEABBFNRELSE  £E=FE -

BYER - FE -  RERREEFEHELENE
EME TR o
BERER2003F7 AES LBERMEB NS LY
T LB o



Dr. YANG Kejian, aged 59, was appointed as Senior Vice
President of our company in February 2023 and Chief Technology
Officer of our company in May 2024, mainly responsible for
planning the company’'s vaccine R&D strategies, guiding and
managing R&D operations, and external academic exchanges and
cooperation programs.

Dr. Yang holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Microbiology and
Biochemistry from Hebei University (A1dEA2) in July 1986 and
a Ph.D. in Science from the Chinese Academy of Preventive
Medicine (FEITEP; 2282 F) in August 1995. Dr. Yang
completed postdoctoral research at University of Massachusetts
Medical School in U.S. in September 2000. He has 30 years of
experience in developing preventive and therapeutic vaccines
in research institutions and biotechnology companies. He has
engaged in the research and development of a variety of vaccines
and adjuvants, with rich experience in mucosal immunity research
and the construction of mucosal vaccine delivery technology
platform. Dr. Yang is currently a visiting professor at Nanjing
Medical University (FARERIARE). Dr. Yang has published an
array of influential articles and reviews, and obtained multiple
authorized patents.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. CHEN Qingqing, aged 42, was appointed as one of our
joint company secretaries on June 28, 2021. For details of
her biography, please see *
Directors” above.

—Board of Directors — Executive

Ms. YUNG Mei Yee, was appointed as the joint company
secretary of the Company on June 18, 2024. Ms. Yung is currently
a vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited. She has over 20 years of experience in handling matters
of company secretarial, corporate governance and compliance
of listed companies, has held various senior company secretarial
positions in various companies listed on the Stock Exchange
and has also served as company secretary or joint company
secretary of certain companies listed on the Stock Exchange. She
is currently working as a company secretary or joint company
secretary in a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
She is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. She obtained a bachelor of arts degree in accountancy
and a master of arts degree in language and law from the City
University of Hong Kong and a bachelor of laws degree from the
University of London.
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CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes to
Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management’'s information
since the publication of the interim report for the six months ended
June 30, 2024 of the Company and up to the Latest Practicable
Date are set out below:

Since September 2024, Dr. ZHOU Hongbin ceased to serve
as a director of Milkyway Chemical Supply Chain Service Co.,
Ltd. (ZRmEtTHEERKKRHERAR]), a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603713). Since
January 2025, Dr. ZHOU Hongbin ceased to serve as the co-
chief investment officer of Legend Capital (BBt & AEIERMNER
‘A |]). Since January 2025, Dr. ZHOU Hongbin served as the chief
operating officer of Legend Capital (EEtERNEERMHBBRAR).

Since November 2024, Dr. XIA Lijun ceased to serve as an
independent supervisor of Orient Securities Company Limited (&
A m AR 2AR]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3958) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600958).

Save as the above disclosure, there were no other changes in the
information of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management
of the Company as of the Latest Practicable Date.
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The Board is pleased to present this report of Directors together
with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, four non-
executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.
Our Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up
to the Latest Practicable Date are:

Executive Directors

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Mr. LI Bu

Ms. CHEN Qingging

Dr. HONG Kunxue

Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Ruwei
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin
Mr. HU Houwei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. XIA Lijun

Mr. LIANG Guodong
Professor GAO Feng
Professor YUEN Ming Fai

Note:

Dr. LIU Yong, Mr. LI Bu, Ms. CHEN Qingging and Dr. HONG
Kunxue were appointed as executive Directors of the second
session of the Board on May 8, 2024; Dr. WANG Ruwei, Dr.
ZHANG Jiaxin, Dr. ZHOU Hongbin and Mr. HU Houwei were
appointed as non-executive Directors of the second session of
the Board on May 8, 2024; Dr. XIA Lijun, Mr. LIANG Guodong,
Professor GAO Feng and Professor YUEN Ming Fai were
appointed as independent non-executive Directors of the
second session of the Board on May 8, 2024; Dr. LIU Yong
was elected as the chairman of the second session of the
Board on May 8, 2024. Dr. CHEN Jianping ceased to serve as
an executive Director on May 8, 2024.

Details of our Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this report.
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BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The Supervisory Board currently comprises four Supervisors. Our
Supervisors during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to
the Latest Practicable Date are:

Ms. QIAO Weiwei (Chairwoman)
Mr. WANG Feizhou

Ms. QIAN Ranting

Ms. LIU Ping

Note: Ms. QIAO Weiwei and Ms. LIU Ping were re-elected as
employee representative Supervisors of the second session
of the Supervisory Board on May 7, 2024; Ms. QIAN Ranting
and Mr. WANG Feizhou were appointed as non-employee
representative Supervisors of the second session of the
Supervisory Board on May 8, 2024; Ms. QIAO Weiwei was
appointed as the chairwoman of the second session of the

Supervisory Board on May 8, 2024.

Details of our Supervisors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this report.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company is a joint stock company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability on May 25, 2021. The H Shares of
our Company have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since March 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a vaccine company with a high-value subunit vaccine
portfolio driven by in-house developed technologies. We
primarily focus on the R&D of HPV vaccine candidates. Our
vaccine portfolio consists of more than 10 vaccines, including
our Core Product, REC603, a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine
under phase Il clinical trial. For further details, please refer to
“‘Management Discussion and Analysis — Business Review” in this
report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an analysis
of the Group’s financial performance and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business is set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this report. These discussions form
part of this Directors’ report. Events affecting our Company that
have occurred since the end of the Reporting Period are set out
in the paragraph headed “Important Events after the Reporting
Period” below. The discussion of our key relationships with
employees, suppliers and others that have a significant impact on
our Company is set out in “Relationship with Key Stakeholders”
below.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We face a variety of risks relating to our financial position and
prospects, R&D, clinical trials and regulatory approval of our
vaccine candidates, our manufacturing and commercialization
of our vaccines and vaccine candidates, our relationship with
third parties, strategic partners and collaborators, our intellectual
property rights, other aspects of our business operations, and the
industry and regulatory development in China. Some of the major
risks that we face include:

o we have incurred significant net losses since inception and
expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future, and may never achieve or maintain profitability. As
a result, you may lose substantially all of your investment in
us if our business fails;

° our financial prospects depend on the successful
development, approval and commercialization of our
clinical-stage and preclinical-stage vaccine pipeline;
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o we may be unable to successfully complete clinical
development, obtain regulatory approval and
commercialize our vaccine candidates;

o we invest substantial resources in R&D in order to develop
our vaccine candidates and enhance our technology
platforms, which we may not be able to do successfully;

o vaccine development involves a lengthy and expensive
process with uncertain outcomes and results of earlier
clinical trials may not be predictive of results of later-stage
clinical trials;

° the vaccine industry in China is highly regulated and
such regulations are subject to change which may affect
approval and commercialization of our vaccine candidates;

o if we are unsuccessful in obtaining or maintaining effective
intellectual property protection for one or more of our
vaccine candidates, and the scope of such intellectual
property rights obtained may not be sufficiently broad; and

o we cannot guarantee that we will ultimately develop or
market our Core Product or any of our vaccines and
vaccine candidates successfully.

The above is not an exhaustive list of the risks that we and
our business face. Shareholders and potential investors of our
Company are advised to make their own judgment and/or consult
their own investment advisors before making any investment in the
Shares and when dealing in the Shares of our Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In respect of social responsibilities, we have entered into
employment contracts with our employees in accordance with
the applicable PRC laws and regulations. We hire employees
based on their merits and it is our corporate policy to offer equal
opportunities to our employees regardless of gender, age, race,
religion or any other social or personal characteristics. We strive
to provide a safe working environment for our employees. We
have implemented work safety guidelines setting out safety
practices, accident prevention and accident reporting procedures.
Our employees responsible for manufacturing and quality control
and assurance are required to hold relevant qualifications, as
well as wear the proper safety gear when working. We conduct
regular safety inspections and maintenance for our manufacturing
facilities.

We strive to operate our facilities in a manner that protects the
environment and the health and safety of our employees and
communities. We have implemented company-wide environmental
health and safety policies and operating procedures, covering
waste treatment, process safety management, worker health and
safety requirements and emergency planning and response.
As required by the applicable PRC laws and regulations, our
manufacturing facilities under construction are required to pass
the environmental impact assessment. We have obtained such
assessment for our HPV vaccine manufacturing facility and
novel adjuvant project (shingles project) manufacturing facility
in February 2020 and April 2021, respectively. For waste water
generated during our R&D and manufacturing processes, we
will classify and treat it. The active waste water will enter the
sewage station for treatment after high temperature sterilization,
while the inactive waste water will directly enter the sewage
station for treatment, and then be sent to the sewage treatment
plant after treatment. In particular, we have formulated a set of
matrix and criteria with respect to the waste water, including

Annual Report 2024
—E-NEER

Directors’ Report

EEERE

BREBRRRE

EHERENE  RACRBERNPBEIERIEA
RERMNETIRIT TRESD - RARTEER
BT  HMNECEBRRREIRETIZORE
MAZRMER - Fik - Bk - FHEHERME BT
HEARFE - HPIBHAERMANETERHE—ELE
MTHERE - ZRPCKERT TELX2ES - RE
TREME  FHEHLREFREBEEF - RMEE
AEMNEERHRRENE I VAR ARBERS
T UETERMBESNZ2EME - HMAYHM
WAEREMETE RN L 2RE LEE -

BMENEREREURREE TR EAGEER
ZEMAME T EERFINERE - RADKERT 2
ARHEANRNREEER T 2BRARIRERF
HMETEVERE IT82%Z2FHE - - TABREREEZE
ERARESTEIFIEE S - RIBFEAPBRERE
FREMRNBRE  RAEENEEENARBIREY
2 - HIE 5 BIR2020F 2 A K 2021454 Bt
BRMOHPVREEEREM M FHAERER (FEE
B) £ EEMEEERTM - HRBRMHEREER
BHREEMEK  BRMGETHHEERE  BiEME
KEETESEREEERE AR ERE  EE54
BEKE B ASSKUAERIE - BRI STRE R EITKE
B - LEHRE  BAOBEKSE —EEERIZE
BIEEPNERGEY ' H{tEFA=(COD)EY T
B500= % - AT EBBISER T KA
B3z o BERME  RFSEHMATE
SE R R R S R B KRR o EAN - BPIR RS
LiEABBRESROEENE - RFABTHEE=F
BRI AHREIRIE LM EIFEY - BEIBHEIRIE -

65



66

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERMENEMRHHERAF

Directors’ Report

EEERE

its Ph values shall be between 6 to 9 and its Chemical Oxygen
Demand (COD) waste shall not exceed 500 mg/L, ammonia
nitrogen shall not exceed 35 mg/L and total phosphorus shall not
exceed 3 mg/L. For waste gas, we will build activated charcoal
filter and water spray equipment to process before emission.
In addition, our businesses involve the use of hazardous and
flammable chemical materials. We generally contract with third
parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. In order to
manage the environmental, social and climate related risks, we
have adopted a set of internal control policies, which set out the
standard procedures for us to monitor such risks and how should
we deal with these emergency events. We have also adopted an
environmental risk assessment management procedure, which
requires us to conduct periodic review on the environmental
impact that our operations may have. We also adopt a standard
environment, health and safety (EHS) risk management procedure
and EHS compliance evaluation procedure, pursuant to which we
are required to conduct periodic review the risks and challenges
we may encounter in this area. During the Reporting Period
and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we complied with the
relevant environmental and occupational health and safety laws
and regulations in all material aspects and we did not have any
incidents or complaints which had a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition or results of operations during
the period.

We pay close attention to the global trend and China’s national
strategies of addressing climate change and ecological
environment protection, and will actively enhance our ability to
address climate change and cope with China’s initiatives and
action plans regarding future carbon dioxide emission.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND MATERIAL LITIGATION

As of the Latest Practicable Date, neither we nor any of
our Directors were involved in any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings which could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of
operations, including those that may have an influence on the
R&D of our Core Product, REC603. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, we were not aware of any pending or threatened litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceedings against us or our
Directors which would have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition or results of operations, nor any
material breach by the Group of applicable laws and regulations
in China that are material to our business operations.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

We recognize that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business partners are key to
the Group’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong
relationships with them.

Employees

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we had 521 employees, all of
whom were full-time employees in mainland China. The number
of employees employed by the Group varies from time to time
depending on need. The remuneration package of our employees
includes wages and other incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, positions
and performance.
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We build our success on employees’ dedication and commitment.
Our Company is committed to providing as many opportunities
as possible for employees’ skills enhancement and career
development. We aim at cultivating talents in a long run, and
encouraging employees to develop their full potential and to keep
pace with the growth of our Company. We recruit our employees
primarily through recruiting websites, third-party recruiters and
employee referrals. We conduct new employee training, as well
as professional and safety training programs for all employees
in accordance with our internal procedures. We enter into
employment agreements with our employees to cover matters
such as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. During
the Reporting Period, we made contributions to social insurance
and housing provident funds in compliance with applicable PRC
laws and regulations in all material respects. We also enter into
standard confidentiality, intellectual property assignment and non-
competition agreements with our key management and research
and development staff, which typically include a standard non-
compete agreement that prohibits the employee from competing
with us, directly or indirectly, during his or her employment and
for two years after the termination of his or her employment.
Employees also sign acknowledgments regarding service
inventions and discoveries made during the course of his or her
employment.

Our Company also has adopted two share incentive schemes to
provide incentives and rewards for certain employees who have
contributed to the success of our business. Please refer to the
section headed “Share Schemes” below for further details.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not experience
any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

Customers and Suppliers

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we had no commercialized vaccines and therefore had no
customers.
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During the Reporting Period, our major suppliers primarily
included suppliers of raw materials and consumables for our
vaccine candidate R&D, suppliers of equipment for our R&D and
manufacturing process, and service providers such as CROs.
We maintain a list of qualified suppliers and we will conduct
qualification reviews and on-site audits for all of the qualified
suppliers. We have established stable relationships with qualified
suppliers. We only procure raw materials from qualified suppliers.
We conduct regular review on qualified suppliers and suppliers
that fail to pass such reviews will be removed from the list of
qualified suppliers. We select our suppliers by considering
their qualifications, compliance with relevant regulations and
industry standards, quality, prices, business scale, market share,
reputation and after-sales service quality. We have maintained
stable business relationships with our major suppliers. We have
been devoted to maintaining long-term cooperation relationship,
enhancing product quality, increasing sales volume and improving
profitability.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, purchases from the
Group'’s five largest suppliers amounted to RMB206 million (2023:
RMB323 million), accounting for approximately 31% (2023: 42%)
of the Group's total purchase amount in the same year. The
Group’s purchase from the largest supplier for the year ended
December 31, 2024 amounted to RMB58 million (2023: RMB103
million), accounting for approximately 9% (2023: 13%) of the
Group’s total purchase amount for the same year.

None of our Directors, their associates or any Shareholders
who, to the knowledge of our Directors, owned more than 5% of
our issued shares (excluding treasury shares) as of the Latest
Practicable Date, held any interest in any of our five largest
suppliers during the Reporting Period.

Shareholders

We consider that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of our business performance and strategies. Apart
from transparent and timely disclosure of corporate information
in accordance with the Listing Rules, our Company has kept
effective communication with Shareholders through our website,
WeChat platform, Shareholder’'s hotline, and IR mailbox. Senior
managements are also glad to receive Shareholders’ on-site visit
and have one-on-one meetings with them to share the information
which they are concerned and enable them to make rational
investment decisions.
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RESULTS AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 143 of this report. A summary of
the audited consolidated results and the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out in the section
“Financial Highlights” in this report. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of our
Company. Please also refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this report for further details.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of our
Company and our Group for the year ended December 31, 2024
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

DONATION

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the donation of the Group
was RMB60,000.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF OUR
COMPANY’S SHARES

On November 11, 2024, the Board meeting approved the
resolutions on the Company’s issuance of Domestic Shares, and
proposed to issue not more than 143,112,702 Domestic Shares
to Yangtze River Pharmaceutical under the specific mandate. On
November 11, 2024, the Company, Dr. LIU and Yangtze River
Pharmaceutical signed a Share Subscription Contract in relation
to the Issuance of Shares of Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
COIFMEEMEMRO AR A RERBETRMHAESR)) (“Share
Subscription Contract”) with conditions precedent, pursuant to
which Yangtze River Pharmaceutical has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue
a total of 143,112,702 Domestic Shares at the subscription price
of RMB5.59 per Share and with a par value of RMB1.00 per Share
(the “Issuance”). On December 24, 2024, the Company held
an extraordinary general meeting to consider and approve the
relevant resolutions of the Issuance. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, the application materials for the Issuance have been
accepted by the CSRC.
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The Issuance will help promote the business development of
the Company, enhance its comprehensive competitiveness
and ensure the realization of its operating goals and future
development strategies. The Issuance facilitates the recombinant
shingles vaccine pipeline and supplement working capital, which
is conducive to improving the overall strength of the Company
and increasing its capital reserve, thereby further optimizing
the Company’s financial structure, improving its profitability and
anti-risk capability, and ensuring the stable and sustainable
development of the Company in the future.

It is expected that the proceeds raised from the Issuance
will be approximately RMB800,000,004. After deducting the
relevant issuance expenses, it will be used for the research and
development of shingles vaccine products and the supplement of
working capital as follows:

(i) about 70% (RMB560 million) will be used for the shingles
vaccine project, of which 31% will be spent on clinical
trials, 31% will be spent on registration, industrialization
and commercialization, and 8% will be spent on process
verification and production preparation; and

(i) about 30% (RMB240 million) will be used to supplement
working liquidity.

The closing price of H Share on the Stock Exchange on the date
of the Share Subscription Contract (i.e. November 11, 2024) was
HK$8.24 per share.

The Issuance is subject to the approval of the relevant regulatory
authorities (i.e., the CSRC), and the final plan approved by the
relevant regulatory authorities (i.e. the CSRC) shall prevail. The
Company will make further disclosures regarding the Issuance
in due course and appropriate manner in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

For details of the Issuance, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated November 11, 2024, December 24, 2024,
January 9, 2025 and February 27, 2025 and the circular dated
December 5, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, neither our
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any listed securities of the Company (including sale of treasury
shares (as defined in the Listing Rules)). As of the end of the
Reporting Period, no treasury shares were held by the Company
or its subsidiaries.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the PRC which would oblige our
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: Nil).

There is no arrangement under which Shareholders waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

According to the Individual Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (R ZEAREXMBEAMBERE)) and its
implementation rules, dividends paid to individuals by PRC
companies are generally subject to an individual income tax levied
at a flat rate of 20%. For an individual who has no domicile in the
PRC and is not resident in the territory of the PRC or who has no
domicile in the PRC and has been resident in the territory of the
PRC for less than 183 days cumulatively within a tax year, his/
her receipt of dividends from a PRC company is normally subject
to a PRC withholding tax of 20% unless specifically exempted
or reduced by an applicable tax treaty and other tax laws and
regulations.

Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on
Issues Concerning Withholding the Enterprise Income Tax on
Dividends Paid by Chinese Resident Enterprises to Holders of
H Shares who are Overseas Non-resident Enterprises (Guo Shui
Han [2008] No. 897) KHIZRHBEBAN T EHEREEMFEIN H KX
FE/E R b 3 AR R K 35 IR B A H R 1 2 P45 5 45 A 9 R ) 38 0 )( B
i 4[2008]8975%)), a PRC resident enterprise, when distributing
dividends for 2008 and for the years afterwards to holders of H
Shares who are overseas non-resident enterprises, shall withhold
the enterprise income tax at a flat rate of 10%.
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Our Company did not declare or pay any dividend for the year
ended December 31, 2024. Accordingly, the Shareholders of our
Company (including the holders of H Shares) are not subject to
income tax on dividend distribution. If any of the H Shareholders
is unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding,
disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to
the H Shares, he/she is advised to consult an expert.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of our Company for
the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURE AND CONVERTIBLE
BOND

Our Group did not issue any debenture or convertible bond for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share incentive schemes as described below, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed for the year ended December 31, 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance to provide
liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company in respect of legal actions against them due to affairs
of the Company. As of the Latest Practicable Date, all Directors
of our Company were covered under the liability insurance
purchased by our Company for its Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Company did not have any
reserves available for distribution to our Shareholders.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2024, our Company has a total bank loans
and other borrowings in the amount of RMB878.3 million. Please
refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis
- Financial Review” in this report and note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.
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LOAN AGREEMENTS THAT ARE REQUIRED TO BE
DISCLOSED UNDER THE LISTING RULES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Company has not entered
into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring
specific performance of the controlling shareholders (as defined
in the Listing Rules). Our Directors have confirmed that, as of the
Latest Practicable Date, they were not aware of any circumstances
that would give rise to disclosure requirements under Rules 13.13
to 13.19 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Our Company has entered into a service agreement with each
of the Directors and Supervisors which contains provisions in
relation to, among other things, compliance with relevant laws
and regulations, observation of the Articles of Association and
provisions on arbitration. Each of the agreements is for a term
of three years following his/her respective appointment date and
the service agreements may be renewed in accordance with our
Articles of Association and the applicable rules.

Save as disclosed above, our Company has not entered, and
do not propose to enter, into any service contracts with any
of the Directors or Supervisors in their respective capacities
as Directors/Supervisors (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors and Supervisors nor any entity connected
with the Directors and Supervisors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which our Company, our holding
company, or any of our subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended December
31, 2024.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report and save for their respective
interests in the Group, none of the Directors and Supervisors was
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2024.
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From time to time, our non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors may serve on the boards of directors of
both private and public companies within the broader healthcare
and biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
neither our controlling shareholders nor members of our executive
management team, we believe that their interests in such
companies as directors would not render us incapable of carrying
on our business independently from the other companies in which
they may hold directorships from time to time.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of our Company was
entered into or existed for the year ended December 31, 2024.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of December 31, 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief
executives of our Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares of our Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:
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Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the RAATRD[ABERAGPINEFE
Company

Approximate

percentage of

Approximate interest in the

percentage of relevant class

interest in our  of Shares of

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares”  Company™ our Company
(PN

fBARE  REENRG

REOHA BEHEN

Name #E/ 28 EEtE RGEE RERO AR Pl
Taizhou Yuangong Technology FINTIRRABEE(E  Beneficial owner 62,147,715 Domestic Shares 17.16% 37.25%
Partnership (Limited Ra®)((ZMnIl)® EzEAA 62,147,715 AR
Partnership) (“Taizhou 20,715,905 H Shares 6.55%
Yuangong')®? 20,715,905 ik HiR
Taizhou Ruibaitai R ERBERREH Beneficial owner 8,076,923 Domestic Shares 1.67% 4.84%
Pharmaceutical Technology 4% (ER&%) (BA  EREEA 8,076,923[% W&k
Partnership (L.P.) 4 BEEREREE
(previously known as BaRez (BRE
Lianyungang Ruibaitai %) ([%E%])0
Pharmaceutical Technology
Partnership) (L.P.))
(*Ruibaitai’)?
Beijing Junlian Shengyuan IREBRERERESY  Beneficial owner 7,084,855 Domestic Shares 5.87% 4.25%
Equity Investment ¥ (BRa%) (B8 EREAA 7,084,855 E MR
Enterprise (Limited BR)W 21,254,565 H Shares 6.72%
Partnership) (“Junlian 21,254,565 HIR

Shengyuan”)*)

Lhasa Junqi Enterprise NERHAREEER Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 8.67% 6.27%
Management Co., Ltd 4 AR REAEER 10,465,255 W& &
31,395,765 H Shares 9.93%

31,395,765l HIR

Legend Capital Co., Ltd. EMEREERNBM/RAR  Interest in controlled corporations 10,465,255 Domestic Shares 9.89% 6.27%
(‘Legend Capital’) ([BBEX])® REEERER 10,465,255 R W& Mk
37,317,145 H Shares 11.80%

37,317,145 lkHR
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Number and class of Shares!")

ROHE RER

EEEHRE

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
percentage of relevant class
interest in our  of Shares of

Company™ our Company("

Approximate

Beijing Juncheng Hezhong
Investment Management
Partnership Enterprises
(Limited Partnership)®

Beijing Jungi Jiarui Business
Management Limited®

CHEN Hao®

IREHRRRATERY
X (BRA%)®

L REEREL2ERAR
AR

Tianjin Huizhi No. 1 Investment KZEBSHOEEEHN

Management Consulting
Partnership Enterprises
(Limited Partnership)®®

ZHU Linan®

Tianjian Junlian Jieyou
Investment Management
Partnership Enterprises
(Limited Partnership)®

ABLE (ARA%)Y

il

REERGA LR EEEE
aBLE (BRA%)Y

Interest in controlled corporations
RibEERs

Interest in controlled corporations
ESAALL 3

Interest in controlled corporations
R AE R

Interest in controlled corporations
REEEER

Interest in controlled corporations
REERER

Interest in controlled corporations
RbEERR

10,465,255 Domestic Shares
10,465,255 R WA I
37,317,145 H Shares
37,317 145/ HER

10,465,255 Domestic Shares
10,465,255 R WA
37,317,145 H Shares
37,317,145 HA%

10,465,255 Domestic Shares
10,465,255 R M E R
37,317,145 H Shares
37,317,145 HI%

10,465,255 Domestic Shares
10,465,255 WA &
37,317,145 H Shares
37,317 145/ HiR

10,465,255 Domestic Shares
10,465,255 R W& B
37,317,145 H Shares
37,317 145/ HiR

10,465,255 Domestic Shares
10,465,255/ &
37,317,145 H Shares
37,317 145l H

LA

EADF REERHRG
RENgY  RENEN
BARY ALY
9.89% 6.27%
11.80%

9.89% 6.27%
11.80%

9.89% 6.27%
11.80%

9.89% 6.27%
11.80%

9.89% 6.27%
11.80%

9.89% 6.27%
11.80%
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Approximate
percentage of

Approximate interest in the
percentage of  relevant class
interest in our  of Shares of

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares®  Company” our Company!"
|
fEARE  REENRG
BENEY BREOBH
Name e/ 4% BiME RAO#E RERIO AR [EpAll
Taizhou Chaorui Medical FINRRBERRABLE  Beneficial owner 29,912,024 H Shares 6.19% 9.46%
Technology Partnership (BhRa%) (LR : EaBA 29,912,024k Hik
(Limited Partnership) () ERRREEREA
(previously known as (1) BrE(ERAE) R(2)
Huaf'an Chaorui Medical DERREERRAY
Technology Partnership % (BR&%)) (&
(Limited Partnership) and M) o
(2) Shanghai Chaorui
Medical Technology
Partnership (Limited
Partnership)) (“Taizhou
Chaorui")®
YU Yue® TEO Interest in controlled corporations 29,912,024 H Shares 6.19% 9.46%
RIEAEER 29,912,024k Hik
LIU Hongyan®/® EIHE=20 Interest in controlled corporations 7,734,298 Domestic Shares 8.01% 4.64%
REEERR 7,734,298 R M A& &
30,937,192 H Shares 9.79%
30,937 192/ Hix
Beneficial owner 358,808 Domestic Shares 0.37% 0.22%
ERAERA 358,808 R AR
1,435,232 H Shares 0.45%
1,435,232k HRR
Spouse interest 256,292 Domestic Shares 0.27% 0.15%
REE: 256,292 WE K
1,025,168 H Shares 0.32%
1,025,168 BRHR
LYFE Niagara River Limited”  LYFE Niagara River Beneficial owner 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 5.74%
Limited™ EnERA 18,151,700k HA
LYFE Capital Fund Ill LYFE Capital Fund Il Interest in controlled corporations 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 5.74%

(Dragon), LP.7

(Dragon), L.P.7)

e 4o

18,151,700 fRHA&
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EEEHRE

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
percentage of relevant class
interest in our  of Shares of

Company™ our Company("

Approximate

AR

BARR  REENRG

ERMHN ERNEL

Name #E /48 ERtE ROEGARERO AL AAKO

LYFE Capital Management LYFE Capital Interest in controlled corporations 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 5.74%
Limited® Management RELE R 18,151,700 H&

Limited®

ZHAO Jin™ HEO Interest in controlled corporations 16,348,140 Domestic Shares 7.14% 9.80%
RmEEER 16,348,140l ME

18,151,700 H Shares 5.74%
18,151, 700 HR%

Shenzhen Oriental Fortune MRS EFREEE Interest in controlled corporations 8,669,705 Domestic Shares 6.86% 5.20%
Capital Investment Co., BROERAR(RAE  XEEEER 8,669,705k WA

Ltd. (“Oriental Fortune Ble 24,440,335 H Shares 7.73%
Capital")® 24,440,335 i HIR

CHEN Wei® BEe Interest in controlled corporations 8,669,705 Domestic Shares 6.86% 5.20%
REEERER 8,669,705/ AR

24,440,335 H Shares 7.73%
24,440,335 RHiR

Shenzhen Fer-Capital FFEREREEREBR  Interest in controlled corporations 9,067,913 Domestic Shares 5.63% 5.44%
Investment Management AR([RBRE])O REEEER 9,067,913 A E K

Co., Ltd. (“Fer-Capital”)® 18,135,827 H Shares 5.74%
18,135,827 i HR

FENG Tao® o3 Interest in controlled corporations 9,067,913 Domestic Shares 5.63% 5.44%
RIEEEER 9,067,913 M &k

18,135,827 H Shares 5.74%
18,135,827 X HR

Nanjing Zhaoyin Modern HRRERRELZRRR  Beneficial owner 20,446,160 H Shares 4.23% 6.47%
Industry No. Il Equity BREE: (BRA%) EREAA 20,446, 160HAR

Investment Fund (Limited
Partnership) (“Zhaoyin
Modern”)™

(MRRHK]) ™
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Nature of interest

Number and class of Shares!")

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

of Shares of
Company™ our Company("

Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

NG
BARR  REENRG
ERMHN BRNBH
Name #E /48 BHtE ROEGARERO AR B
Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern TERFRREZMRERE  Interest in controlled corporations 20,446,160 H Shares 4.23% 6.47%
Industry Equity Investment ~~ E&—HB(BRA%)  REiEER 20,446,160 HI&
Fund Phase | (Limited
Partnership)©
CMB International Financial ~ BHEFEEEER (RY)  Interest in controlled corporations 22,719,240 H Shares 4.70% 7.19%
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., AR XmEEER 22,719,240 HI
Ltd.(10
Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial IHRREXESERAR  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Fund Management A0 REEEER 22,907, 7008HER
Co., Ltd.("0
CMB International Capital REEBEAEE (F)  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Management (Shenzhen) BRAR© REEEER 22,907,700 %HAR
Co., Ltd.1®
CMB Financial Holdings RELBIZE (A ER  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.® AL REEERER 22,907,700 HAR
CMB International Capital REEBSHAERAT®  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Corporation Limited™ REEERER 22,907, 700fHIR
CMB International Capital REERSRERER Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Holdings Corporation Ao XmEEER 22,907, 7005 HM%
Limited®
China Merchants Bank Co.,  BEHRTRHARAF  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 H Shares 4.74% 7.25%
Ltd.(0 RErEER 22,907,700 HAx
Shenzhen Sequoia Hanchen  Shenzhen Sequoia Beneficial owner 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Equity Investment Hanchen Equity ERAEA 8,962 500k WA %
Partnership (L.P.) Investment Partnership
(“Hanchen’)" (L.P.)([Hanchen )
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fEARE  REENRG
RRNHL RENEN
Name e/ 4% BiME RAO#E RERIO BALO [EpAll
Shenzhen Sequoia Yuechen  Shenzhen Sequoia Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Investment Partnership Yuechen Investment RELE R 8,962 500k WA %
(Limited Partnership) Partnership (Limited
(“Yuechen”) Partnership)
(TYuechen )"
Shenzhen Sequoia Yuchen Shenzhen Sequoia Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Equity Investment Yuchen Equity RELE R 8,962 500k W& %
Partnership (Limited Investment Partnership
Partnership) (“Yuchen”)!"" (Limited Partnership)
(TYuchen]) (™
Shenzhen Sequoia Antai Equity Shenzhen Sequoia Antai Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Investment Partnership Equity Investment RELE R 8,962 500k W& %
(Limited Partnership) Partnership (Limited
(“Antai’)" Partnership)
(T Antai])
Shenzhen Sequoia Huanyu Shenzhen Sequoia Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
Investment Consulting Co., ~ Huanyu Investment FEEEER 8,962,500k W& K
Ltd. (*Huanyu”)™ Consulting Co., Ltd.
(THuanyu )"
ZHOU Kuitm iz Interest in controlled corporations 8,962,500 Domestic Shares 1.86% 5.37%
RErEEL 8,962,500 & Mk
Springleaf Investments Pte. Springleaf Investments Beneficial owner 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%
Ltd.(? Pte. Ltd.(? ExfiBA 12,000,0000K LshER
Anderson Investments Anderson Investments Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%
Pte. Ltd.(2 Pte. Ltd.1@ REEEEL 12,000,0008R Eoh& i
Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd.®  Thomson Capital Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%

Pte. Ltd."

Sl 4o

12,000,000 K EHNE R
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Approximate

percentage of

Approximate interest in the

percentage of relevant class

interest in our  of Shares of

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares®  Company” our Company!"
|

fEARE  REENRG

BENEY BREOBH

Name #E /48 BHtE ROEGARERO AR BAL
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd."?  Tembusu Capital Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%
Pte. Ltd.? RibEERs 12,000,000/ K EsME R
Temasek Holdings (Private) ~ Temasek Holdings Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 7.19%

Limited"2 (Private) Limited""2 RmEEER 12,000,000k LA R

Notes: Htat -

1. As at December 31, 2024, the Company had issued a total 1, R2024F12A31H RARIBETKHD
of 482,963,000 Shares, comprising 154,824,311 Domestic A2 5482,963,0000% © 23E154,824,311
Shares, 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares and 316,138,689 BRARER - 12,000,000 K EINE B K
H Shares. All interests stated are long positions. For the 316,138,689 8 HA% - FT2IFT A= BT E °
Domestic Shareholders and Unlisted Foreign Shareholders, MABEREAR ETINERKREMS © (GANAF
the approximate percentage of interest in the relevant class of FHBERROEROBLA B DL HIRERD 31T
Shares of our Company is calculated based on the sum of the REBR R AR ETINERBEGTE -

issued Domestic Shares and Unlisted Foreign Shares.

2. Taizhou Yuangong was owned as to 0.0001% by Dr. LIU as a 2. ZFMNTIHEELE ((EAETBAEBA)ESR
general partner. 0.0001% -
3. Ruibaitai was owned as to 37.27% by Dr. LIU as a general 3. HAFERHIABT (EAETBRAEBAN)BEA

partner. 37.27% °



The general partner of Junlian Shengyuan was Lhasa Jungi
Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (JufEEECXEERERAR).
Zhuhai Junlian Yongshuo Equity Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (RREEB KERERELX(BRAE%)) was
controlled by Lhasa Jungi Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (hz
EAEMEEEBRAF]). Lhasa Jungi Enterprise Management
Co., Ltd. (NEFZHLEEEAFR ) was wholly owned
by Legend Capital, which was held as to 80% by Beijing
Juncheng Hezhong Investment Management Partnership
Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (ItREHAEREKEEEAE
¥ (BRE%)). The general partners of Beijing Juncheng
Hezhong Investment Management Partnership Enterprises
(Limited Partnership) (tREHERIEEEEABLE(ERE
%)) were Beijing Jungi Jiarui Business Management Limited
(AREHE=ECEEEAMR A A]), Tianjin Huizhi No.1 Investment
Management Consulting Partnership Enterprises (Limited
Partnership) (REEEEHFEXETEZRNGBEE(BRER))
and Tianjin Junlian Jieyou Investment Management Partnership
Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (REZBBGEHCEETEAAE
BE(BRAER)), holding approximately 58.12% and 41.87%
of its partnership interest respectively. The partnership interest
of Beijing Junqi Jiarui Business Management Limited (b=
EHEECEEHE AR AA) was approximately 40% owned
by CHEN Hao (FR)). The partnership interest of Tianjin
Huizhi No.1 Investment Management Consulting Partnership
Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (KZELSHEXEEERAE
BHE(HRAE)) was approximately 34.68% owned by ZHU
Linan (5R32F).

LC Healthcare Fund Il., L.P. was managed by LC Healthcare
Fund Il GP Limited, which was wholly owned by LC Fund GP
Limited. LC Fund GP Limited was wholly owned by Union
Season Holdings Limited. Union Season Holdings Limited was
wholly owned by Legend Capital.
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%‘Eﬁ%%iﬁﬁ’]ELQ%ZA%?lﬁéﬁ%Em%afiﬁ
C BREEH mﬁﬂﬂ%&&éﬁm%(ﬁﬁﬁf\
%)mf&ﬁ;%‘%ﬁ XEEBRAREG - MER
HEEEBRERA T&%‘Hﬁ%éﬁ@é%ﬁ i
HEARIREBEHERREBTEAREE(F
RAEE)EES% LEZEBRARKEEEA
BHE(BRER)NETBERARILREHSE
§ﬁ%ﬁi¥ﬁ[ﬁ@7 %/i[ag%mﬂ:%aii
BHEBLE (BRAER) RAEEHHHRLE
ERBAERLE (BREE) 2B EELN
58.12% [ 41.87% M A ¥R - LREHZE
THEEBERARABBREITEELNI0%MER
i o REESSHREEEERZHNEGRLE (R
RE%) BRI H HAI34.68% & Bk ©

LC Healthcare Fund Il., L.P.FALC Healthcare
Fund II GP Limited&# - MLC Healthcare
Fund Il GP Limited@LC Fund GP Limited%
& A ° LC Fund GP Limited# Union Season
Holdings LimitedZ®&#4A ° Union Season
Holdings Limited B BB E AR &R °
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Therefore, under the SFO, Lhasa Jungi Enterprise Management
Co., Ltd. (NEEBAHEILXEEFRAA) was deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Junlian Shengyuan and
Zhuhai Junlian Yongshuo Equity Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (AR/EBBBKEREREDCZE(BREE)); each
of Legend Capital, Beijing Juncheng Hezhong Investment
Management Partnership Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (it
REBERIEEERABLE(BRAEE)), Beijing Jungi Jiarui
Business Management Limited (ItRZHEELEEEAREA
Al), Tianjin Huizhi No.1 Investment Management Consulting
Partnership Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (R2ZEEZ=
HEEERZHNEBLEEREE)), Tianjin Junlian Jieyou
Investment Enterprise Management Partnership Enterprises
(Limited Partnership) (REEZBEHEEETEZAEGREEER
4%)), CHEN Hao (PR%) and ZHU Linan (4K32F) was deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Junlian Shengyuan,
Zhuhai Junlian Yongshuo Equity Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (BR/EBBOKERERELE(BRAR)) and LC
Healthcare Fund II, L.P.

Taizhou Chaorui was owned as to approximately 10.48% by YU
Yue (T#8) as a general partner and 36.56% by LIU Hongyan
(BI4T) as a limited partner. Therefore, each of YU Yue (FE)
and LIU Hongyan (2J41%) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Taizhou Chaorui under the SFO.

Nanjing Xinrui Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(ARFBERRABLE(BRA®)) held 256,292 Domestic
Shares and 1,025,168 H Shares, whose general partner
was LIU Hongyan (ZI4T%). ZHAO Jiayi (#%= %) spouse of
LIU Hongyan (Zl41%), held 256,292 Domestic Shares and
1,025,168 H Shares respectively. Therefore, LIU Hongyan was
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Nanjing Xinrui
Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FR#FERHEA
B (BRER)) and ZHAO Jiayi (HEFZE).

Et - IRIBEBHFERAEGY - NEZHEEE
B AR A BIEAR =0 B B R IR R I8 B Bk e
RIEZRECXE (ERER) HBERRMD A #E
W BBMER IRBHERRATEGHRD
¥ (BRE%)  IRBEHZFLXEEARA
A REESSHEXBTEAZNGBLE (5
RE%)  REBBGEELCEEREZRAGREE
(BRAR)  BERKRILESBEEA BN B
BIR - IWEBEBKERERERRE (BRER)
K LC Healthcare Fund I, L.P.#8 M%7 9 #
G o

FMNEmBE TRIEAEBEY AR A10.48%
MBI EEABREZAES36.56% ° Bt
REFEHFRPEGKD - TRRIALES BHER
BRRNBIHFEOROPEAER

ERNENEAECE(BREE) A
256,292 ME % 21,025,168k HAX © 32 A &
TBREBABBRLE - BUENREBREEZES
RIFFH 256,292 RN E iR % 1,025,168 ik HAZ °
At - BIAEWEARBERTEREEELE
(BERER) REZERANRMDPEE#ER -



LYFE Niagara River Limited, Shanghai Jiyue Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (_E/&&EHM
(¥ETHEABLE(BRAE)) (“Shanghai Jiyue”) and Shanghai
Jixuan Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (LB EHCXEREHNEBLE(ARER))
(“Shanghai Jixuan”) held 18,151,700 H Shares, 8,318,800
Domestic Shares and 8,029,340 Domestic Shares, respectively.
LYFE Niagara River Limited was controlled by LYFE Capital
Fund Il (Dragon), L.P. LYFE Capital Fund IIl (Dragon), L.P. was
controlled by LYFE Capital Management Limited, which was in
turn controlled by ZHAO Jin (i#&). Therefore, each of LYFE
Capital Fund IlI (Dragon), L.P., LYFE Capital Management
Limited and ZHAO Jin (f#%&) was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by LYFE Niagara River Limited under the SFO.
Shanghai Jiyue and Shanghai Jixuan were managed by LYFE
Capital Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (M4
AEESEE(LE)EMR2AA]), which was in turn controlled by
ZHAO Jin (#&). Therefore, each of ZHAO Jin (&) and LYFE
Capital Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (/%=L
SHSE®(8)BERATF) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Shanghai Jiyue and Shanghai Jixuan under the
SFO.
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LYFE Niagara River Limited « /& &AM
*¥BEEBCE(ARERE) [LBBEA] R
LEBHCEERERAERLE (BRER)
([LBEE]) H7I#HE 18,151,700 HAL
8,318,800k W& i 128,029,340k A& KX
LYFE Niagara River LimitedfLYFE Capital
Fund Il (Dragon), L.P.#%fl - LYFE Capital
Fund Ill (Dragon), L.P.ALYFE Capital
Management LimitedfZl * MLYFE Capital
Management Limited FRiE &2 o FiL - 1R
BESHRHEEA - LYFE Capital Fund I
(Dragon), L.P. » LYFE Capital Management
Limited X # & & B #R AXLYFE Niagara
River LimitedfE RO P HEEEZ - /8
BER OEEFRMNELSESER (LF)
ERARIERE  MMELEESER (LEF)
BRAFIEBEEZES - Bt - BREZHFRBE
1&p - BERMNELSESERE (L) AR
NRIFZFEHER/N LEERAR BB EEFAEN
MR fn A A o
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Oriental Fortune Capital was interested in an aggregate of
24,440,335 H Shares and 8,669,705 Domestic Shares through
six entities, including (i) Shenzhen Fuhai Juanyong Il Venture
Capital Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (FIIE/BEK —SRAIZE
WELE(BREE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen Oriental
Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd. (FIITRIE
BRI EEE AR AF]), which was in turn wholly owned by
Oriental Fortune Capital), (ii) Shenzhen Fuhai Juanyong IlI
Venture Capital Enterprise (Limited Partnership) GRIIE & &K
ZHRAIERENE(BRAE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen
Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd., which
was in turn wholly owned by Oriental Fortune Capital), (iii)
Shenzhen Fuhai Youxuan Il High Technology Venture Capital
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (ZIIT = /&&EE
“HERRAIERESRLEE(BERE®)) (the general partner
is Shenzhen Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co.,
Ltd. (RYITERSZEERIZLEEEERAF), which was in
turn wholly owned by Oriental Fortune Capital), (iv) Shenzhen
Nanshan OFC Small and Medium Venture Capital Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FJIFEILE A =&
IMIBIERERES SR DLE(BRER)) (the general partner is
Shenzhen Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co.,
Ltd. (RYITERSZEERIEZLEEEEGRAF), which was in
turn wholly owned by Oriental Fortune Capital), (v) Shenzhen
Qianhai Kekong Fuhai Youxuan Venture Capital Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) CEIITATERHEE SE2EA|
(BB E(ARAE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen
Qianhai Kekong Gangshen Venture Investment Co., Ltd. (F3I]
mANERHEE RAIFILE BPRAR]), which was in turn owned as
to 50% by Oriental Fortune Capital), and (vi) Shenzhen Fuhai
Xincai Phase Il Venture Capital Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (RIITEEFMM —HalEEEESEEE
*(BRA%E)) (the general partner is Shenzhen Fuhai Xinwan
Equity Investment Fund Management Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (RYITM B ESERELEESEELE(ERE
%)), which was in turn owned as to 90% by Oriental Fortune
Capital. Oriental Fortune Capital was owned as to 48.42% by
CHEN Wei (FR3%). Therefore, under the SFO, Oriental Fortune
Capital and CHEN Wei (FR¥%) were deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by the above six entities.

8.

REEBERAKEENE £24,440,3350&H
% 8,669,705 K N & MR #E A HEes + BIE(I) R
NEEERKRAERECE (ERAE) (B
TREBAABFRITR B GRIEREEES
BAR ZAREARSBEEEESE) @ (I)F
NEFEK=REAERELE(ERAE) (&
TREBAAFITRSEGRIEREEES
BAR ZARBERFEBE2ERES) © (iii)F
N EBEBE_FaRREREGR X (F
REE) (HEBABARFRY MRS ZEE
X¥REEEBRAR ZARBHRAIBEEE
®AE)  (vV)FIELURSE SR/ NMIBIERE
ESABLE(ERAEE) (HEBEBARZR
NTRABEEEREEEFRAR  ZAH
HRAEBZEHRA)  (v)RITAERHEZES
BEEAEREARLE (BERAER) (HEBE
ABANBRYTANERHES REIEREARA
A ZAEHRAEEEE50%) @ R(vi)EI
MEESHMM —HAIXREESARLE (BRE
B)(HEBEEARRYMEESERERE
ESEEX (ARER)  ZATARTEE
HHEI%) - R = /BHMREREE48.42% - A
It BEBEFHFRBAEGEG - RAEERRER
BAR LN EEEBFEEOROPEG RS -



10.

Fer-Capital was the general partner of each of Shenzhen
Yingkejin Investment Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (RIBREREEBERBELE(EREE))
(“Shenzhen Yingkejin”), Liuyang Woyang Health Industry
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (2IF53K55 &%
EXREAEILXE(BRE%)) ("Woyang Health”), Changsha
Woyang Phase Il Health Industry Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (EXKR — B EEERESBRCEER
&%)) (‘Woyang Phase Il") and Shenzhen Luewei Investment
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FIIIEEERE
EMABCE(ERAE)) (“Shenzhen Luewei’). Fer-Capital is
held by FENG Tao (/%) as to an aggregate of approximately
42.80% (comprising 32.80% of his direct equity interests, and
as a general partner of Shenzhen Huizhi Gongying Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (F3IITTMES £ 2
TEEBLSBEOEERAE)) holding 10% equity interests), and
33.60% by CHEN Erjia (FRFI1E). Therefore, each of FENG Tao,
CHEN Erjia and Fer-Capital was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Shenzhen Yingkejin, Woyang Health, Woyang
Phase Il and Shenzhen Luewei under the SFO.

Zhaoyin Modern, Nanjing Zhenyuan IlI Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (B REIREGRHRKIEREEE
(AR A%)) (‘Nanjing Zhenyuan”) and Nanjing Zhaoyin
Gongying Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(ARMHERABRRERESGRCE(ERER)) (“Nanjing
Zhaoyin Gongying”) held Shares of the Company respectively.
Zhaoyin Modern was managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial
Fund Management Co., Ltd. (TERBIEEXESEEFR A A])
and 83.26% was held by Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern Industry
Equity Investment Fund Phase | (Limited Partnership) (JI#k
RIFBEREERERLEES —BH(BERAEE)). Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. (IEBIRELESLE
AR /AF]) was wholly owned by CMB International Capital
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (HBEBEEENEE(FINE
[RA7]). Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern Industry Equity Investment
Fund Phase | (Limited Partnership) (iT%k+A%REIR M E R HE
REES—H(BRAHE)) was managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. (IERBEEESEIE
BBRAF]) and 66.56% was held by CMB International Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FBEBEEEERORINER
A 7]). Nanjing Zhenyuan was managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. (IEREEEESEIR
BR/AF]) and 99.95% was held by Shanghai Qiji Technology
Partnership (L.P.) (E8EER AR (BRER)). Shanghai
Qiji Technology Partnership (L.P.) (L/SEEREAZDE(ER
&%)) was managed by CMB International Financial Holdings
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (RIEFBERIERORINABRAF) and
99.90% was held by CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (FBIRESBIER ORI BR 2 F]). CMB International Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (RERE & @iERCRINERA
Al) was a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMB Financial Holdings

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (HBiRE @IERORINER A7),

10.
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EREE(BERER) ([RBRE]) - RAKG
—HRFEXREAGBLE (BRAR) ([ RE
SHDRRIBEREEESREE (ERE
#2)(TRYIME D SENEBABA - RBE
BHREFRE - AH142.80% (BHEAEEER
HEE32.80% « BEAERARIITES HACXER
BREE (BERAR) MEBABARE10%K
) K mFRMERF33.60% © Bt - RIBFH
REEGRE - 2% RBERRBRERER
RIRYIBRGE ~ REGEE - RS — B RORYIBE
BE BRI AR P EAES

BRBR - ARBAREFRERESRLE(F
RE%) ((MREE]) REmmBRLHRE
BREGELE (BREE) (MRBREAR]) H
AIFERARRG - BREKRBIHRBREE
EcEEARAREERBIHARBBRARES
RIEREES —H(ERAE)FH83.26% °
IHBREXESEEGRARHRBEBREE
AERE(FRY) BRARZERSE - T&HBE
BREXEREREES —H(BRAE)HII
HREEXESCEEARAREERABRE
Be i ORI BRARKEE66.56% ° /@
RERAIHBREXECTEARAREE
B EBEERBAECE (EREE)FE
99.95% ° LBEERZEHEE (BREE)
HBERBER S EIER ORY) AR AR EE RS
BRI CRY) BRARFHF99.90% °
BREE SR ORI BRAF ABRSE
2R ORI BRARMNEZEMB AR -
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11.

Nanjing Zhaoyin Gongying was managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. (IEHBIRELELE
IEHR/AF]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMB International
Capital Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (BiRBIEEEAREIE
CRINABRAA]), which was in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (B4R g%
CFINEBRARF]). CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (FRREmIERORI)BRE A A]) was wholly owned by CMB
International Capital Corporation Limited (HBEBEL@ERA
Al), which was held as to 83.20% by CMB International Capital
Holdings Corporation Limited (FRIFEIREBITRER A F]).
CMB International Capital Holdings Corporation Limited (B
R RIEIRHR A7) was wholly owned by China Merchants
Bank Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 03968) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600036).

Therefore, Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern Industry Equity Investment
Fund Phase | (Limited Partnership) (JTZtARIRAE ZMRIER
EES—H(BRAEE) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Zhaoyin Modern; CMB International Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (REBRE & aiEkCRINBRA
A]) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each
of Zhaoyin Modern and Nanjing Zhenyuan; China Merchants
Bank Co., Ltd., CMB International Capital Holdings Corporation
Limited, CMB International Capital Corporation Limited, CMB
Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., CMB International
Capital Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu
Zhaoyin Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd. were deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by each of Zhaoyin Modern,
Nanjing Zhenyuan and Nanjing Zhaoyin Gongying under the
SFO.

The general partner of Hanchen was Antai and was held as to
99.99% by Yuechen. The general partner of Yuechen was Antai
and was held as to 60.60% by Yuchen. The general partner of
Yuchen was Antai. The general partner of Antai was Huanyu.
Huanyu was held as to 70% by ZHOU Kui. Therefore, Yuechen,
Yuchen, Antai, Huanyu and ZHOU Kui were deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Hanchen under the SFO.

11.

FARABEERHIGERELEESCEEERA
Al (BREBFEARERE (RY) BRARNEE
MEAR) BEE  MBREBEEAERE (FY)
BRARABRES/MIER OFY) BRABHZ
BB AR - BRSEIZER OFY) R QB H
BRER S BBRA R (EHBREE SRR
ERARFIFE83.20%) 2 EHE  MBRER
SRIERARARBBERITRMOERAE (—
IR B 2 T LT (BR{p 5% - 03968) &k L/&FE
HFR B Em (BRMHARSE : 600036) AR 2
BWA °

At - RIBEBFRAEG - TEHRARRAE
EREKEES —H(ERER) HE/NAR
RRFAORD T HEAEE  ARERESEIE
B GRIN) BR A BHRE AR BRERRERE
EXBRFENRMOPEGES  BERTRO
BRAR  ARERSHERERAF - AR
HERESrARAR - BREEER ORI AR
AFE - BREBREANERE ORI AR AR XL
HAREXESEEARAARES/NBRR
K ERBEEERARLRSBFAKD
R s o

Hanchen®) & @A % A BAntai i Yuechen
#599.99% ° Yuechen®) & @A ¥ A BAntai
KA Yuchen%E60.60% ° YuchenfEi@E4&
% AN BAntai o Antaif) EiBE % A AHuanyu -
Huanyum EEREH70% - At @ RIFES K
E1&%] - Yuechen » Yuchen * Antai * Huanyu
R EZES B A AR Hanchents B MR F
G o



12. Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., which in turn was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. Thomson
Capital Pte. Ltd. was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tembusu
Capital Pte. Ltd., which in turn was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited. Therefore, each of
Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd.,
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. and Temasek Holdings (Private)
Limited was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, no other
persons, other than the Directors or chief executives of our
Company whose interests are set out in the section headed
“Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of our
Company and any of its Associated Corporations” below, had any
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY AND ANY OF ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of our Company
in any of the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of our
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
our Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:
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12. Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. AAnderson
Investments Pte. Ltd. WE&EWBAF @ i
Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd. &Thomson
Capital Pte. Ltd. B2 ZE A7  Thomson
Capital Pte. Ltd. ATembusu Capital Pte.
Ltd. WEEMEAR - MTembusu Capital
Pte. Ltd. ATemasek Holdings (Private)
Limited ) 2 E B R A o Bk - RIEEF I
E1&% - Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd.
Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. * Tembusu Capital
Pte. Ltd.&Temasek Holdings (Private)
Limited % B #1458 A# Springleaf Investments
Pte. Ltd. 58 BURR (D HE A fE s o

B EXCEREESN - 202412 A31H » BRERE
HENTX[EE EERBRTRAERAARAR
H B A E MR D RABRER D R EEE T #E
MEZEAR ] —HNARBEERRITHRAR
HN o R E M A TR SRR IR B 5 R HAE 1515155 336
1B 17 R IR 3R 4 it AR A9 B 10 S A A AR 10 R B 1T
AR IAR -

EE EERERSTHRAEBRAQRTAREE
ARBEEHN RO RARRG R EEEPE
BENESERAR

MR2024F 128318 * ARRES EER BT
BABRARARREBEEZE (T&RLEFHFIBEK
BIZEXVER) M EMAR D - BRERD REEETEES
BN AR RIRIEEF RS IEFIE 35216 A G
MR RE AP RS KRR - SR BIZEESTAEE
ARITHMEARR B RS RABMT ¢
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Long positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of our
Company

Nature of interest

REDBRDBAABRGFHTFR
Approximate
percentage of
interest in
Approximate the relevant
percentage of class of
Number and interest in Shares of
class of Shares” our Company" our Company®
|

BARE  RRRHRS
ERHOHED REARL

Name #E/ 28 ERkE RGEE RERO AR BARY
Dr. LIU At Beneficial owner 193,943 Domestic Shares 0.05% 0.12%
BB 193 943 M E K
64,647 H Shares 0.02%
64,647 RHAX
Interest in controlled corporations® 72,512,138 Domestic Shares 20.02% 43.47%
RIEEEERY 72,512,138k NE K
24,170,712 H Shares 7.65%
24,170,712/ HA%

Notes: Hiet -

1. As at December 31, 2024, our Company had issued a total 1. M2024F12A31H "R AIEBITKRH
of 482,963,000 Shares, comprising 154,824,311 Domestic R 7482,963,000/% + B15154,824,311
Shares, 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares and 316,138,689 BAER 12,000,000 %K t &R &
H Shares. All interests stated were long positions. For 316,138,689A%HAX - FIZIFTE =G RIFE °
Shareholders of Domestic Shares and Unlisted Foreign Shares, HREBREALETIHINERBRRME - HAAA
the approximate percentage of interest in the relevant class of BB RNDERAOBLA B DL DIREE %17
Shares of our Company was calculated based on the sum of RER IR ETINERBEGTE -
the issued Domestic Shares and Unlisted Foreign Shares.

2. Dr. LIU was the general partner of each of Taizhou Yuangong, 2. BELARMITT FMNEBEDREEEE

Taizhou Baibei Biotechnology Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(FMNEEEMREEREE(ERER)) ("Taizhou Baibei”),
Taizhou Guquan Biotechnology Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (M & REMREEELE(BREE)) (‘“Taizhou
Guquan”) and Ruibaitai, and was interested in an aggregate
of 72,512,138 Domestic Shares and 24,170,712 H Shares held
by these four entities. Therefore, Dr. LIU was deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by each of Taizhou Yuangong,
Taizhou Baibei, Taizhou Guquan and Ruibaitai under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of our Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations (as defined under Part XV of the SFO).

X (BREE) ([EMNERF]) MG REDE
RAELE (BREE) [EMER]) KIEEHR
ZEHNEBREEA  TRZNREEZENA
72,512,138 xRN E MK K 24,170,712 HA%
HHEZ - Bt BREEHFRBRESG - 28
THEANRTFMETT EMNERE - FEMNERE
MARSERFENRDPEERER -

B EXXFRBEESN - 2024512318 » #HER
ARBEE BEEXRSTHRABRARR]SEME
HEERE (E& R ES RBAEEAIEXVED) 9kH
FERAAR 10 Sk BB R B S AR ETE B s ok

Y
KA o



PENSION SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries operating in mainland China are required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. During the Reporting Period, there were
no contributions forfeited under the central pension scheme and
no forfeited contributions were used to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

SHARE SCHEMES
Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme

Our Company adopted certain Pre-IPO share award schemes
for certain personnel in order to recognize and reward the
contribution of certain directors and employees (“granted
employees”) to the growth and development of the Group,
and retain eligible employees for the continuous operation and
development of the Group.

The Group granted equity interests of our Company under the
Schemes through Lianyungang Ruiwenshibole Biotechnology
Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruiwenshibole”), Taizhou Ruibaitai
Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaitai”’) and
Lianyungang Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership
(L.P.) (“Ruibaihe”). All of the Ruiwenshibole, Ruibaitai and
Ruibaihe (“Ownership platforms”) are controlled by the general
partners of the partnerships.

The Company has established an equity incentive management
agency (the “Management Agency”), which is composed of the
Company’'s management personnel and is responsible for the
daily supervision and management of the Pre-IPO Share Award
Scheme, as well as the determination and execution of related
matters such as the grant, lock-up, disposal and withdrawal of
granted employees’ rights and interests.

The Company has not set a maximum granted incentive limit for
each granted employee under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme.
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The granted employees shall subscribe for the amount of
subscription of incentive shares or transfer of property shares
corresponding to the incentive shares in cash or other methods
approved by the Management Agency. The source of its funds
shall be true and legal, and the funds shall be the salaries of
the granted employees, other self-raised or self-owned funds
or other funds approved by the Management Agency. The
Company does not provide loans to granted employees, nor does
it provide guarantees for the financing of granted employees.
The granted employees shall pay the amount of subscription of
incentive shares or transfer of property shares corresponding to
the incentive shares in full and on time in accordance with the
instructions and the partnership agreements without undue delay.

The price of incentives granted to granted employees is
determined by the Management Agency based on factors such as
the Company’s development stage, results of operations, and the
positions and rankings of granted employees.

The administrative measures for the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme
(the “Administrative Measures”) are valid from the date when the
Board resolves to adopt the Administrative Measures to the date
when the granted employees no longer hold any incentive shares.
The Board has the right to resolve to terminate the Administrative
Measures when it believes that the incentive purpose has been
achieved, or to prolong the Administrative Measures when it
believes that the incentive purpose has not been achieved. As the
Ownership platforms are limited liability partnerships under the
laws of the PRC, the remaining term of the Pre-IPO Share Award
Scheme is not applicable.

EREERENRSHRHEMERRBR MR
BRBOREBRNEERAMENEERENR  HE

TRBREERE - A% HESRERERERDN
I HEESXEEESHNEERBR AT EMD
B ARATAEREERHEER  ETRER
BENBERHER EREEERREBETRIIEE
125 5 B 40 TE 1R B T2 RE AN BB 0 BE T B A HH B K
MENBRERER - NMIEHUET -

ERERERABNERAEERBEREQRRR
BB REXE  ERERBUBMAEARERE

BRARBEARG ZENEEIE ([ EEMH
EDHNBRHMRESTSABBBEEMEZAERS
EREETHFAEMABNELR E=SHE
ERRABENERERFEBRILERIE - X
EERR/ABELZEENSEREBIDE - HRF
BFaRPBEZEZRTHNERETAREE  ERA
F3% 5 A AR {0 52 ED AT B Y RIBRF B NE A o



The following table sets out the details of movement of the awards ~ F&REFHJIFHREHAREE XA

granted under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme during the IR EERN BT -
Reporting Period:
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F 3% & B A0 2R T

Not yet Closing price Canceled/lapsed
Granted during vested as  Vested during Not yet vestedas  immediately during
the Reporting  at January 1,  the Reporting at December 31, before  Fairvalueat the Reporting
Class Grant date Purchase price Period 2024 Period? 2024 the grant date the grant date* Period
20245 R20245
1318 NEEER 128318 BERHEH  RRHAAW REEHR
L REAH HEE  HEBARE HAGR 5E HAGE  ZANKTE AFRE i/ 5
(RMB/Shars) (HKS) (RUB)
&/ K) (1) (ARE)
Directors
£
Dr. LIU Yong March 25, 2021' 12 - 7,779,761 3,111,904 4,667,857 - - -
CEc 02153A2R"
May 24, 20211 12 - 501,480 200592 300,888 - - -
0215824 A"
July 31, 20211 12 - 13,909 5,564 8,345 - - -
N21E7 31"
September 8, 2021 12 - 25,500 10,200 15,300 - - -
2021459A8R"
November 18, 2021° 12 - 19,705 7,882 11,823 - - -
2021511 718A"
May 18, 2022 18 - 175,481 35,096 140,385 6.2 3,700,202 -
N22E5A18R?
September 20, 20222 18 - 175,481 35,09 140,385 21.55 3,470,020 -
022F9A20R?
March 16, 2023 18 - 175,481 35,09 14,385 250 3,486,608 -
20235371677
April 7, 2023 18 - 219,738 43,948 175,790 16.66 3,210,184 -
23F4A7R?
April 20, 2028 18 - 62,782 12,556 50,226 1488 807,917 -
202354A20R?
April 21, 2023 18 - 62,782 12556 50,226 14.64 789,851 -
N23F4ANR?
April 21, 2023 18 - 175,481 35,096 140,385 14.64 2,207,697 -
N23E4ANR?
April 26, 2023' 12 - 39,846 7,969 31,877 13.56 463,957 -

0234 A268!

93



94 Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Lid.
SR RIRB AR A E

Directors’ Report

EEEWRE

™
Not yet Closing price Canceled/lapsed
Granted during vestedas  Vested during Not yet vestedas  immediately during
the Reporting  at January 1,  the Reporting at December 31, before  Fairvalueat  the Reporting
Class Grant date Purchase price Period 2024 Period® 2024 the grant date  the grant date* Period
o0 o024
1318 REESR 128318 BERUAE  HRHASW MEEAR
£l RERS BEE  #EEARH HAGR BR HAGR  ZAHUE ATEE i/ 54
(RMB/Share) (HKS) (RB)
(\Ekr/ B) (#1) (AF#)
October 25, 2023 18 - 189,011 37,814 161,257 11.20 1,943,105 -
203E10R 2582
January 24, 2024' 1.2 36,615 36,615 7,323 29,292 8.8 292,694 -
20041 B4R
Dr. CHEN Jianping March 25, 2021" 12 - 724,831 289,932 434,899 - - -
(ceased to serve as 021%3A25A"
an executive Director from November 18, 2021 12 - 25,500 10,200 15,300 - - -
May 8, 2024) 0215118188
RETEL
(o024 £5 8RR
TEEFSTESRE)
Mr. LI Bu March 25, 2021' 1.2 - 772,161 308,864 463,297 - - -
Ehkk 021%3A 28
Ms. CHEN Qingging September 27, 20212 18 - 2,113,048 845,219 1,267,829 = = =
REELL 20215982772
Dr. HONG Kunxue March 25, 2021' 1.2 - 238,004 95,202 142,802 - - -
okt un 0215328
Five highest paid
individuals
L#EEHMAL
Five highest paid individuals March 25, 2021' 12 - 772,161 308,864 463,297 - - -
during the Reporting Period 20213 325R"
(excluding Directors)
REBRLLERHAAL

(FaiEEs)
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Not yet Closing price Canceled/lapsed
Granted during vestedas  Vested during Not yet vestedas  immediately during
the Reporting  at January 1,  the Reporting at December 31, before  Fairvalueat the Reporting
Class Grant date Purchase price Period 2024 Period® 2024 the grant date the grant date* Period
o0 o024
1318 REESR 12A318  BEEHEE  RRLBEN ke
R RHas BEE  #EEARH HAGR BR HAGR  ZAHUE ATEE i/ 54
(RMB/Share) (HKS) (RB)
(\&kr/ B) (#1) (AF#)
Other employees
0]
Other employees (total) March 25, 2021" 12 - 2,519,328 1,007,731 151,597 - - 36,615°
EfbER (83) 2021E3R25R
September 27, 20212 18 - 1876,848 7,500,739 1,126,109 - - -
N2159A27R?
Notes: 2
1. Such shares are granted through Ruibaitai. 1. ZERMBBEARZE -
2. Such shares are granted through Ruibaihe. 2. ZER M BB A MXE
8. As the vested shares during the Reporting Period were not 3. A ARREHANEBRMDIIE ETRG - HE
listed shares, the weighted average closing price immediately EEEBER HZﬁ|JE’]j]D$§$i’]HSZﬁﬂEITm}EH °
before the dates on which the awards were vested is not
applicable.
4. For accounting standards and policies adopted regarding 4. BEAEEBHEAEMNN ST ENEBEZLA
fair value, please refer to notes 2.4, 29 and 34 to the financial B &SR FMI3E2.4 - 29 K% 34 ©
statements.
5. The lock-up period of the above shares is three years from 5, it T AER THESE - T HR

the grant date. During the lock-up period, the grantee can put
forward the intention to dispose of incentive shares for vesting
according to the provisions of the Administrative Measures on
Share Incentives, while the specific implementation of the act
of disposition is required to wait until the expiry of the lock-up
period. If the grantee quits the Company, the transfer/return
ratio will be calculated according to the ownership duration.
The exercise period of the above shares is from the vesting
date until the date on which the granted employees cease to
hold any incentive shares.

ERH R A AR IR CBRAE B B IR IR ) MR E
REERD B NENBRMETRE  BED

TRH R8T ﬁﬁ%%”ﬁlJfﬁi,ﬁH@iﬁﬁZH =)
ERHRERNART - AEREFBEFRF;E

HEERBILE . J:%Lﬁ%fﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁgﬁﬁ
JBRREERER T BRE ESENEZA -
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6. 36,615 awarded shares were lapsed during the Reporting
Period.
7. There is no performance target set for the Pre-IPO Share

Award Scheme and for the vesting period of the Pre-IPO Share
Award Scheme, please refer to the note 29 to the financial
statements.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Ownership platforms held
an aggregate of 96,682,850 Shares, representing approximately
20.02% of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of our
Company. Please refer to note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report for details of the Pre-IPO Share
Award Scheme.

2022 H Share Incentive Scheme

On September 16, 2022, the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme
(the “2022 H Share Incentive Scheme”) was considered and
approved at the second extraordinary general meeting of the
Company in 2022. On August 25, 2023, to further implement
the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme and achieve its incentive
purpose, without prejudice to the interests of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole, the Board, having taken into account
the actual circumstances and market practice, considered and
approved the amendments to certain rules and provisions of the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme.

As authorized by the second extraordinary general meeting
held on September 16, 2022, the Delegates have established
a management committee (the “Management Committee”) in
respect of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, comprising Dr.
LIU Yong, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board and
the general manager of the Company, Mr. LI Bu, an executive
Director and the vice general manager of the Company and Ms.
CHEN Qingging, the executive Director, the chief financial officer,
the vice general manager and Board secretary of the Company.
The Management Committee shall exercise full power to deal
with related matters within the validity period of the 2022 H Share
Incentive Scheme, including but not limited to: managing the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme; determining and/or adjusting
grant conditions, grant dates, and vesting conditions; evaluating
and managing performance indicators; signing, executing and
terminating all relevant agreements and other relevant documents
in relation to the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme; and exercising
any other powers granted by the general meeting of the Company
from time to time in connection with matters necessary for the
implementation of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, etc.
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Details of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme are as follows:

Purposes

The 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme aims to:

(a) attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group by providing them with the
opportunity to own equity interests in the Company;

(b) further reform the Company’s remuneration
system, and develop and continuously improve
the mechanism to balance the interests
among Shareholders, operation and executive
management; and

(c) (i) recognize the contributions by the leadership of
the Company, including the Directors and senior
management; (ii) encourage, motivate and retain the
leadership of the Company whose contributions are
beneficial to the continual operation, development
and long-term growth of the Group; and (iii) provide
additional incentives for the leadership of the
Company to align their interests with those of the
Shareholders and the Group as a whole.

Term

The 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date
on which the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme is approved
at the 2022 general meeting of the Shareholders (unless
it is terminated earlier in accordance with the scheme),
after which period no incentives will be granted under the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme. If there are any unvested
Restricted Share Incentives granted under the 2022 H
Share Incentive Scheme prior to the expiry of the ten-year
period, the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme shall remain in
force to give effect to the vesting of such Restricted Share
Incentives. Accordingly, the remaining term of the 2022 H
Share Incentive Scheme is approximately seven years and
eight months as of December 31, 2024.
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Limit

The limit of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme shall be
the maximum number or amount of H Shares approved
by Shareholders, that is, the maximum number of H
Shares that may be purchased by the entrusted institution
from time to time through on-market transactions at the
prevailing market price with funds in the amount of not
more than RMB100,000,000. Based on the average closing
price for the five business days prior to December 31,
2024, the maximum number of 12,378,117 H Shares can
be purchased, representing approximately 2.56% of the
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company.

The Company has not set any limit on the number of
incentives that may be granted for each participant for the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme.

Scope of Incentive

Selected Participants of the 2022 H Share Incentive
Scheme refer to the full-time employees of the Group who
meet the principles for determining the eligible participants
under the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, including
Directors, senior management, key operating teams and
other employees of the Company.

Grant of Incentives

The Company will grant Restricted Share Incentives to
Selected Participant from time to time during the term of
the Restricted Share Incentives in the form of a grant letter
as determined by the Board or its Delegates, specifying
the grant date, the manner of acceptance, the value of the
Restricted Share Incentives granted and/or the number of
Incentive Shares underlying the Incentives (with the basis
on which the number of the Restricted Share Incentives
is determined), the grant price and payment method (if
applicable), the vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting
date and such other details, terms and conditions as
they may consider necessary and in compliance with the
scheme.

Any grant of Restricted Share Incentives to any connected
person of the Company shall be in compliance with the
Listing Rules and any applicable laws and regulations.
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Vesting of Incentives

Subject to compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, the Board or its Delegates may determine the
vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Restricted
Share Incentives to be vested.

The conditions of the vesting of Restricted Share Incentives
of the Group shall be a combination of the followings:
(1) the achievement of the Group’'s business milestones,
including but not limited to the achievement of business
milestones regarding the clinical development status of
the Group’'s candidate vaccine, the marketing status, the
commercial development and cooperation status and/or
the production and construction status, and (2) the market
value of the Group. The above conditions are set out in
the Grant Letter entered into between the Group and the
Selected Participants.

Fund and Source of Shares

The 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme will be funded by
the Company’'s own funds. The source of Shares under
the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme shall be H Shares
purchased by the entrusted institution entrusted by the
Company through the secondary market at the prevailing
market price in accordance with the Company’s written
instructions, including but not limited to the designated
price or price range for purchase, the maximum amount of
funds available for purchase and/or the maximum number
of H Shares to be purchased.

Grant Price

Selected Participants of the 2022 H Share Incentive
Scheme are not required to make cash payments for the
Incentives granted. The number of H Shares to be granted
to each of the Selected Participants will be determined by
the Management Committee according to their positions
and rankings.
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9. Grant 9. KT
The following table sets out the details of the changes TREIIREBNIRIE 2022 F HAR A B &+ &
in the awards granted under the 2022 H Share Incentive PR 2R B 715

Scheme during the Reporting Period:

Not yet Notyet  Closing price
Granted during ~ vestedas  Vested during  vestedasat  immediately Canceled/lapsed
Purchase the Reporting  at January 1,  the Reporting  December 31, before  Fair value at during the
Class Grant date Price Period 2024 Period 2024 the grantdate  the grant date Reporting Period
o0 o024
1318 REESR 12A318  BEEHEE  RRABEN ik
R BHas BEE  HEHARN HAGR ol | HAGR  ZAHUE AVEE i/ 54
HKS/share (HKS) (RUB)
(E1,/ %) (1) (AFR)
Five highest paid
individuals
BEERHMAL
Five highest paid individuals April 18, 2024 344 2,479,839 - 368,952 2,110,887 9.07 20,402,620 -
during the Reporting Period 224547188
(excluding Directors)
REBRRLEREMAL
(FafEEE)
Other employees
0]
Other employees (total) April 18, 2024 344 1,612,903 - 350,806 1,262,097 9.07 13,269,993 -
EbfER (Ai) 2024E4R 188
Notes: it
1. As of December 31, 2024, no awards were granted 1. H%E2024F 128310 * WHKIREK2022
to the Directors under the 2022 H Share Incentive FHRR ARt 85 T S 22 -
Scheme.
2. The weighted average closing price immediately before 2. EEEEBH A MEFSRmES
the vesting date was HK$8.23 per share. 8.237T /i
3. The first grant of the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme 3. 2022 F HAR A B =t 81702024 F4 518
was made on April 18, 2024, so there were no shares REFTEIRIR L - AL 2022 4 HAX A E
under the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme that have FHEIE T IR 2024 51 A1 B M KR

not yet vested on January 1, 2024, B



4. For accounting standards and policies adopted
regarding fair value, please refer to notes 2.4, 29 and
34 to the financial statements.

5. For the vesting period and performance targets of the
2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, please refer to the
note 29 to the financial statements.

6. There was no cancellation/invalidation during the
Reporting Period.

7. The exercise period of the above-mentioned shares is
from the vesting date to the date when the participant
no longer hold any incentive shares.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated August
25, 2022, September 16, 2022 and August 25, 2023 and the
circular dated September 1, 2022 for details.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time for the year ended
December 31, 2024 was our Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, our Company or any other body corporate; and none of the
Directors, or any of their spouses or children under the age of
18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of our
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company’s Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
formulates remuneration policies. Directors, Supervisors and
senior management members who receive remuneration from our
Company are paid in forms of salaries, allowances, discretionary
bonuses and other benefits in kind. The remuneration of our
Directors, Supervisors and senior management members is
determined with reference to their experience, duties and
performance and the salaries of comparable companies.

Our Company also has adopted the share incentive schemes
to provide incentives for certain employees. Please refer to the
section headed “Share Schemes” above for details.
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management
and the five highest paid individuals are set out in note 8 and
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this report,
respectively.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, we have not entered into any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the related party
transactions disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements
constitute any non-exempt connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which should be disclosed pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

USE OF PREVIOUS PROCEEDS

Our Company's H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
March 31, 2022. After exercise of over-allotment option on April
23, 2022, the net proceeds from the Global Offering amounted
to approximately RMB669,714 thousand. Reference is made
to the announcement of the Company dated March 20, 2023
(the “Announcement”).
the use of proceeds, reduce finance costs and align with the
Company’s strategic objectives, the Board considered and
approved the changes in the use of proceeds on March 20, 2023.
As of December 31, 2024, the Company had utilized proceeds
amounted to approximately RMB662,595 thousand and unutilized
proceeds amounted to approximately RMB7,119 thousand.

In order to improve the efficiency of

The above proceeds have been and will be used in accordance
with the purposes set out in the Prospectus and disclosed in the
Announcement. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had
used the net proceeds from the Global Offering for the following
purposes:
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Actual
utilised
Unutilised Actual amount of Unutilised
Net proceeds amount of utilised proceeds amount of
used for  Percentage proceedsasof  amount of as of proceeds as of
related of total net December 31, proceeds December 31, December 31,
purposes proceeds 2023 during 2024 2024 2024
HEANF HZ202F
RWEE  H&FESR 12A318  R20U5E 128318 BZaNUF
RiEkEE  EEREN AR EBEER  EMERR  12AMAX
B0RE BAl BRRS BRRe RS [RERES
(RMB’000) (%)  (RMB’000)  (RMB’000) (RMB’000)  (RMB 000)
(AREF7) (%) (AREFz) (AREFRL) (ARETT) (AREF7)
Continuous optimization, development 1. BERL REREXZHPVEEE 316,633 47 142,318 135,199 309,514 7,119
and commercialization of our HPV vaccine ® BERMOROER (ZANE
pipeline, including our Core Product, the HPVZEREC603) * 17 :
recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine REC603,
as follows:
(i) The ongoing phase Ill clinical trial, () #LERRECE03)EFEETH 302,393 45 141,520 134,401 295,274 7,119
registration, manufacturing and ISR SR 2 - £ER
commercialization of our Core Product, 34
REC603
(i) Preclinical and clinical studies for other (i) EHHPVREREMERAR 14,240 2 798 798 14,240 -
HPV vaccine candidates, namely our BRHR - A —EHPVER
recombinant HPV bivalent vaccine EZEREC601 RREC602
candidates REC601 and REC602 and AREHERI - RHPVIRER A
adjuvanted second-generation HPV REC604a R RECE04b
vaccine candidates REC604a and
REC604b
Preclinical and clinical studies, registration 2. EENTRERE (ERHTRE 153454 23 - - 153 454 -
of recombinant COVID-19 vaccines, namely REC611 -~ FIEmRANAR MREC618)
recombinant COVID-19 vaccing, REC611, RO IRAI REGIRHR -
mRNA COVID-19 vaccine, REC618
Preclinical and clinical studies, registration of 3. E&HEZRERECO10BR AT 80,464 12 20,941 20,941 80,464 -
recombinant shingles vaccine, REC610 RERHE -
Preclinical and clinical stuies, registration of 4. R ABHZERENRRARERH 213 - - - 213 -
adult TB vaccine 7 i
Preclinical and clinical studies, registration 5. EAFZORZHRECE05  BAN 3,630 1 - - 3,630 -
of recombinant HFMD vaccine, REC605; ERRRARECO 1T R EE
recombinant influenza quadrivalent vaccine, RARERHE -
REC617 and other vaccines
() Recombinant HFMD vaccine, REC605 () EAFEORFRERECE05 9 - - - 91 -
(i) Recombinant influenza quadrivalent, (i) EABERFZEREC6T 6 - - - 6 =
REC617
(i) Other vaccings (i) Etoe 3,533 1 - - 3533 -
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Actual
utilised
Unutilised Actual amount of Unutilised
Net proceeds amount of utilised proceeds amount of
used for ~ Percentage proceedsasof  amount of as of proceeds as of
related of total net December 31, proceeds December 31, December 31,
purposes proceeds 2023 during 2024 2024 2024
HEANF HZ202F
RWEE  H&FESR 12A318  R20U5E 128318 BZaNUF
RENES  HEREN ARE  ERERR  ERERR  128%BX
B0RE BAl BRES BRES RS [RERES
(RMB 000) (%)  (RMB'000)  (RMB’000) (RMB’000)  (RMB’000)
(AR#TT) (%) (AEEFR) (ARETR) (AERFT) (AREF7)
6. Further enhancement of R&D capabilifies 6. E-SNEREEIREREER 44513 7 2,230 2,230 44513 -
and improvement of operating efficiencies, @
including:
(i) Enhancement of technology platforms to () BEEEFAUTREERL 18,010 3 1715 1715 18,010 =
support continuous demands
(i) Establishment of manufacturing and (i) BEEERESHHZERT 26,503 4 515 515 26,503 -
quality control system and upgrade of BEERITERRE
information technology infrastructure
7. Working capital and general corporate 1. BEASRHEXAS 70,747 11 9 9 70,747 -
purposes
Total ait 669,714 100 165,498 158,379 662,595 7,119

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated March
20, 2024, the expected timetable for certain uses of the above-
mentioned proceeds is delayed compared with that disclosed
in the Prospectus, primarily due to (i) the advancement and
construction of some intended uses has been delayed resulting
from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the market
environment; and (ii) the use of some proceeds has been delayed
because of the impact of the payment cycle. It is expected that
the unused proceeds will be fully utilized by the end of 2025.

The Company will continuously review the plan of the use of
the unutilized net proceeds and may amend such plan where
necessary so as to cope with the changing market conditions and
strive for better business performance of the Company.

Where the net proceeds are not immediately applied to the above
purposes and to the extent permitted by the relevant law and
regulations, so long as they are deemed to be in the best interests
of our Company, we may hold such funds in short-term deposits
with licensed banks or authorized financial institutions in Hong
Kong.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to our Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the Latest
Practicable Date, our Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
audited by Ernst & Young. The Company engaged Ernst & Young
in March 2021 and did not engage any other auditors before.
On June 17, 2022, May 11, 2023 and May 8, 2024, at the annual
general meetings of the Company in 2021, 2022 and 2023, Ernst
& Young was re-appointed as the Company’s 2022, 2023 and
2024 International Auditors and Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP
was appointed as the Company’s 2022, 2023 and 2024 Domestic
Auditors.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Financial Review — Events after the Reporting
Period”, no important events affecting our Company occurred
since the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
RECORD DATE

The register of members of H Shares of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, June 17, 2025 to Friday, June 20, 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of H Shares
will be registered, in order to determine the holders of H Shares
of the Company who are entitled to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM to be held on Friday, June 20, 2025. To be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all properly completed
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s H Share Registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, June 16,
2025 for registration.

By order of the Board

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman

Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
March 28, 2025
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
in our Company’s annual report for the year ended December 31,
2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

While staying true to its original inspiration of “developing the
first-class vaccines to protect human health”, the Company
adhered to the corporate values of value creation, working
hard collectively, dedication and professionalism as well as
inclusiveness and progress, and is committed to building a
positive and progressive culture in terms of our vision, mission
and values.

The Board firmly believes that corporate culture provides an
important support for the Group’s long-term development and
good corporate governance. The Company strictly complies
with national laws and regulations, continuously improves the
corporate governance structure, and makes efforts to enhance the
level of corporate governance. We will continue to carry forward
the corporate culture of integrity, take a high standard of business
ethics as a criterion to follow for business development and
actively shoulder and fulfill our responsibilities in environmental
protection, striving to lay a good foundation for high-quality and
sustainable development of our Company and continuously create
value for shareholders, customers, employees and society.

We endeavor to promote the harmony and synchronization
between the development of the Company and the growth of
employees. A wide range of training and activities are offered
for our employees. Also, we emphasize communication with our
employees and stakeholders, and spread our corporate culture
through communication.

The Board will review on a yearly basis the business model,
strategies and objectives of the Company and evaluate relevant
performance to ensure that the Company realizes long-term
sustainable growth. The Board considers that the corporate culture
is consistent with the Group’s mission, values and strategies. The
Company will monitor the implementation of the corporate culture
on a continuous basis.

For details on the Company’s corporate culture, values and
strategies, please refer to the Company’s 2024 Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be disclosed on the same day.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

We strive to maintain high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. Our Company has adopted the
Code Provisions of the CG Code as the basis of our Company’s
corporate governance practices since the Listing Date. Except as
disclosed in this corporate governance report, our Company has
complied with all applicable Code Provisions as set out in the CG
Code during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable
Date.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board structure is governed by the Articles of Association.
The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of our Group.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Board comprised twelve
members, including four executive Directors, four non-executive
Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the composition of the Board
was as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Mr. LI Bu

Ms. CHEN Qingging

Dr. HONG Kunxue

Non-executive Directors

Dr. WANG Ruwei
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin
Mr. HU Houwei
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. XIA Lijun

Mr. LIANG Guodong
Professor GAO Feng
Professor YUEN Ming Fai

Note: Dr. LIU Yong, Mr. LI Bu, Ms. CHEN Qingging and Dr. HONG
Kunxue were appointed as the executive Directors of the
second session of the Board on May 8, 2024; Dr. WANG Ruwei,
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin, Dr. ZHOU Hongbin and Mr. HU Houwei
were appointed as the non-executive Directors of the second
session of the Board on May 8, 2024; Dr. XIA Lijun, Mr. LIANG
Guodong, Professor GAO Feng and Professor YUEN Ming Fai
were appointed as the independent non-executive Directors of
the second session of the Board on May 8, 2024. Dr. LIU Yong
was elected as the chairman of the second session of the
Board on May 8, 2024. Dr. CHEN Jianping ceased to serve as

an executive Director on May 8, 2024.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” on pages 40 to 60 of this report.

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships) among the Board, Supervisors and senior
management members.

Pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Dr. WANG Ruwei
obtained legal advice on April 22, 2024, and confirmed that he
understood his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

Board Meetings

The Board requires the Directors to devote sufficient time and
attention to their duties and responsibilities. Regular Board
meetings shall be convened at least four times each year. The
Board normally will schedule meetings regularly and will meet as
and when required to discuss the matters concerning our Group
including its overall business, development strategy, operations
and financial reporting. Notice of the regular Board meeting shall
be given to all Directors at least 14 days before the meeting.
Notice of the extraordinary Board meeting shall be given to all
Directors and Supervisors at least 5 days before the meeting.
In addition to the regular meetings, the Chairman also held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors in the absence
of other Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board held a total of 7 meetings, REHAN  EEe KBTS SEFHFES
and the attendance of each Director at the Board meeting is as @ &:ZMIBERAT :
follows:
Attendance
Attendance in by way of
person/number proxy/number
of meetings of meetings
during tenure during tenure  Attendance Rate
BEHERH EEHERE
Member of the Board EEGRE ERAEEIRAH FEHRIAESEREY HE =R
Dr. LIU Yong BB 7/7 0/0 100%
Mr. LI Bu =il 7/7 0/0 100%
Ms. CHEN Qingaing RESRL 7/7 0/0 100%
Dr. HONG Kunxue AR EE 4 7/7 0/0 100%
Dr. CHEN Jianping PR TFiE L 2/2 0/0 100%
Dr. WANG Ruwei TaEEL 5/5 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin RESELT 77 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin IEpyns 7/7 0/0 100%
Mr. HU Houwei RS E 7/7 0/0 100%
Dr. XIA Lijun FERVACR 7/7 0/0 100%
Mr. LIANG Guodong REIRRSE & 77 0/0 100%
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng##% 77 0/0 100%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai = $41B#I% 7/7 0/0 100%
Notes: Hat -
1 Dr. CHEN Jianping ceased to be an executive Director with 1 FREFIE LT H2024F5 A8 BB T BEAHITE

effect from May 8, 2024; and

2 Dr. WANG Ruwei was appointed as a non-executive Director 2

on May 8, 2024.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors of our Company has entered
into a service contract with our Company for a term of three
years following his/her respective appointment date unless it is
terminated in accordance with their respective terms. The term of
appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association and the Listing Rules.

Our Company may, in accordance with the Articles of Association,
by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiration of
his/her term of office.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
evaluates skills, knowledge and experience required by the
Board, and identifies if there are any special requirements for
the vacancy. The Nomination Committee identifies appropriate
candidates and convenes Nomination Committee meeting
to discuss and vote in respect of the nominated Directors
and recommends candidates for Directors to the Board. The
Nomination Committee considers candidates with individual skills,
experience and professional knowledge that can best assist
and facilitate the effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination
Committee also takes our Company’s board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) into consideration when it considers the
balance of composition of the Board as a whole.
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Duties of the Board of Directors and the Management

In accordance with the rights and duties stipulated in the Articles
of Association, the Board reports to the general meeting and is
responsible for implementing resolutions of the general meeting,
safeguarding interests of the Company and all Shareholders, and
making decisions on the Company’s development goals and major
business activities. The rights of the Board include, but not limited
to, laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
directly and indirectly through its committees leading and
providing direction to the management, monitoring the Group’s
operation and financial performance, ensuring that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place, and other
rights conferred by the Articles of Association.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. All Directors
have full and timely access to all the data of the Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances for discharging their duties to
the Company. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for earnestly reviewing significant matters to be
resolved by the Board and exercising their voting rights on an
independent, prudent and objective basis, to effectively safeguard
legitimate rights and interests of the Company and its public
Shareholders.

Daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the management, which is responsible for overseeing
the Company’s production, operation and management,
organising and implementing the resolutions of the Board
and other duties stipulated in the Articles of Association. The
delegated functions and duties should be periodically reviewed by
the Board. Approval shall be obtained from the Board prior to any
major transaction that can be entered into by the management
that exceeds the approved annual budget.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. In view of Dr. Liu’s experience,
personal profile and his roles in our Company and that Dr. Liu has
assumed the role of general manager of our Company since our
commencement of business, the Board considers it beneficial to
the business prospect and operational efficiency of our Company
that Dr. Liu acts as the chairman of the Board and continues to
act as the general manager of our Company.

While this will constitute a deviation from the code provision, the
Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of
our Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by our Board
requires approval by at least a majority of our Directors; (ii) Dr.
Liu and the other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil
their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other
things, that he acts for the benefit and in the best interests of our
Company and will make decisions for our Company accordingly;
and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by the
operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting
the operations of our Company. Moreover, the overall strategic
and other key business, financial, and operational policies of our
Company are made collectively after thorough discussion at both
Board and senior management levels. The Board will continue to
review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of
our Company in order to assess whether separation of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer is necessary.
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Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
our Company has four independent non-executive Directors, who
at all times meet the requirements of the Listing Rules that the
number of independent non-executive Directors must represent
at least one-third of the Board and should not be less than three,
and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Board has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Our Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
service agreement with our Company for a term of three years
following his respective appointment date and will terminate
in accordance with the terms and conditions stated in the
agreement. Independent non-executive Directors are required to
inform our Company if there is any change that may affect their
independence.

Induction and Continuing Development of Directors

All Directors will comply with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code that all Directors participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors will be provided with amendments to or updates on
the relevant laws, rules and regulations and the Listing Rules to
keep them abreast of the latest development.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuing professional
development to develop and update their knowledge and skills.
The Company will arrange internal lectures/seminars for Directors,
and provide reading materials on relevant topics. The Company
encourages all Directors to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expense.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment to ensure an appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of our Company and full awareness of
the Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
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During the Reporting Period, our Company arranged, and all $R&EHA  ARRELHAMEEEHEHERAR

Directors attended, the seminar training on the Listing Rules and ARAEEZEMHARENEB EHREINEBBHED

other aspects of Hong Kong securities laws conducted by the HttZEMOMIE @ BRBEIMEEIRETFHE
Bl £

legal advisor of our Company and relevant training materials were £ o Eg8{ERAT ¢
distributed to all the Directors. Details are as follows:

Training content
EIRE

Expansion of
paperless listing

regime for Hong Kong- Hong Kong
listed companies and Stock Exchange
recent regulatory cases regulatory update
BB LT ARBEAERL BB

Name BEERE Em B HE R EEE =B EEEEEH

Executive Directors BITES

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the ~BIBi8+ (EES = /EHEIE) v 4

Board and General Manager)

Dr. CHEN Jianping BRI TS+ v -

Mr. LI Bu &b v 4

Ms. CHEN Qingging BRES T v 4

Dr. HONG Kunxue LIRSS v v

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Dr. WANG Ruwei ER Ul - 4

Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin RESEL 4 4

Dr. ZHOU Hongbin Az E L v v

Mr. HU Houwei tHEEEE v v

Independent Non-executive BYFHITES

Directors

Dr. XIA Lijun EvERt v v

Mr. LIANG Guodong REREE v v

Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng#i#% v v

Professor YUEN Ming Fai REGEHI v v

Note: Dr. CHEN Jianping ceased to be an executive Director with 37 :  [Ei@FiH+H202445 A8 AT HIEEHITE
effect from May 8, 2024. Dr. WANG Ruwei was appointed as a ERE o TEBLTN2024F5 ASHEZITA
non-executive Director on May 8, 2024. FEHITES -
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Our Company has adopted the Model Code since the Listing
Date.

We have made specific inquiries to all Directors and Supervisors,
and all Directors and Supervisors have confirmed that they
have complied with the Model Code in conducting securities
transactions of the Company during the Reporting Period.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of our
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of our Company are
established with defined written terms of reference which are
available for Shareholders’ viewing on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. XIA Lijun
and Professor YUEN Ming Fai and one non-executive Director,
namely Dr. ZHOU Hongbin. Dr. XIA Lijun has been appointed
as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and is our independent
non-executive Director holding the appropriate professional
qualifications.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
system of our Company, oversee the audit process, review and
oversee the existing and potential risks of our Company and
perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by our
Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the
Group’s annual results and annual report for the year ended
December 31, 2023, the interim results and interim report for the
first half of 2024, financial reports and compliance procedures,
and the Company’s internal control and risk management systems
and processes. The Audit Committee held 2 meetings in total, and
the attendance of each member of the Audit Committee meeting
is as follows:
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WEHK - B2 B2 BMAKEH E2023F12
AS1ALEFEMNFEEERFERE  2024F ¥
FHRAEBERTHRS  UBERERERER -
RABR ARG RREABRERERFMRIRER - Bt &
BeHER2REE  SHELRBEITZESEEA
BRAET

Attendance in Attendance by

person/number way of proxy/number

of meetings of meetings

during tenure during tenure

HEHERE EEHERE

Member of Audit Committee B EEBHE EREEIRE ERHEERRE

Dr. XIA Lijun (Chairman) BEVEEL (FE) 2/2 0/0

Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BRI 2/2 0/0

Professor YUEN Ming Fai RERIBHUE 2/2 0/0
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee FHEEZZEES

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee consists of five
members, including four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. XIA Lijun, Mr. LIANG Guodong, Professor GAO Feng
and Professor YUEN Ming Fai, and one executive Director,
namely Mr. LI Bu. Professor YUEN Ming Fai is the chairman of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
are to establish and review the remuneration policy and
structure for the Directors and senior management and make
recommendations on employee benefit arrangement; taking into
account their qualification, position and seniority, the Directors’
remunerations are determined by our Board based on the
recommendation of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee;
and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee also reviews
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal $R&EHR @ FEESZE 8 @2 EH2023F A A%,
Committee reviewed the performance of the Company’s executive {TEENMEAEREEBNERISN @ BE2024FFHA
Directors and senior management in 2023, and determined the ZE= EERSRETEEMARBTHNES - REH
specific remuneration packages of all Directors, Supervisors A - HHEERNE (EER LHHRIEI17E) BH
and senior management in 2024. During the Reporting Period, HEASHEZFMEEZZE =L - FEERZ
no material matters relating to share schemes (as defined under ZESXABMIAEH  SHREHEFHEEZZES
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) required the Remuneration and @ &=ABERMT :

Appraisal Committee to review or approve. The Remuneration and

Appraisal Committee held a total of 1 meeting, and the attendance

of each member at the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

meeting is as follows:

Attendance in Attendance by

person/number  way of proxy/number

of meetings of meetings

during tenure during tenure

Member of Remuneration and BEHERE ErEHERE
Appraisal Committee FEERZEESERE R EERRE R EERRE
Professor YUEN Ming Fai (Chairman) =B HI% (/%) 1/1 0/0
Dr. XIA Lijun EVEEL 1/1 0/0
Mr. LIANG Guodong RBRR S & 1/1 0/0
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng##% 1/1 0/0
Mr. LI Bu FELE 1/1 0/0

The remuneration of the members of senior management by band & ZE2024¥ 1231 B ILFE - SREHE A BB

for the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out below: FEFHIIOT -
Number of
senior management
Remuneration to the senior management SREBASHTMEE (ARYE) SREERE A
by bands (RMB)
1,000,000-2,000,000 1,000,000-2,000,000 1
2,000,001-3,000,000 2,000,001-3,000,000 1
3,000,001-4,000,000 3,000,001-4,000,000 2
12,000,000-13,000,000 12,000,000-13,000,000 0
18,000,000-19,000,000 18,000,000-19,000,000 0
Total 1 4

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and #ZE2024512A31HBILFENESE EERaR
senior management for the year ended December 31, 2024 are BEEHMFBEHNARELE M BEREMEES
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in this

report.



Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, including
one executive Director, namely Dr. LIU Yong, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Professor GAO
Feng, Mr. LIANG Guodong and Dr. XIA Lijun. Dr. LIU Yong,
the Chairman of the Board, is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
to make recommendations to our Board on the appointment and
removal of Directors of our Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee evaluated
the structure, composition and number of the first session of the
Board of the Company, and nominated candidates for the second
session of the Board and senior management. The Nomination
Committee held a total of 3 meetings, and the attendance of each
member at the Nomination Committee meetings is as follows:
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REZEE

REZEeHENEXREAK  BE—2RNTEEE
BELR=RBIIFRTEEGAO Feng#ix - R
HREEREVEREL EFESIFIBEFLRIR
HREELIF - REZBEZIEREARARA
EENRERBREAEESELER

BERR  BREZESGCHAEARAEBEETSR
B EARTABBR REF_EEFSRERE
BEREA - RBZBeHAARMIRER - EKEBH
FREAZEEEHNERMOT

Attendance in person/
number of meetings
during tenure

Attendance by way
of proxy/number of
meetings during tenure

FEHEERE ZEHERE
Member of Nomination Committee 2 ZZEERKE BB BB
Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman) BB (£/E) 3/3 0/0
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng#i 3/3 0/0
Mr. LIANG Guodong REIERICAE 3/3 0/0
Dr. XIA Lijun EVEREL 3/3 0/0
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY EESZNER

In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain
the high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the
Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective and approach to
achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to our Board
Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve the diversity of our Board
through the consideration of a number of factors when selecting
the candidates for our Board, including but not limited to gender,
skills, age, professional experience, knowledge, cultural, education
background, ethnicity and length of service. The ultimate decision
of the appointment will be based on merit and the contribution
which the selected candidates will bring to our Board.

REREFEUERERRRENDEEES - &M
ERREFTESTBER BRI ERRER
EEELUEMBRETE - REEFEZ TR
R ARAEREEESHREAR  BEZEESRA
AENKEREFEZ L BEETRRER
mEE - Fik - EELR AF X -HEER
BiEMREFER - REREEREHERPTEEEA
AHREFETRNEERER
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We have taken, and will continue to take, steps to promote gender
diversity at all levels of our Company, including but not limited to
our Board and the senior management levels. In particular, our
chief financial officer, who is responsible for financing activities,
investor relationship, internal auditing and control and corporate
governance of the Group, and chief quality officer,
and form a part of our management team. On May 11, 2023, Ms.
CHEN Qingaging was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company, which has achieved the goal of appointing a female
Director.
gender diversity of our Board.

are female

Going forward, we will continue to work to enhance

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of our Board members. Our Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of our Board Diversity Policy, and will review our
Board composition at least once annually taking into account our
Board Diversity Policy as a whole. When making recommendations
on Board appointments, our Nomination Committee will adhere
to our Board Diversity Policy with the ultimate goal of achieving
greater gender diversity of the Board. We will also continue to
ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid
to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in due time to
ensure gender diversity of our Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills,
are equipped with experiences in various aspects and fields,
and have obtained degrees in various majors. We have four
independent non-executive Directors with different industry
backgrounds, representing one-third of the members of our Board.
Furthermore, our Board has a balanced age representation.
Taking into account our existing business model and specific
needs as well as the different backgrounds of our Directors, the
composition of the Board complies with the provisions of the
Listing Rules on gender diversity of members of the Board and
our Board Diversity Policy. Our Nomination Committee will review
and monitor the implementation of our Board Diversity Policy from
time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.

AP 2 RIS A AR BRER S5 fE (R E AN 1 BB E AR
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The Group attaches great importance to promoting diversity in
the workforce, including gender, and strives to create equal, fair
and high-quality job opportunities for its employees, as well as
to create a diverse and equal workplace atmosphere. Diversity
of job skills, experience, age and gender is also taken into
account when recruiting employees. As of December 31, 2024,
the number of female employees in our Group has accounted
for approximately 41.43% of the total number of employees
(including senior management), which is at a reasonable level.
Our Group will continue to emphasize training of female talent,
protecting female’s rights and interests, and providing long
term development opportunities for our female employees. The
Company expects to maintain reasonable gender diversity at
the employee level. The Company is not aware of any factors or
circumstances that would make achieving gender diversity for all
employees (including senior management) more challenging or
irrelevant.

For details of the Group’s employee composition and related
policies, please refer to the section headed “Employees” in
this report and the Company’'s 2024 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

Independent Views and Opinions

The Board has established relevant mechanisms to ensure that
the Board obtains independent views and opinions. According to
the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Board includes
four independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom
must have appropriate professional qualifications or appropriate
accounting or related financial management expertise. In addition
to regular Board meetings, the Chairman will also hold one
meeting with independent non-executive Directors each year
when other Directors are not present.
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The Company has also formulated the Work Policy for Independent
Non-executive Directors, which provides for the terms of
employment and duties of independent non-executive Directors,
and clearly provides that the Company shall provide the necessary
working conditions for the independent non-executive Directors
to perform their duties. The Policy also sets out the special terms
of reference of the independent non-executive Directors, such
as significant connected transaction shall be subject to the
consent of independent non-executive Directors before submitting
them to the Board for discussion, the appointment or removal
of an accounting firm shall be subject to the consent of half
or more of all the independent non-executive Directors before
proposing to the Board for discussion, as well as proposing the
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting, proposing
to convene a Board meeting, publicly soliciting voting rights
from Shareholders prior to the shareholders’ general meeting.
The Company assesses the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors on an annual basis to ensure that they are
able to make independent judgements on an ongoing basis. The
independent non-executive Directors will also submit a duty report
to the annual general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the
above relevant provisions and the above mechanisms have been
effective in providing independent views and opinions for the
Board. The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness
of the aforesaid mechanisms annually.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the corporate
governance policy of our Company and performing the functions
set out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board
reviews our Company’'s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of the
Directors, Supervisors and senior management, our Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and our Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
our Company’s code of conduct applicable to its employees and
Directors, and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report
during the Reporting Period.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills by the Company. The joint company secretaries of
our Company may from time to time and as the circumstances
required, provide updated written training materials relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a company listed on
the Stock Exchange.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in
Respect of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Company for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements of our Company with a view to ensuring
that such financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied
with as well as such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

The Board has received from the senior management of our
Company the management accounts and such accompanying
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to make an informed assessment for approving the financial
statements.

Oversight by our Audit Committee

In accordance with the duties and responsibilities set out under
its terms of reference, the Audit Committee assists the Board by
providing objective review of our Company’s accounting policies,
financial position, financial reporting procedures and financial
controls as well as the integrity, accuracy and fairness of our
Company'’s financial statements. In addition, the Audit Committee
discusses any questions or doubts that may be raised by the
external auditors and reviews the external auditors’ independent
letter of audit and other proposals to the senior management of
our Company.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. We are subject to various risks during
our operations, the details of which are set out in the section
headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus and the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in this
report.

Our Company has established a comprehensive risk management
system and relevant policies and procedures which we consider
suitable for our business operations. Our policies and procedures
are aimed at managing and monitoring our business performance.
We have adopted, or will continue to adopt, among other things,
the following risk management measures:

o establish the Audit Committee to review and supervise our
financial reporting process and internal control system.
Our Audit Committee consists of three members: Dr. XIA
Lijun (the chairman of the committee), Professor YUEN
Ming Fai and Dr. ZHOU Hongbin. For the qualifications and
experiences of these members, please refer to the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” in this report;

° adopt various policies to ensure the compliance with
the Listing Rules, including but not limited to policies in
respect of risk management, connected transactions and
information disclosure;

o provide regular anti-corruption and anti-bribery compliance
training for senior management and employees in order to
enhance their knowledge of and compliance of applicable
laws and regulations; and

o arrange our Directors and senior management to attend
training seminars on Listing Rules requirements and
the responsibilities as directors of a Hong Kong-listed
company.
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As a crucial part of our internal control system, we have adopted
stringent procedures to protect the confidentiality of clinical trial
data we collected. Sensitive patient data we obtained in our
clinical trial is stored in the Internet data center established and
owned by us. Our clinical operation department is responsible
for supervising the data protection practice during clinical trials.
We have kept all patient data such as personal information since
they enrolled in our clinical trials for an indefinite period unless
deletion of such data is required by relevant laws and regulations
or requested by the relevant users. We also provide on-board
training with respect to the handling of personal data to all of our
employees when they join us.

We have also adopted a set of anti-corruption policies. Our
management team and Audit Committee are responsible for
designing and implementing our anti-corruption policies and
procedures as well as overseeing our anti-corruption practice.
Our employee handbook and code of conduct sets standard
requirement for our employees in relation to anti-corruption
policies. We have also established a whistle blower program to
encourage employees to report any suspicious conduct and we
will initiate our internal investigation on such suspicious conduct
if necessary. Any employee found in breach of the relevant
anti-corruption policies faces termination of employment. We also
provide anti-corruption training to our employees on an annual
basis.

We value the environmental, social and climate-related impact that
our operations may have during our daily operations. Our senior
management are responsible for overseeing our environmental,
social and climate-related practice. We also encourage our
employees to report any issues or risks in this area they spot in
daily operations. We have also implemented stringent procedures,
which cover crucial aspects of our operations, to ensure that
our environmental, social and climate-related practice complies
with the applicable PRC laws and regulations. We value the
wellbeing of our employees and we have also adopted a series of
procedures to ensure that our health and safety practice complies
with applicable PRC laws and regulations. We also adopt a
whistle-blowing policy through which our employees can report
any health or safety related incidents on an anonymous basis.
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We have also adopted an information disclosure policy, through
which our Directors, senior management and employees are
provided with thorough guidance on the internal approval
procedures as well as the disclosure and/or Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations in relation to inside information,
notifiable transactions, connected transactions and other material
events concerning our Group.

Prior to the Listing Date, we have appointed an internal control
consultant to review the effectiveness of our internal control
measures related to our major business processes, to identify the
deficiencies for improvement, advise on the rectification measures
and review the implementation of such measures. During
the review process of our internal control consultant, certain
internal control matters were identified and we have adopted
corresponding internal control measures to improve on these
matters. We have adopted the recommendations made by the
internal control consultant, and our internal control consultant has
completed the follow-up procedures on our internal control system
with regard to those actions taken by us in June 2021 and has not
identified any material deficiencies in our internal control system.

The Company also takes the following measures:

(a) The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions. All departments conduct internal
control assessment regularly to identify risks that may
impact the business of the Group and various aspects
including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security.

(b) In accordance with the risk-oriented principle, the
Company has determined the main units, businesses
and events and the high-risk areas included in the
scope of assessment. There are four main units, i.e.,
the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. The
main businesses and events include four aspects, i.e.,
internal environment, major control activities, information
communication and internal supervision. The high-risk
areas of focus mainly include capital management,
engineering project management, seal management, R&D
management, contract management, human resource
management, procurement and payment management,
asset management and information system management.
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(c) According to the requirements of the regulation system
on internal control of enterprises for the identification of
material deficiencies, important deficiencies and ordinary
deficiencies, with reference to the Company’s size,
industry characteristics, risk preference, risk tolerance and
other factors, the Board distinguished between internal
control over financial reporting and that over non-financial
reporting and has established the specific identification
criteria for internal control deficiencies applicable to the
Company. The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for the risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or omission.

The Company has set up an internal audit department to
report to the Audit Committee for assisting the Board in
leading the management and supervising the assessment
and improvement of the Company’s internal control system,
and make recommendations accordingly.

The internal audit department, in coordination with other
departments, assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides
response plans and monitors the risk management progress,
and reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings
and the effectiveness of related systems. The management
has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Reporting Period.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as
the management, conducts two effectiveness reviews of the
risk management and internal control systems at least once a
year. During the Reporting Period, the Board has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the Reporting Period, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to its Directors, Supervisors, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries.
Control procedures have been implemented by the Company to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of our Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 134 to 142 in this
report.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no non-audit
services provided by our external auditors, Ernst & Young, and
fees for audit services rendered by it were as follows:
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Audit services RIS 2,530
JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES BEATMWE

Ms. CHEN Qingging and Ms. YUNG Mei Yee are our joint
company secretaries, the current primary contact person of the
Company with Ms. YUNG Mei Yee is Ms. CHEN Qingaging. For
biographical details of our joint company secretaries, please refer
to the section headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management” in this report. Ms. CHEN and Ms. YUNG
have undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 56 of the Articles of Association, the
Shareholders individually or jointly holding at least 10% (including
10%) of total Shares with voting rights of our Company have the
right to propose an extraordinary general meeting to the Board,
the Board shall provide written feedback on whether to convene
the meeting. In the case of disapproval, or no written reply of the
Board is given within 10 days, the foregoing Shareholders may
submit a written request to the Board of Supervisors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting. If the Board of Supervisors fails to
issue a notice of general meeting within 5 days, the Shareholders
individually or jointly holding at least 10% of Shares with voting
rights of the Company for 90 consecutive days or above may
convene and preside over the meeting on its/their own.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Association, the
Shareholders holding, individually or jointly, at least 3% of our
Company’s Shares may submit a general meeting proposal to the
Company and have the right to submit a proposal to the convener
within 10 days before the date of the shareholders’ general
meeting.

As regards the procedures for Shareholders to propose a
candidate for election as a Director, the detailed procedures are
available for viewing on our Company’s website (www.recbio.cn).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a shareholder communication policy and
reviews it annually to ensure its effectiveness. To promote
effective communication, our Company maintains a company
website at www.recbio.cn, where up-to-date information and
updates on our business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

The general meetings of our Company provide a forum and
an important channel for communication between the Board
and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, will be available
at the annual general meeting and other relevant shareholder
meetings to answer questions. In addition, during the periods of
interim results and annual results release, our Company may hold
conference calls and/or non-deal roadshows to ensure effective
and timely communication with Shareholders and investors.
Shareholders and investors may also write to our Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong or China or via our
Company’s website for any enquiries. Our Company normally also
accommodates Shareholders’ and investors’ requests to site visits
and management meetings to the extent reasonably practicable.
The Company has reviewed its shareholder communication policy
and related measures, and believes that the policy has been
effectively implemented during the Reporting Period.

HERRRREEEBE REERR
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Attendance of Directors at Shareholders’ Meetings EEHERRASNER

During the Reporting Period, the Company held one annual $REHA > ARG B —KREEBRRAS AR — K
general meeting and one extraordinary general meeting. The MBREREAES ESHFERERASHBERLDOT

attendance of Directors at the general meeting is as follows:

Attendance

Attendance in by way of

person/number proxy/number

of meetings of meetings
during tenure during tenure  Attendance Rate

HELERH, ERHERE
Member of the Board EEGRE FRAREIAH THIESERE HE=
Dr. LIU Yong 2B/ 2/2 0/0 100%
Mr. LI Bu kL 2/2 0/0 100%
Ms. CHEN Qingging fREsRL 2/2 0/0 100%
Dr. HONG Kunxue SRS+ 2/2 0/0 100%
Dr. CHEN Jianping Rt 11 0/0 100%
Dr. WANG Ruwei FunEE L 1/1 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin RESELT 2/2 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BZRBE L 2/2 0/0 100%
Mr. HU Houwei tHEE - 2/2 0/0 100%
Dr. XIA Lijun EVEEL 2/2 0/0 100%
Mr. LIANG Guodong RBIRR & 2/2 0/0 100%
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng#i# 2/2 0/0 100%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai ~ =#B20% 2/2 0/0 100%

Notes: Kiat -

1 Dr. CHEN Jianping ceased to be an executive director with 1 PREEFIE T H2024F5 A8 B R T HEERITE

effect from May 8, 2024;

2 Dr. WANG Ruwei was appointed as a non-executive Director 2
on May 8, 2024.

SR

TEELTR2024F5 AsHEZ T AIENITE

Eo
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company did not declare or pay dividends on our Shares
during the Reporting Period. Our Company currently expects to
retain all future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of
our business and does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of any dividends
in the future will be determined by our Board, in its discretion,
and will depend on a number of factors, including our earnings,
capital requirements, overall financial condition and contractual
restrictions. If our Company pays dividends in the future, in order
for our Company to distribute dividends to its Shareholders, it
will rely to some extent on any dividends distributed by our PRC
subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from our PRC subsidiaries
to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In addition,
regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends of
a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax
profits as determined in accordance with its articles of association
and the accounting standards and regulations in China. We are
subject to PRC governmental controls on currency conversion,
and the fluctuation of the Renminbi exchange rate may materially
and adversely affect our business and our ability to pay dividends
to holders of H Shares. In the future, we may rely to some extent
on dividends and other distributions on equity from our principal
operating subsidiaries to fund offshore cash and financing
requirements. We are subject to PRC governmental controls
on currency conversion, and the fluctuation of the Renminbi
exchange rate may materially and adversely affect our business
and our ability to pay dividends to holders of H Shares.

The Dividend Policy of our Company provides that our Company
in general meeting may declare dividends in any currency but no
dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.
Subject to the Company’s Shareholders’ resolution, our Company
may also pay half-yearly or at other intervals to be selected by it
any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is
of the opinion that the profits available for distribution justify the
payment.
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CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: No. 888, Yaocheng Avenue, Medical High-tech
District, Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

Fax: 0523-86866018

Email: ir@recbhio.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as

required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no significant changes to the Articles of Association
during the Reporting Period. The latest version of the Company’s
Articles of Association is also available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

By order of the Board

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman

Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
March 28, 2025
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To the shareholders of JIANGSU RECBIO TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
JIANGSU RECBIO TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 143 to 253, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS Accounting Standards”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BIHHNAENENROGERARARR
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

18 M A%
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R GRS

Key audit matter

R E T B

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESNAEERARETNSER

Impairment assessment of goodwill and in-progress
research and development technology

The Group had goodwill and in-progress research
and development (“R&D”) technology, arising from
the acquisition of Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co.,
Ltd., amounting to RMB9,305,000 and RMB22,120,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2024.

R2024F 128310 E£BWEILRTABEYRFEER
NAEAMNEERFAZPHE (THE]) B2 AARK
9,305,000 T M AR #22 120,000 7T °

The Group is required to perform impairment tests of
goodwill and in-progress R&D technology at least on
an annual basis. The impairment tests are based on the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU")
to which the goodwill is allocated, and the recoverable
amount of in-progress R&D technology. The recoverable
amount of the CGU has been determined based on a
fair value less cost of disposal method using cash flow
projections.

EEEAEVRFHHERFAEDMHERMETRER -
BEARERNE I EBENRSELSEM ((ReELSM])
AR ESBRARRBERHERMAOATKRESHE - REESE
BUMAIKE SR RAR S REFRAR A FER L EXA
JTEETE e

Management established the impairment assessment
model with the involvement of an external independent
valuer and prepared a recoverable amount calculation
to estimate the future cash flows taking into account
key assumptions, including expected revenue growth
rate, budgeted gross margin, terminal growth rate and
pre-tax discount rate, and management considered no
impairment loss was necessary as at 31 December 2024
based on the impairment assessments being performed.

EREEIINEBIEERMOSETE AT EESR - Wit
MEARRBR (REEHAREERE BEEMNEX « HEKER
ERBATAIRER) BRE AT B S B E AT R RRES R
£ BEEBREERSETHRENGERABENR2024F12
RA31BFHRBERSSE -

B K B B R T B R R (E R

Our procedures included, among others:

BMOEFEE (RPEHE)

1. Obtaining an understanding of key internal controls
related to impairment assessment of goodwill and
in-progress R&D technology;

1. TR B R K BA B R AT BB E R (5 B R RO R S D
12l

2. Evaluating the competence and objectivity of the
independent valuer engaged by management;

2. A EREMERIRE L GEMMEN REEIL

3. Evaluating management'’s identification of the CGU
to which the goodwill is allocated;

3. HEEEENE R BMRESEEEM B

4. Assessing whether management’s impairment
assessment model is appropriate with the
involvement of our valuation specialists by reference
to industry practices and valuation techniques;

4. SETEREPIRMGENE  EAEER2ETHEER
B EFERILZE DA E
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ES O AEERARETSER

This matter was significant to our audit considering the
impairment test process was complex and involved
significant judgements and estimates.

ENRERBUBIEE I Y MEAH B MG - MZEES
BRI EABEK

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment tests
of goodwill and in-progress R&D technology are
included in note 2.4 Material accounting policies, note 3
Significant accounting judgements and estimates, note
15 Goodwill and note 16 Other intangible assets.

BEEEAHRELFAEPHERIMRERN AN KB E
2ABREFTHEK  WESEAGFHE LGt - ME15%8
BLMEI6EMBELEE -

5. Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the cash flow projections,
including the expected revenue growth rate and
gross margin, by comparing them with the industry
research report, forecasts and actual performance
of similar products within the industry;

5. BBBRSHERMNEAOHRER (QERSKE
ERERENF) RITERRBRERENAUERNE
AREBRRMELLE - FERSBROARYE :

6. Evaluating the appropriateness of the pre-tax
discount rate and terminal growth rate adopted
with the involvement of our valuation specialists
by benchmarking market data and comparable
companies; and

6. AHSBEEATALBRATMEREE  HEEFTERNZ
HETFHEMRAFAIE R R RRKIERENEE T &

7 Verifying the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

7. BEREWBRET AERENTOME -
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R GRS

Key audit matter

R E T B

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESNAEERARETNSER

Cut-off of R&D costs

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
incurred research and development costs amounting
to RMB476,124,000. A large portion of the research
and development costs was clinical trial expenses and
service fees paid to contract research organisations
(“CROs"). The research and development activities with
these CROs are documented in detailed agreements
and are typically performed over an extended period.
Allocation of these costs to the appropriate reporting
period based on the progress of the research and
development projects requires estimations.

HZE2024F12A31AIEFE - ESEEEAMBERN AR
476,124,0007T ° X AR D BiERRARA S R
FENFERE ([EOHEEE ] NREE - BxE6 00
AEBEFENA I EHRPFELH - BEAFR—BR
EMEEART - BRBEAHEENEE @ BZERELERE
HEREHEEEEL AR -

This matter was significant to our audit given the amount
of R&D costs was significant and allocation of these
costs to the appropriate reporting period based on the
progress of the R&D projects involved judgement.

ERHERASBEEANMRBFHRE NERBZERERD
REEEEREHSRHE  RREREHYRMANBAEEAX -

The Group’s disclosures about R&D costs are included
in note 2.4 Material accounting policies and note 3
Significant accounting judgements and estimates.

BEEEBMMERANRERNM T2 4EX G5 ER &M
AESEAE A HIE R fhE o

HI AT 3% A

Our procedures included, among others:

BMOEFRE (KT EHE)

1. Obtaining an understanding of key internal controls
related to R&D costs and performing tests for
internal controls related to R&D costs;

1. TR AN RO A EES] - W BB A
BB BEHEHIETA

2. Reviewing the key terms set out in agreements with
the CROs;

2. EBE S MBI RT SL R 851 B0 BB 15K

8. Evaluating the progress of the research and
development projects based on inquiry with project
managers and inspecting supporting documents;

3. HERAEE KRR REFAXM - FEAEEREN
HER

4. Obtaining confirmations from the CROs, on a
sampling basis, to determine whether these costs
were recorded appropriately at the end of the year;
and

4. BREDABFENMARBHERE  UBEZEK
ARENFREERHE &

5. Performing the search for unrecorded liabilities
procedure subsequent to the year ended 31
December 2024.

5. HEHE2024F12A31BEFEZENRARAEET
B o
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

18 M A%
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

18 M A%
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 M A% B E R

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Wai, Shun.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeEEkEMEENER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®ET T ARBTTT

Other income and gains Ha A Rk 5(a) 61,644 100,555
Selling and distribution expenses HE Ko iER (2,617) (8,471)
Administrative expenses THRAX (109,050) (143,767)
Research and development expenses R 6 (476,124) (487,847)
Other expenses HEmAx 5(b) (16,853) (19,347)
Finance costs U %N 7 (18,897) (13,566)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRE A1 ES IR 6 (561,897) (572,443)
Income tax expense RSBl 11 - =
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREER (561,897) (572,443)
Attributable to: THA T

Owners of the parent ISYNEIEFEPN (562,389) (571,957)

Non-controlling interests FEPE AR M B 492 (486)
Total 5T (561,897) (572,443)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hih 2wk =
Other comprehensive income that will not B TEREZHBEFRHEE

be reclassified to profit or loss in Bamz EME2mEkes

subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation REGINETSPTE £ 2 895 2,421

of foreign operations EH ZRE

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREAGEEE (561,002) (570,022)

FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to: TE)A TR

Owners of the parent HREIHEB A (561,494) (569,536)

Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 492 (486)
Total FE (561,002) (570,022)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BRAREBRESFEA

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS BB RER

OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted (RMB) EXREE (ARE) 12 (1.16) (1.19)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B R R

31 December 2024
2024% 12 A31H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
20245 20234
12831 H 12A31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k3 ARET T AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R&E 13 1,054,776 840,843
Other intangible assets HEEREE 16 37,432 41,126
Right-of-use assets PREEE 14 34,639 43,390
Goodwill BES 15 9,305 9,305
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 17 148,951 122,240
Total non-current assets IEMBNE EBTE 1,285,103 1,056,904
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 62,299 93,750
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIE « HMtERGRIE R 19 136,284 123,197
other assets HEMEE
Pledged deposits EIREFER 20 8,231 77,443
Time deposits with original maturity of more  REIZIH BB =18 A 20 129,275 =
than three months TEHATF 3K
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 20 319,040 834,983
Total current assets MEVEERRE 655,129 1,129,373
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBRE
Trade and bills payables B SR HIE R ERNRE 21 59,789 115,081
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 10,839 14,731
Interest-bearing bank and other FrRRITREMER — RE 23 499,378 46,307
borrowings -current
Other payables and accruals Hith 5B R FEET & A 22 269,414 268,116
Total current liabilities MBI B ERARE 839,420 444 235
NET CURRENT ASSETS BB EFHE (184,291) 685,138
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERRBERS 1,100,812 1,742,042

LIABILITIES
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R R

31 December 2024
202412 A31H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
20245 20234
12831 H 12H31H

Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’'000

Bt ARET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8R1T M EALE 23 378,878 585,333
Lease liabilities HEEAE 14 = 4,424
Deferred income EEWA 24 58,904 75,811
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 25 5,530 5,530
Other non-current liabilities HEMIEREAE 26 128,176 =
Total non-current liabilities JEmE A EREE 571,488 671,098
Net assets BEE 529,324 1,070,944
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAREE AELER
Share capital & < 27 482,963 482,963
Treasury shares E1FR% 27 (68,281) (54,005)
Reserves G 28 114,642 642,478
Non-controlling interests FFERE R - (492)
Total equity S EE 529,324 1,070,944

Yong Liu
25
Executive Director

HITEE

Qingging Chen

FREs
BB

Executive Director

HITEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERBER

Year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

AN
Share-based Non-
Share  Treasury Share Other payment  Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares  premium*  reserves® reserve’ losses* Total interests equity
AR RER

Bx  EER  RAEE AtRR ONEE  RHER BE HIREZ  ERER
RMBO0D  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RWBO0D  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RWBIO00  RMBIOQO
ARRTL ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTL ARMTRL ARMTRL ARETR

(note 27) (note 28)  (note 29)

(hizr) (hizs)  (Witz9)
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1A1A 482,963 - 2,583,009 163,938 185,506 (1,753,539) 1,661,876 (8,798) 1,653,078
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - (B71957)  (571,957) (486)  (572,443)
Qther comprehensive income for the year: FREf 2 EME :
Exchange differences on translation of the EEHBAANERZE - - - 2,421 - - 2421 - 2421
financial statements of subsidiaries EECERER
Loss and total comprehensive loss ENBRRZAFRLE - - - 2421 - (571957)  (569,5%6) (486)  (570022)
for the year
Shares purchased under the 2022 H Share 1352022 F HiF 1Byt - (54,005) - - - - (54009) - (54,009)
Incentive Scheme (note 27) BARRL (WaEor)
Reallocation of loss attributable to owners SR FRAE A RIEERES - - - = - (8792) (8792 8,792 -
of the parent and non-controlling EUEEEENAR
interests*
Share-based payments WRA BERATH - = - - 41893 - 41893 - 41893

At 31 December 2023 2023512318 482,963 (64,005) 2583009 166,359 221,398 (2334.288) 1071436 (492) 1,070,944
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

S A el S g
mEERSEHR
Year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRAARLE
Share-based Non-
Share  Treasury Share Other ~ payment Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares premium* reserves* reserve* losses* Total interests equity
HRBAERE

Bx  ERR BAEE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARBTR ARETR

Rt NAFER  RHER BR FERER  BRAE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARWTR

(note 27) (note 28)  (note 29)

(Hi27) (fites)  (Wit29)
At 1 January 2024 Ro024%1 818 182963  (54005) 2563009 166350 227,398  (2334.288) 1071436 (492) 1,070,944
Loss for the year EnER - - - - - (562,389)  (562,389) 492 (561,897)
Other comprehensive income for the year: FREMZEKE :
Exchange differences on translation of the AEMBAFMKER - - - 895 - - 895 - 895
financial statements of subsidiaries Er7EHER
Loss and total comprehensive loss ENBRRZAFRLE - - - 895 - (562,389) (561,494) 492 (561,002)
for the year
Shares purchased under the 2022 H Share 1352022 F Hik By 12l - (14,276) - - - - (14,276) - (14,276)
Incentive Scheme (note 27) BARRL (Wakor)
Share-based payments RA BERAIE - - - - 33,658 - 33658 - 33,658
At 31 December 2024 Ro04E128318 12,069 (68.281) 2583000 167254 26105  (2896,677) 52932 - 503

*k

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves
of RMB114,642,000 and RMB642,478,000, respectively, as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

As the management changed the business plan of the non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the net loss of the
subsidiary, which has exceeded of the capital contribution but
cannot be recovered from the non-controlling interests (“NCI”),
has been accounted as a contribution from the Company on
behalf of NCI.

*%

ZERBEEREAUBEMRARAS BIR
20244 K 20234 12 A31 B A HE AR
114,642,000 7T % AR #¥642,478,0007T °

HRERENE T ARBF2ENB QAN
HEtE  BBHEE A eI ([ I
MeiEzs ) W@ EYH B A RDF BRI A AR A
REIFZEERNEE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
HiaE ARET T ARBTIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRSKE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRI RIES1E 6/11(c) (561,897) (572,443)
Adjustments for: K
Finance costs B TSR AN 7 18,897 13,566
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant  H&EW%  MERRXHER 32 35
and equipment R &8
Gain on disposal of items of right-of-use HEFAREEREE 5(a)/6 (89) (6,605)
assets and lease liabilities BEHEE M=
Bank interest income RATH B A 5(a)/6 (21,378) (45,580)
Provision for impairment of inventories GFERERE 5(b)/6 11,060 8,038
Provision for impairment of other HEMRB & ERERE 5(b)/6 1,824 =
current assets
Provision for impairment of property, Y - BB kB ERERE 5(b)/6 3,855 =
plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #13 - BiE MR EITE 6/13 67,362 47 416
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESERE 6/14 8,039 12,035
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b & i 6/16 5,406 4,447
Amortisation of other non-current assets H A IEREN B 6 3,430 461
Amortisation of other current assets HE b ms) & 6 2,206 2,019
Net gains from changes in fair value of EAFEFABRNCREE (94) (492)
financial assets at fair value through B A TR EE A R F I
profit or loss (“FVTPL")
Foreign exchange gains, net b H W F 58 5(a)/6 (8,974) (17,497)
Share-based payment expense LARRAD B AR R A 29/36 33,658 41,893
Increase in inventories FEEM (53,870) (45,628)
Increase in prepayments, other TR FRIE  E A EBGRIE & (6,269) (39,957)
receivables and other assets Efh & ZE N
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and bills B 5N HIERENER (55,292) 52,564
payables G4,/
Increase/(Decrease) in other payables B RIERERTER 34,964 (29,313)
and accruals G A)
Increase in other non-current assets HitnIEmEn & EL = (255)
Withdrawal/(placement) of pledged deposits ~ #£EL/(7F1R) B #E M7 20 69,212 (77,443)
(Decrease)/Increase in deferred income B A G ),/ 80 (16,907) 14,667
Net cash flows used in operating activities KL EEFTARSREFE (464,825) (638,072)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHMERERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B UF B 5(a)/6 21,378 45,580
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYE  BERZEEE (171,833) (212,042)
and equipment
Purchase of items of other intangible assets & E{hEF EEE R = (12,068)
Purchase of time deposits 3= el LEER 20 (129,275) -
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits TR HUE BT SR FT 15 B - 187,462
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEMZE - WEREEEE 594 =
property, plant and equipment Fr5 58
Proceeds from investment income of FFAR A FER ABEA 5(a)/6 94 492
financial products included in financial PHMEENEREMRE
assets at FVTPL WA P15 3018
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing wEEBATE,(FTH) (279,042) 9,424

activities

REmEFa
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GeRERE

=

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Jiok23 AR%T ARBTIT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMEEEFERESRE
ACTIVITIES
Receipt of bank loans and other borrowings  WEURTTER M EMEF 275,242 360,871
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (39,116) (3,123)
Repayment of lease payments EEMEEN 14(b)/29(b) (8,627) (8,747)
Interest paid BEARALE (14,677) (10,428)
Receipt of funds related to sale and W EEZBEEENE S 30,000 48,000
leaseback
Repayments of borrowings related to sale EEHERBERBNER (23,267) (8,898)
and leaseback
Deposit paid related to sale and leaseback HEZOAEBANENIEE (1,500) (2,400)
Shares purchased under — share RIBIR D 2B ET BB AR D * - (100,000)
incentive scheme”*
Net cash flows from financing activities B EEFEE SRS R 218,055 275,275
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HERBEEEYRL EE (525,812) (853,373)
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUHeRESEEYD 20/33 834,983 1,169,092
of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes e SR 484 ) ) B2 28 9,869 19,264
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESRRLEEY 20 319,040 834,983
END OF YEAR
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH REeRBESEEYNEHRDNT
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in iﬁéum%ﬁﬁﬁ’i”ié’\ﬁﬁ@& 20 319,040 834,983
the statement of cash flows S EEY
= On 16 September 2022, shareholders of the Group approved  * MR2022F9 816 H ' AEEREI ERR

the adoption of the 2022 H share incentive scheme (the “2022
H Share Incentive Scheme”). The trustee under the scheme
purchased shares from the secondary market using a total
consideration of no more than RMB100,000,000. Further details
are contained in note 19 and note 27.

D

2022 FHRR HEET &l ([ 2022 F H IR BB 5+
ZAEINZRANBRETBBARE
100,000,000 T Z AT B ARG o 5153
RHTFE19 R MIFE27 o
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

JIANGSU RECBIO TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. is a joint stock
company with limited liability incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). The registered office of the
Company is located at No. 888 Yaocheng Avenue, Medical
High-tech District, Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province, PRC.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the research and development of vaccines in
Mainland China.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
31 March 2022.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place and date
of incorporation/
registration and

Name place of business Registered capital
S BREHR
a8 BE AR E B2 HEMER

RAREEEHR

LRI BHEMBEMRNDBR AT ARFEA
REFMB ([FEA]) FMHEAZOBRGERD
Al o NAFIM MR ERA AP BEIHE R
N i B 2 1= 6T [ B4 K 7B 888 5k ©

RER > ARRAREMBAR (5B KE
E ) TERPBEAMEERERE -

KABIR2022%3 A31 HEBBHAERZ5FT
BRAR ([BRAT]) ERET -

MELRER
AR EE2MBABFELT

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company
ART RS
Bk
Direct Indirect Principal activities

B B TEXR

Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences
Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing ABZYMO”)

PRC/Mainland China
7 March 2011

ERZEBEVHEERAR HE/ RER AR%251,032,5007C
(MHtRzEE])* 201143A7H
Wuhan Recogen Biotechnology PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* 28 September 2021
RERMEENRRER DA HE/ RER AR10,000,0007T
202149 A28 H
Wuhan Recbio Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000
Co., Ltd* 28 September 2021
RERMAERIMER AR hE/ R AR¥60,000,0007C
202149 A28 H
Hangzhou Ruibaio Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* 3 February 2023
MR ERRRERAR" HE/ B AR%10,000,0007C
20232 H3A
HK Recbio Limited** PRC/Hong Kong HKD10,000
27 January 2023
BARRAENERAR HEBE 10,000%7C

2023%1H27H

RMB251,032,500

100% - Research and development
I

55% - Research and development
e

100% - Research and development
i

100% - Research and development
i

- 100%  Research and development

i
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

*

* %k

The English names of the entities registered in
Mainland China represent the best efforts made by
the management of the Company to directly translate
their Chinese names as the entities did not register any
official English names. The Company’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are limited liability companies
under PRC law.

On 27 January 2023, Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co.,
Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, established a wholly-
owned subsidiary in Hong Kong namely HK Recbio
Limited.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS Accounting Standards”), which
include all standards and interpretations approved
by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”), and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.
These financial statements are presented in RMB
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

B 5 ¥R R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

AAREEER (F])

MEQRER (F)

*

*k

AT EE L EMNE HEXERE - RF
B EMA AR NEXBBERBAR
AIEEERBEEARGREATEL &
EL N - ARBRA BB QA
BHEPEERRATHAREEAT -

M2023%F1 A27H - AEBKH BRI
REABEYMRIRERA RN EBRKIL
—H2EWBEAR (NEEREEME
RAR) o

L HE

2.1

mREE

ZERBRRDIBREERA B RS
R (ARSI HRE LR B
2 BRBEESEAPEES ([EF
SERIEANEEE ) HENFAER R
2B ARBFB(R RGN K E
HIE © RFPIEIRR TIIRIRE L A
ERE - RRBHBASN - ZEMBR
RUAARKEZY  ESBEINEE
RRANTT(ARETT) -
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

2

EETECR (])
21 REEXE(E)
IRERE

FAMBRRBEARTDREMER
A (i [ AEE]) B 22024512 A
BTHLEFENMBERE - HBARR
RAREEKEREFNER (B
FBUER) EAKEH2EKR
B EBO A 2R HRAERRSNER
BNARBEEBEENTZERIRES
HEHE (BT AEEREGENE
BRZE S HEEDHEEFER)
BIERIS 42 4 -

—RIENTHFEBY; RIKEETK
EHIEZHETE © MARRHEE DR
RETBFBREIELERN - AR
SERFEEEDHRRES AR
NEEZE—VHBESERBR &
&

(a) EBEREFHMRREREA
A KL HE

(b) HMENTHELNERN &

(c) AEENERERLREERERE
-
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary,
it derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises
the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)
Going concern basis

Notwithstanding that the Group recorded net current
liabilities of RMB184,291,000 as at 31 December
2024 primarily attributable to the current interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, the financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

Subsequent to 31 December 2024, the Company
entered into a supplementary agreement with
Yangtze River Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd.,
(“Yangtze River Pharmaceutical”), pursuant to which
Yangtze River Pharmaceutical has consented to
extend the repayment period of the RMB200 million
borrowing up to 1 April 2026.

Concurrently, the Group entered into credit facility
agreements, and as of the reporting date, the Group
had a total of RMB146 million of unused credit
facilities that would be available for use beyond 31
December 2025.

Based on the aforementioned financial
arrangements, the directors of the Company are of
the view that the Group and the Company will have
adequate working capital and funds, taking into
account, inter alia, the available financial resources,
to meet their financial obligations as they fall due
and to sustain their operations for at least the next
12 months from 31 December 2024,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Changes

in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised IFRS Accounting Standards for the first time
for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current (the “2020
Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”)

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS
Accounting Standards are described below:

(a)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure
the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with
variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate occurring from the
date of initial application of IFRS 16, the
amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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2GR ()
B BRESBRKE (H)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2

22 Changes in Accounting Policies and 2.2
Disclosures (continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, including what is
meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity
will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments,
and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of
a liability not impact its classification. The
2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as
current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January
2023 and 2024 and concluded that the
classification of its liabilities as current or
non-current remained unchanged upon initial
application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes

in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures (continued)

(c)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify
the characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements and require additiona
disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier financial statements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued But Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised IFRS Accounting Standards, that have been
issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these
new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements?®

Subsidiaries without
Public Accountability:
Disclosures?®

Amendments to the
Classification and

IFRS 19

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7
Measurement of
Financial Instruments?

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent
Electricity Instruments?

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10  Sale or Contribution

and IFRS 28 of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture*

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2025

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2026

2 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued But Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Further information about those IFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces |IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have
been brought forward from IAS 1 with limited
changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss,
including specified totals and subtotals. Entities
are required to classify all income and expenses
within the statement of profit or loss into one of
the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations
and to present two new defined subtotals. It
also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note
and introduces enhanced requirements on the
grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the
location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as IAS 8
Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, |AS 33 Earnings
per Share and |AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards.
IFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to
other IFRS Accounting Standards are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently
analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation and
disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued But Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period,
an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot
have public accountability and must have a parent
(ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which
comply with IFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19.
Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of IFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date
on which a financial asset or financial liability is
derecognised and introduce an accounting policy
option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are
met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other
component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and
can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at
the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued But Not Yet Effective International
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB.
However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired,
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

the difference is, after

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group’s Cash Generating Units (“CGUs” or
“groups of CGUs"), that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or
group of CGUs) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed
of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties,
instruments and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

derivative financial
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement

as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in
the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred
tax assets, financial assets, investment properties
and non-current assets/a disposal group classified
as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’'s or CGU’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
CGU if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group
of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent
of the Group;
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related
to the Group; and the sponsoring
employers of the post-employment
benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal useful life used
for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 3-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 2 years
Computer and office equipment 2-3 years

Motor vehicles 10 years
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

The depreciation expense incurred related to the
right-of-use asset for the building lease during the
construction period is expensed when incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment annually either individually or
at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible
assets are not amortised. The useful life of an
intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

The amortisation periods are as follows:

Software 3-5 years

Intellectual property

Intellectual property with finite useful life is
amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are
put into commercial production.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

At inception or on reassessment of a contract
that contains a lease component and non-lease
components, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components
and to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease components (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a
single lease component.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Properties

50 years
2-5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of buildings (that is those leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of motor vehicles that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

For sale and leaseback transactions with variable

lease payments that do not depend on an index

or a rate, lease liabilities are recognised at the

commencement date of the leasebacks at the
present value of expected lease payments to be
made over the lease term. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to
reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the

expected lease payments.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost
include deposits and other receivables included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do
not contain a significant financing component or
when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that
contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting
policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
bills payables, other payables and accruals, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables,
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and
held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares)
are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
on the purchase, sale,
Group’s own equity instruments.

issue or cancellation of the

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the country in which the Group
operates.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Government grants (continued)

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments and released to the statement
of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group's operations. Employees (including
directors) and non-employees of the Group receive
remuneration and rewards in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees and non-
employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted.
The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value of the services they provided unless the fair
value of the equity instruments granted is more
reliably determinable. The fair value is measured
at the market value of the shares, adjusted for the
exclusion of expected dividends to be received in
the vesting period, further details of which are given
in note 29 to the financial statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or
loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service conditions are not taken into account when
determining the grant date fair value of awards,
but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
service conditions have not been met, no expense
is recognised.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The subsidiaries operating in
Mainland China are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses incurred on the
Group’s vaccine product pipelines are capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, the Group’s
intention to complete and the Group’s ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
pipeline and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Research and development
expenses which do not meet these criteria are expensed
when incurred. Determining the amounts to be capitalised
requires management to make assumptions regarding the
expected future cash generation of the assets, discount
rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. All
expenses incurred for research and development activities
were regarded as research expenses and therefore were
expensed when incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or CGU and choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the recoverable amount requires
the consideration of the best expectation by market
participants of the CGU and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2024 was RMB9,305,000 (2023: RMB9,305,000).
Further details are given in note 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
residual values for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives.

Incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiary that does not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group’s chief executive officer, being the
chief operating decision maker, reviews the consolidated
results when making decisions about allocating resources
and assessing performance of the Group as a whole and
hence, the Group has only one reportable segment and no
further analysis of this single segment is presented.

The Group did not record any revenue during the year and
the Group’s non-current assets are substantially located in
the PRC, accordingly, no analysis of geographical segment
is presented.
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5. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, AND OTHER 5.

HWA R W - AREABRX

EXPENSES
(@) An analysis of other income and gains is as (a) Rt A RREI AT :
follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREET T
Other income Hiplr A
Government grants* BT B> 27,005 30,377
Bank interest income SRITHBUA 21,378 45,580
Total other income H bz A 42%8 48,383 75,957
Gains W=
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEE R 89 6,605
and lease liabilities HEA BN K
Foreign exchange gains, net [& 5 U s 58 8,974 17,497
Others HAh 4,198 496
Total gains gyt 13,261 24,598
Total other income and gains H A RS %E 61,644 100,555

The government grants and subsidies related

to income and assets have been received
to compensate for the Group’s research and
development expenditures and business

operations.

b B E B W A K B EE AR R 2 TR
FF 8B R m Bk R (B A 5= B
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5.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, AND OTHER 5. Hag AR AR EAMBE (8)
EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

An analysis of other expenses is as follows: (b) Rftp@o T
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
Provision for impairment of other B IEREE ERE RS - 8,689
non-current assets
Provision for impairment of other H bR &) & E R E 1,824 =
current assets
Provision for impairment of inventories 17 & R{E & & 11,060 8,038
Provision for impairment of property, YIE -~ RE RS ERERE 3,855 -
plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEYE - BERZEE 32 =
plant and equipment, net B BRI R
Others H A, 82 2,620
Total #Et 16,853 19,347
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6.

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

BRELATE 1R
AEENRBATBES N GEA) TFI%

(crediting): 17 -
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
Mz ARET R ARETTT
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERSETE 13 67,362 47,416
equipment*
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* CREEERE" 14 8,039 12,035
Amortisation of intangible assets* B EERE 16 5,406 4,447
Amortisation of other non-current assets* HEM3Eme 8 E i 3,430 461
Amortisation of other current assets* Hih B & S 2,206 2,019
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE 7 463 1,363
Expense relating to short-term leases* EHREHAEENRAT 1,297 2,140
Provision for impairment of inventories FTERERE 5(b) 11,060 8,038
Provision for impairment of property, ME - BERSERERE 5(b) 3,855 -
plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of other Hit e & ERERE 5(b) 1,824 =
current assets
Research and development costs 3SR AR 476,124 487,847
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE « BER&E 5(b) 32 35
plant and equipment 15 B MBS
Gain on disposals of items of right-of-use HEFRAEEER 5(a) (89) (6,605)
assets and lease liabilities ME A FEEA KK
Government grants BT Bh 5(a) (27,005) (30,377)
Foreign exchange gains, net BEE 5 U 5 5 58 5(a) (8,974) (17,497)
Bank interest income RITFIB WA 5(a) (21,378) (45,580)
Auditor’s remuneration* I GIEA 2,530 2,360
Employee benefit expense*: (excluding EERMAES : (TEFE
directors’, chief executive's and EZ  EaTRAEK
supervisors’ remuneration): EZmEH)
Wages and salaries TERFS 101,167 113,772
Share-based payments expense LR BERER T FE X 15,076 19,658
Pension scheme contributions, social RIKEFT M - (L& 12,393 12,470

welfare and other welfare

R E A EF]

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment,

depreciation of right-of-use assets, amortisation of
intangible assets, amortisation of other non-current
assets, amortisation of other current assets, expense
relating to short-term leases, auditor’s remuneration
and employee benefit expense for the year are set out
in “Selling and distribution expenses”, “Administrative
expenses” and “Research and development costs” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BBEAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MR DT
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Interest on bank borrowings RITREFF B 26,758 19,989
Less: Interest capitalised B BAEFE 8,324 7,786
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14) HEBERNS (MFE14) 463 1,363
Total st 18,897 13,566

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8.

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules,

section 383(1)(a), (b),

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulation, is as follows:

EE  ESRRSTHAEHMH

B EERERTHRABRFANME
BRI ETRA - BB R REHIE383(1)(a)

(b)

() RNEAR AR RERBESRET
HER) RPIE 28BN T

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T AR®ET T

Fees we 1,180 1,158
Other emoluments: Hme :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUREDA= 6,494 11,049

Performance related bonuses FIBMERETEAL 498 925

Share-based payments VARG AR 7 EE T B0 1 3% 18,583 22,235

Pension scheme contributions RIRE T B IR 374 364

Total “Et 27,129 35,731
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8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EE EERES{THRASHH (M)
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (continued)

Directors =
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Share-based Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments remuneration
234113 E3] BikE URB A

e REWNG RERA SERR BROMK FHRE
RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR  ARBTR AR®Tn ARMTR AR®TR  ARETx

Year ended HZ2024512A31H
31 December 2024 tFE

Executive directors: WTES:
Mr. LIU Yong RS - 1,297 149 46 9,922 11,414
Mr. CHEN Jianping (a) BT 54 (a) - H - 55 1,843 2,639
Mr. LI Bu FhitE - 1,152 74 46 844 2,116
Ms. CHEN Qingging (b) BESLL(b) - 1,267 105 66 5,694 7,132
Dr. HONG Kunxue (c) RS T (c) - 1,267 105 55 260 1,687

Non-executive directors: FRTES :

Dr. ZHOU Hongbin AEREL - = = - - -
Dr. WANG Ruwei (d) TwEEL(d) = = o - - -
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin REEFT - = = - - -
Mr. HU Houwei HEELE - - _ _ _ _
Professor. GAO Feng GAO Feng#i#% 296 - - = = 296
Mr. LIANG Guodong REIRE A 296 - - = = 296
Professor. YUEN Ming Fai ~ RIBHE 292 = = = - 292
Mr. XIA Lijun BEVELRE 296 = = —~ - 206

Total @5t 1,180 5,724 433 268 18,563 26,168
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8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8. BEXE - EERESTHRAEHM (&)
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Directors (continued) 5= (&)
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme  Share-based Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments  remuneration
e R =5 ERE MR A

e REDNG BB SRS ERAAR e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBTL  ARETR ARETT  ARBTL  ARETR

Year ended #Z22023F12A31H
31 December 2023 [I=:353

Executive directors: HiES:
Mr. LIU Yong EEp = 2,569 248 43 11,657 14,517
Mr. CHEN Jianping (a) BRI (a) = 1,807 150 63 1,090 3,110
Mr. LI Bu Thtst = 1,804 150 43 1,161 3,158
Ms. CHEN Qingging (b) BESLL(b) = 1,804 150 52 7,896 9,902

Non-executive directors: FRTEE
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin ARBEL - - - - - -
Dr. ZHANG Jiaxin REEEL = - - = - -
Mr. HU Houwei HERLE - - - - - -
Dr. HONG Kunxue (c) HHEE L () - 1,807 150 63 358 2,378
Mr. FENG Tao (e) EERE(e) = 330 = = - 330
Professor. GAQ Feng GAO Feng## 290 = = = = 290
Mr. LIANG Guodong 2R EE 290 = = = = 290
Professor. YUEN Ming Fai ~ R¥EHR 288 = = = = 288
Mr. XIA Lijun BUERE 290 - - - - 290

Total b 1,158 10,121 848 264 22,162 34,553
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31HILFE

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

CEERRSTHRASHMH (F)

Supervisors BE=E
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Share-based Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments remuneration
23411 E3] Bike R A
e  REVAE HREA srEftE  ERMAR FrsE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTE ARBTR AR%Tn ARETRT ARE®TR AR%Tx
Year ended BZ2024F12A31H
31 December 2024 HEE
Ms. QIAO Weiwei BEEXL - 454 39 46 19 558
Ms. LIU Ping 2 ¥zt - 316 26 60 1 403
Ms. QIAN Ranting BABTt - - - - - -
Mr. WANG Feizhou ERALE - - - - - -
Total et - 770 65 106 20 961
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme  Share-based Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments  remuneration
e 2 =5 EiRE MR A
we  REDNE sl FE L - N Hles
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETE ARETR ARt ARETT ARETR
Year ended BFE2023512A31H
31 December 2023 I35
Ms. QIAO Weiwei BRELL - 574 48 46 69 737
Ms. QIAN Ranting Bt = = - = - -
Mr. WANG Feizhou IRSEE - - - - - -
Ms. LIU Ping ¥t = 354 29 54 4 441
Total @it - 928 77 100 73 1,178

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

FR BEEEIRRTBRABRRELRE
MEEMME R -
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE20245F12A31HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Supervisors (continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. CHEN Jianping was appointed as a director on 2
November 2020 and resigned from the position on 8
May 2024.

(b) Ms. CHEN Qingging was appointed as a director on 11
May 2023.

(c) Dr. HONG Kunxue was appointed as an executive
directors of the second session of the Board at the
2023 Annual General Meeting of the Company held on
8 May 2024.

(d) Dr. WANG Ruwei was appointed as a director on 8 May
2024.

(e) Mr. FENG Tao was appointed as a director on 2
November 2020 and resigned from the position on 30
March 2023.

EE ESERESTBAEHM (&)
E= (4
Hiat

(a)

FRIEF I EN2020F 11 A2HEZR T A
= 1H2024F5A8HEHT -

BRESLLN202355 A1 RRZER
B=-

i EE 4 702024 F5 A8 HETHA
NA2023FERRAT L EZEASE
“EEEEHRTES -

FEETN2024F5 AR EZER

B=-

EEEER2020F 11 A2HEZR T AE
%= - WR20234F3 A30HEHT -
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2023: four directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023: one)
highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

B 5 ¥R R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

TEBREFHHES

FRN IEBRRFMNEERERE=2E=%
(20234 : MAEF) - HFMFRIN X
MizE8 - F A - A TR (20234 + —&) I
FARRBEZTHERTHRABNZSFE
BRFHMFBDT

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT AR T T

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e o B4 R REYH &= 3,491 1,505
benefits in kind

Performance related bonuses FIRMRBEA 327 -

Share-based payments VAR 7 2 EE i &9 157 3K 3,094 2,920

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIH 85 35

Total FoE 6,997 4,460

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

One of the highest paid employees left the Company and
the termination benefit amounted to RMB434,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB150,000).

HE2024F12A31 B ILFE - AEBRHE
MEMREESTHEE SIS - UEA
E N A RS B s n A B A 22 E) (2023
F:F)o

HE2024F12A31BILEE  — 25
FNEESBMAARA  BEBEANAARE
434,0007C (20234 : AR¥150,0007T) °
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HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 9. IHEEAFMES (&)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive N TRENEEANNEZEERIEREITEA
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the S&mHHES AR
following bands is as follows:
Number of employees
EEA™
2024 2023

20245 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T 1,000,000 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 3,500,001 5% 5,000,000/8 7T 2 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 5% 7,000,000/8 7T = =
HK$10,000,001 to HK$12,000,000 10,000,001 £ 12,000,000/8 7T = =
HK$12,000,001 to HK$16,000,000 12,000,001 7% 16,000,000 7T = =
During the year of 2024, shares were granted to certain R2024F  FHEAEBHRKRGERE
highest paid employees in respect of their further services TESFMEERERG @ E—FFBER
to the Group, further details of which are set out in note 29 B HREMTE29 - TRRBEE N IB S g
to the financial statements. The fair value of such awarded REZERE RGO A FETNE L A BE
shares, which has been recognised in profit or loss over o MAFEENTERRTS &5t A it
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant == ME S BN EE -
and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is included in the above highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.
DIVIDEND 10. RKE

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company
during the year (2023: Nil).

FR - ARAYERSHEIREREKE
(20234 : #&) -
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group’s principal applicable taxes and tax rates are as
follows:

(a)

No provision for Mainland China income tax has
been provided for at a rate of 25% pursuant to
the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and
the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”), as the
Group’s PRC entities have no estimated assessable
profits during the year.

Pursuant to the CIT Law, the Company is subject to
CIT at a rate of 25% on the taxable income. Beijing
ABZYMO obtained its certificate of high-technology
enterprise on 30 December 2022 and is entitled to
enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years
from 2022 to 2025.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable
to loss before tax at the statutory rate to the tax

11.

B 5 ¥R R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

Fr8BRAX
AEETZERARBRBEIDT

(a) FA - ARANEERTEE LW &G
FTERBRF  WMEREPFEAR
HMB S FEATEFERAERER ([16
E¥MBHE]D) P BERATERIR
25% I T AT IR B o

(b)y WREBLEMSIHE  XARIARE
R U AT 25% BTt R B PR
B8 - ERLHBER2022F12 30
AREaRECERE  TEER
2022F FE2025F = FRNEH15%H)
BEME -

(c) HAEMXAERBABERZERNR
HRXBRERRERGFEZRARS

expense at the effective tax rate is as follows: ZEERINT -
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Loss before tax b B B ES 18 (561,897) (572,443)
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) BAEREFTERNTIIE(25%) (140,474) (143,111)
Lower tax rates for specific provinces or #55E & {7 8k 77 # B8 2845 59 7,340 11,533
enacted by local authority BRI
Expenses not deductible for tax DR 9,269 11,514
Additional deductible allowance for G BRI EK AR RESN (98,979) (105,173)
qualified research and development A Rk A
costs
Tax losses and deductible temporary KRR IR B 18 & 222,844 225,237

differences not recognised

AR E R =R

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate

IR H

BASEERHEAED - =
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HZE20245F12A31HILFE

11.

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. FiSHmMxX (&)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of RETIIEE B M AR Bt T 5118 B 78R
the following items:
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Tax losses THIEEE 898,941 698,686
Deductible temporary differences AR E R R 81,313 72,263
Total #Et 980,254 770,949
The Group has tax losses of RMB3,905,598,000 and M2024F 2023512 A31H * KREEHF
RMB3,063,726,000 as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. HEES B A ARKK3,905,598,0007T & A
R #3,063,726,0007T °
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of HRZEEEWRR AT AN RER ERTR T
these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable Al AR IEEE - M ERZ S EER
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be RIRERIARE °
utilised.
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BAREERZREAERGERER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is based
on the loss for the years attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to be in issue after taking into
account the retrospective adjustments on the assumption
that the company conversion into a joint stock company
(Company’s Capitalization Issue) and the share capital
transfer from capital premium had been in effect on 1
January 2022.

HZE2024F K2023F 12 A31 A L FENE
BEAEBECENIRET AR ERERER
ABIEFABEBRETRARRB ARG A
RAR (RRRERNLETT) RERNRERA
BT N 2022F1 A1 B AKM B L%
REEE T LR MNETHEEE -
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HZE2024F 12 A31HILFE

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BARZEEZEEAELERERE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (&)
(continued)

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in REZ2INFE  ARARBMEERTELRSE
issue during each of the years presented. B EIRAR o
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on: ATEEREREEIER
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Loss EHB
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders &A= L*E m P A AES (557,463) (571,957)
of the parent, used in the basic and B - AR EEREARAR
diluted loss per share calculation %%Eﬂﬁ (AR®TFT)
(RMB’000)
Shares gl
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG EERER R EEIERN 478,540,929 480,943,660
shares assumed to be outstanding during ~ FREHREETERELN
the year used in the basic and diluted InFE 5 2

loss per share calculation

Loss per share (basic and diluted) BEE (EAREE) (1.16) (1.19)
(RMB per share) (BIRARKETT)
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. Y% BEEXE

Computer
Leasehold Plant and Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BENEZE  BEREM  GARKE EERBORE hE ERIE Eh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn
For the year ended 2024 HEWNUELEE
At 1 January 2024: 202451 81A -
Cost AR 150,381 279,514 226 8,305 3,096 493,714 935,236
Accumulated depreciation ZHERAE (29,087) (59,105) (104) (4,188) (1,909) - (94,393)
and impairment
Net carrying amount FEFE 121,294 220,409 122 4117 1,187 493,714 840,843
At 1 January 2024, net of R2024%1R1A - 121,294 220,409 122 4117 1,187 493,714 840,843
accumulated depreciation TREHTERGE
and impairment
Additions AE 523 12 - 3 - 286,409 287,677
Disposals S - (4,64) (17) (12) - - (4,670)
Depreciation provided during the year £M#HER#E (29,952) (34,368) (1) (2,359) (648) - (67,362)
Transfers gz - 284,063 32 580 9 (286,396) (1,712)
At 31 December 2024, net of R2024F 128318 - 91,865 466,175 96 2,365 548 493,727 1,054,776
accumulated depreciation and TREHTERRE
impairment
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 128317
Cost A 150,905 557,844 234 8,787 3,105 493727 1,214,602
Accumulated depreciation and ZERAE (59,040) (91,669) (138) (6,422) (2,557) - (159,826)
impairment
Net carrying amount FAFE 91,865 466,175 9 2,365 548 493,727 1,054,776
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. ¥¥ - BERRE (&)

Computer
Leasehold Plant and Funiture and office Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures equipment vehicles in progress Total
BEMERE  ERERER  HGARKE SERILRE e fRIE @t

RVB'000 RMBO00  RMBOOD  RMB00O RMB000 RMB000 RVB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARMTR ARRFR AREFR ARMAR

For the year ended 2023 HENDEIER
At 1 January 2023: R2023F1 A 18 :
Cost A 30,059 190,064 200 5,050 2,683 381,731 609,787
Accumulated depreciation and ZEHERAE (13,342) (34,162) (94) (2,299) (1,180) - (51,077)
impairment
Net carrying amount FEEE 16,717 155,902 106 2,751 1508 381731 558,710
At 1 January 2023, net of 202351 /1A - 16,717 155,902 106 2,751 1,503 381,731 558,710
accumulated depreciation and TREHTERGE
impairment
Additions AE 461 2,006 56 983 - 340,069 343,575
Disposals 5 - (72) 8) - - (1,878) (1,958)
Depreciation provided during the year £M#HERE (18,415) (26,336) (33) (1,909) (729) - (47,416)
Transfers g3 122,531 88,909 1 2,286 413 (226,208) (12,068)
At 31 December 2023, net of R2023F128318 - 121,294 220,409 122 4117 1,187 493,714 840,843
accumulated depreciation and TREHTERGE
impairment
At 31 December 2023 R2023% 12831
Cost A 150,381 279,514 226 8,305 3,09 493,714 935,236
Accumulated depreciation and ZIERAE (29,087) (59,105) (104) (4,188) (1,909) = (94,399)
impairment

Net carrying amount SEEE 121,094 220,409 122 4117 1,187 493,714 840,843
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14.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

During the year, the Group has lease contracts for
various items of leasehold land and properties used in
its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease
periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
properties generally have lease terms between 2 and 5
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There
is no lease contract that includes extension and termination
options and variable lease payments.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use

14. HE
AEBEEAEEA

FAAKERHEEETFERNSEHEESL
WRMEITZLHEAL - DIRAEL —RMKE
RFAREEWERE 1 - HEIRE05F -
MRBEZSF LA ENRK - B IEEES
HEMFIR - MERE - REHR2EF -
—RMmE  AEBNSEAEBEINIINEER
HBHHEEE - HERSEHEKIEEAN
RASEHENFTNEESL -

(a) ERAREE
FA-AREEREEENEEER

assets and the movements during the year are as FEmr -
follows:
Leasehold
land Properties Total
HELTH LY/ et
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T ARBTT ARBTT
As at 1 January 2023 K2023F1A1H 30,661 41,881 72,542
Additions INE - 4,078 4,078
Disposals o =5 = (20,546) (20,546)
Depreciation charge TEX W (649) (12,035) (12,684)
As at 31 December 2023 1K2023F12H31H 30,012 13,378 43,390
As at 1 January 2024 M2024F1 1R 30,012 13,378 43,390
Additions NE - - _
Disposals k= - (63) (63)
Depreciation charge TEX W (649) (8,039) (8,688)
As at 31 December 2024 1K2024F12H31H 29,363 5,276 34,639

The leasehold land is pledged for the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HE LB A M REM E231
FHRRIT R EMERIEEIR -
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. FHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAHEA ()
(b)  Lease liabilities (b)y THEHE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

FR - HEBBENEEERESN
™

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBT T

Carrying amount at 1 January ®1 A1 BMEREE 19,155 49,612

New leases g - 4,078

Accretion of interest recognised during  F A E MR EF S8 i1 463 1,363
the year (note 7) (FaE7)

Disposals k= (152) (27,151)

Payments (BN (8,627) (8,747)

Carrying amount at the end of the year FARAIREE 10,839 19,155
Analysed into: DL

Current portion mBE D 10,839 14,731

Non-current portion FERENEL - 4,424

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 35 to the financial statements.

The Group applied the practical expedient to
account for a forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments as a variable lease payment to make a
corresponding adjustment to the lease liabilities, in
effect derecognising the part of the lease liabilities
that has been forgiven or waived.

FHEBENRED RIS HREM T
354 -

REEDBETER *EE%%ZH%%AjZ
HReMENREATERENK

HEEBEETIHERE iéffﬁ?éﬂt
BREHEKRIBEHNHEEGEDD

Zx
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. FHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAHEA ()
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) RERERHEAEFMHANSENOT :

to leases are as follows:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 463 1,363
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENES S 8,039 12,035
assets

Expense relating to short-term leases * ARG A SHIF X * 1,297 2,140

Total amount recognised in profit or loss R85 R 45 9,799 15,538

g Included in “Administrative expenses”, “Selling * ARG ER EMEEK S
and distribution expenses” and “Research and KATITEHAR ] [#HERSH
development expenses” in the consolidated Fix ] R HER%] -

statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is set out in note (d) THEMBESKLBBEIHNIBHREKM
30 to the financial statements. 730 °
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GOODWILL 15. BHE
RMB’ 000
AR®T
As at 1 January 2024, R2024F1HA1H 9,305
Acquisition of a subsidiary IeBE — KT B A 7 =
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2024 2024412 A31 B AR A K& EEFE 9,305
As at 31 December 2024: R2024%F 12318 :
Cost B 9,305
Accumulated impairment 2&FHRE =
Net carrying amount IRME A 9,305

Goodwill was acquired from the acquisition of Beijing
ABZYMO on 8 January 2019.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the Group as the CGU (“CGU") for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on a fair value less cost of disposal (‘FVLCD")
method using cash flow projections which has been
considered the highest and best use by market
participants. The cash flow projection covering a 20-year
period reflects current market expectations about the
Group’s future amounts. Using a 20-year forecast period
in the goodwill impairment test has been considered the
best information reasonably available that the market
participants would use. It was appropriate because it
generally takes longer for a vaccine company to reach
perpetual growth mode, compared to companies in other
industries, especially when its products are still under
clinical trial and the market of such product is at an early
stage of development with substantial growth potential.

EEBEN2019F1 ASHWEIt REL B B
HY o

AERENE

EREBAHEBNREIREEAKEE
RBREANANRSEAEM ([REELSE
fiz]) e

ReESBMMAIKRESBIRERFER
HERA ([ AFHEREERA ) 77 A E A
RenBRAEE ZRASZEETS2H
ENRERZERS - RWE20FHNAESR
ERARRE TS H AN E B ARREFENTE
B RABRENATER0FEAHEE
BhmE2RERNRBERNKEER - 1D
BiRE BAREREMITENRFMEL  BE
NREZEBOKEREEA —RFBRHEE - LHE
EEHEMDENBAARER BZER
WS RNERVHEEERERERES -
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15.

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following describes inputs that were used in the
FVLCD of the CGU as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 for
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Revenue - The basis used to determine the projected
revenue which is based on market participant’s expectation
of when to launch the Group’s products and also the
expectation for future market. The Group’s product
candidates, HPV 9-valent vaccine and recombinant
shingles vaccine, are at the clinical trial stage, and the
market participants expect the Group to submit the
Biologics License Application (“BLA”) to the National
Medical Products Administration (“NMPA") for HPV 9-valent
vaccine and recombinant shingles vaccine in 2027. The
compound growth rate of revenue was estimated based
on information available at the time of assessment,
disregarding information that became available after the
assessment. Such information includes current industry
overview and estimated market development of related
products.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the projected gross margins was
the average gross margins that would achieve when
the product candidates are commercialised, and would
be increased for expected improvements of production
efficiency and market development.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate
is based on market expectations of the industry growth rate
and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the industry relevant to the CGU.

Discount rate — The discount rate being used was 14.5% as
at 31 December 2023 and 2024 which was before tax and
reflected the risks relating to the relevant unit estimated by
market participants.

15.

e ()

EERERR (&)

T pETEEREARNES RER
B SR EEEEMPN2024F £ 2023F 12
A31 B AFER T &R AR ARE

Wik — EEEE WS EETER TS S8
HTEHA MBS HE H A S B A E F A KRR TS
MTEH - AEBEMREER (NLEHPVER
MEAERBEERR) ERBRABEE
5 22 B T8 BN 52 [ 15 70 2027 4 [A) B 2R 42
REBEER ([BREER]) R NEHPY
BEREASRESRENEYR QA H
F(EYMRBFTARE]) - RABEERE
TR B GRS EREE  MAZE
AR ESHNER - ZEEANBERBE
MEE R TEME RETTISHE -

BEER® - BEHRTEMTHF0EE
BB A IRIR & S B R A R ALK AR
HERESIREESME RS BENAH
e FHERI% -

MR R — FRARHERE R DERTISY
TREERMTELY  UTRRARRGESSE
AR TR R TIgRE

BhI8 & — ATABRIR R BH 2023 4F [ 2024 4F
12A31H/14.5% @ BRI RRERTHL
EE(HETAA BEBEMER -
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Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
Group utilising the above key assumptions, the recoverable
amount of the CGU estimated from the cash flow forecast
exceeded the carrying amount of goodwill and no

impairment was considered necessary.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of related products and the pre-tax discount
rate are consistent with external information sources.

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions:

The management of the Company has performed sensitivity
test by decreasing 1% of expected revenue, deceasing 1%
of budgeted gross margins, decreasing 1% of the terminal
growth rate or increasing 1% of the pre-tax discount rate,

with all other assumptions held constant. The impacts on
the amount by which the CGU’s recoverable amount above
its carrying amount (headroom) are as follows:

B 5 ¥R R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

e (%)
BB R ENE ()

RIBAEEMNA L+ 2RFBAETHRER
i REeREBRMAETNREELFEMA
Yol BEEHEENREE - WRRBAE
HIRE °

RERBERM S ERN T ERREVA
EEEETE’JT R ERSNEPE R R — 2K

BARBREHOHRE

AAREREDBBAEERKERN1% « &
RIEEEFEM1% - FEKIFEREN1%
38 AN AT BE IR R A1 % T EURE BIE
METBEMBRRRETE - REELBMNN
AlESEBHEREAENTE (F=) 0
T :

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBTTT

Headroom FE 2,963,391 4,186,320

Impact by decreasing expected revenue FRETBEI =2 (56,396) (49,390)

Impact by decreasing budgeted BREBEEMNENFE (228,975) (72,309)
gross margins

Impact by decreasing terminal growth rate  FR{ER k1% KR LE (148,949) (148,995)

Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate & 11%: AT BL IR R A 2 (837,344) (841,934)

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based

on the assessment,

the management of the Company

believes that a reasonably possible change in the above
key parameters would not cause the carrying amount of the

CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

ZRIBBEFENERANFZE - KAF

BEERRLBEE %&E’V—\@T%‘%Z@JT\A
BYRLELBNNEEEBLET KD S
B e
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HMEREE

In-progress
research and
development

Software technology Total
BMEHPH
B4 T 3 H i st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T T AR¥T AR¥T T
31 December 2024 2024%F12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of R202441 A1 HKIRKZS - 19,006 22,120 41,126
accumulated amortisation B B85
Transfers from construction in EETREA 1,712 - 1,712
progress
Amortisation provided during the 4 A ET IR (5,406) - (5,406)
year
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12H31H 15,312 22,120 37,432
At 31 December 2024: R2024% 128318 :
Cost 4N 25,549 22,120 47,669
Accumulated amortisation RETEEH (10,237) - (10,237)
Net carrying amount BRmEFE 15,312 22,120 37,432
31 December 2023 2023%12A31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of 20231 A1 HAKIRKA 11,385 22,120 33,505
accumulated amortisation Bk R 5T 5
Transfers from construction in EETREEA 12,068 — 12,068
progress
Amortisation provided during the TR 54 (4,447) = (4,447)
year
At 31 December 2023 MR2023F12H31H 19,006 22,120 41,126
At 31 December 2023 and at 1 R2023F 12 A31 8 &R
January 2024: 2024F1A1H :
Cost BN 23,837 22,120 45957
Accumulated amortisation R (4,831) = (4,831)
Net carrying amount BREHE 19,006 22,120 41,126
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment testing of intangible assets

The intangible assets represented the in-progress research
and development (“R&D”) technology acquired in relation
to Beijing ABZYMO acquisition.

The in-progress R&D technology is amortised using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives when
available for use. The recoverable amount of in-progress
R&D technology has been determined based on a FVLCD
method using cash flow projections having taken into
account of the highest and best use by market participants.
The cash flow projections covering a 20-year period, as
referenced by the useful life of the patent, reflected the
current market expectations related to the future economic
benefits of the in-progress R&D technology. Using a 20-
year forecast period for the in-progress R&D technology
impairment test is appropriate because the technology
is still in progress and its useful life is expected to be
20 years which is estimated by considering the period
of the economic benefits to the Group. It generally takes
longer for the HPV 9-valent vaccine to be launched in the
market and generate benefits to the Group, compared to
companies in other industries, especially when the Group’s
product candidate — HPV 9-valent vaccine is still under
clinical trial and the market of such product is at an early
stage of development with substantial growth potential.

16.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

HitEEEE (&)
BREEERENRA

BEAERARANBIER T A BREMES
B P B P AR 3R (T AT 3% ) S0l ©

7 25 O BT R AT A S B A AR AR AR B AR i R
AERFREREREEE - FREPOHTE
Pl ey AT UL (3] & R T ARAR X R H B AR
TAKERREERERETE - ZEASE
BmE2EENERIRERR - KE20
FHNRLREBFEN (2ZBZEMH AL
FHY) RBRE BT 5 5 5 OB R R
RELEMBEATAR o AR BT IDER F 3R
B BFEHIAEAFERA205F (BREBAE
By EEN SRR - WERAE RO
BERMTRERSEA0FEASRBSE - &
H{TRMRARMEL  NMEHPVEREBES
EEREHAELTESAEEEE N
LERAEENREERNEHPVRE AR
RERAARER - AtBEMNTHER A
BREIRRE IR TR -
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16.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued)

Revenue — The basis used to determine the projected
revenue, which was based on market participants’
expectation of when to launch one of the Group’s
product candidates — HPV 9-valent vaccine, and also the
expectation of the future market. HPV 9-valent vaccine is at
the clinical trial stage, and the market participants expect
the Group to submit the Biologics License Application
(“BLA") to the National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”) for this vaccine in 2027. The compound growth
rate of revenue was estimated based on information
disregarding
information that became available after the assessment.
Such information includes current industry overview and
estimated market development of related products.

available at the time of assessment,

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the projected gross margins was
the average gross margins that would achieve when
the HPV 9-valent vaccine is commercialised, and would
be increased for expected improvements of production
efficiency and market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate being used was 15.5%
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 which was before tax
and reflected the risks relating to the in-progress R&D
technology.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
Group utilising the above key inputs, the recoverable
amount of the in-progress R&D technology estimated from
the cash flow forecast exceeded its carrying amount and
no impairment was considered necessary.

16.

HitEEEE (&)
BREERERNR (&)

sk — BEEBAKREHEEDERTHRH
%E%ﬁhﬁﬁ$%lfwﬁmz—fhﬁ
HPVZE & R ARRMISHTELS - LWEHPVER
BRRBERARMKE  EMBELHEEBFHAS
ERo027FRBREREEETER ([H
REER ) IRXZEBNEYR R RS
(EYVERFIRB]) - WAEESERET
RIB G ] SR ERHMEET - MAE BT
MEAIESNER - ZEEHBEEBER
WERTTERE RGNS RE -

EE

BEEMNE - BEHE THEAENXNEE
PTAMEESNEBHPVEE S EIRE E(LRE
EYERAHARGERRERTHERMA
PTIE DNEYFI9FER XK o

BYIR R — 20244 N 2023412 A31 BEHAH
BEIRE A15.5% * ABRTA M REFAZEFH
B R A &R o

REASEER LA 2HARBETAOR
B - AEt kB RS RERNNAEHH
BRI O S EE L EREE - 83
RBAELRE -
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. H\EEEE (&)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued) EREERENR (&)
Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions: FARBRSEHNHXRE
The management of the Company has performed sensitivity AAREEEERBREREBEIHARKZZANI%
test by decreasing 1% of expected revenue, deceasing 1% PR TE B £ F A9 1% sk 38 AN FR AT AL IR £/
of budgeted gross margins, or increasing 1% of the pre-tax %i&”@l JERIE - MATB A M ERFRARRFT
discount rate, with all other assumptions held constant. The % o [ EE R KB BB Y A Uk B REAER HE A
impacts on the amount by which the recoverable amount of EE@TEE’] B (FE)WT
the in-progress R&D technology above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as follows:
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBETIT
Headroom HE 1,191,880 1,141,800
Impact by decreasing expected revenue FRETEE Il = 2 (5,400) (8,300)
Impact by decreasing budgeted R TEEEN 2 (50,300) (49,500)
gross margins
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate 38 HNF% AT AL IR R §/ 2L (90,700) (102,500)

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based
on the assessment, the management of the Company
believes that a reasonably possible change in the above
key parameters would not cause the carrying amount of
the in-progress R&D technology to exceed its recoverable
amount.

%J‘EKME?J{“EWEWEE%E’D‘%% F AREE

ERR LT E2HNAIER L
%ﬁlﬁ-ﬂ%ﬁ?qﬂ BRI 3 £ 10 B BR T (BB R AT
BlE&8 -
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17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 17. HtuERBEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEYE BEK 72,790 118,410

plant and equipment RABEMTER RIE

Long-term deferred assets* RHEREEE" 71,303 =
Deposits — non current** e — FERNER 3,900 2,400
Prepayment for long-term insurance*** = BRIRBR Y TR SR IE 958 1,430
Total et 148,951 122,240

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no time deposits

with a maturity date of one year later.

* These are long-term assets deferred over their useful
lives.
bl This is the prepayment for long-term insurance, which

will expire in September 2027. The Company signed

finance lease contracts with Zhongguancun Science-

Tech Leasing Co., Ltd. (“Zhongguancun”) with regard

to the sale and leaseback for certain equipments, of

which the related deposit being paid to Zhongguancun

amounted to RMB3,900,000.

MR2024F12A318  AEBWER|HA A
—FEMETR ©

BRI A ERFHARRERN R

o AEHARROENFKIE - L HR
20274F9 A RIH o A1) B B R
HEBRMARDE (THEN D ET
REHEEROARTRERESH
Heh @ B R RE S AR
3,900,0007T °

iy This is the prepayment for long-term insurance, which o tAEERBHRROESNZE > TER

will expire in September 2027. 2027F9 A RIH]

18. INVENTORIES 18. #E

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Raw materials R 76,138 100,977
Provision for inventories FERE (13,839) (7,227)
Total BET 62,299 93,750
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BARE Rt ERREREEE

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T AR®ET T

Prepayments for raw materials R RR FE A k8 1,181 24,326

Prepayment for research and development #1253z /) FE 1 30 IE 2,740 4,433

expenses

Deposits TR 2,032 2,778

Value-added tax recoverable A Y O] B E R 93,892 38,569

Prepayment for shares purchased under BIE 2022 F HAR B BT 8152 33,213 46,649
2022 H share incentive scheme (note 27)  ARDEYTEN 7/ (Mi5£27)

Others H 3,226 6,442

Total FoE 136,284 123,197

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at the end of each of the
reporting periods, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

Value-added tax recoverable represents input VAT related
to property, plant and equipment acquired and research
and development expenses incurred which are expected
to be recovered either through refund from tax bureaus
or to be utilised in the future to offset the output VAT. The
amounts are expected to be recovered within one year and
thus are recorded as current assets.

FAALAEBNSREERTNY BEAER K
BHRELENERIEER  REREH
R BEBBRFEREETAK -

AR EREREREBEYE - BE M&RE
AR B EEMIT XA B EREER
BEHE BB BRFKE K A & BRIEN
SHIRIE(ET - TR AR — F AU E A RRE
ERBEE -
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20.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 20.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND TIME DEPOSITS

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits

REeERRSSEYARCERERK
EHER

RERRSEEMUARCEREN

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

Cash at banks HRITRE 327,271 912,426
Less: Pledged deposits B BEERTER (8,231) (77,443)
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeZEEY 319,040 834,983
Denominated in: LATR%IIE B &HE :

RMB AR 217,127 247,104
UsSbD ETT 99,109 509,223
HKD BT 2,804 78,656
Total st 319,040 834,983

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,

however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorized to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

ARBTAEmEBAEMER - A - R
ERE R CINER RGP R (HEE - SE
RNEEEBRE)  AEBEFEERBER
RETTINERFRIRTHARB LB HAM
=

RITHERREARITERN KR ZF BN KGR
WMAE - |RITHBKLEERFREFRAEE
R4F BT EA0 30 R AR SR AV ERTT ©
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PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND TIME DEPOSITS
(continued)

Time deposits with original maturity of more than
three months

B 5 ¥R R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31HILFE

20. RERREEEWUARCERERR
EHER (#)

FEHBBRBE=EANEHEN

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Time deposits with original maturity of FRRHABGE=

more than three months*

LA & BF R 129,275 =

Time deposits with original maturity of REHARBB=

more than three months

1 A 89 Bi1F 129,275 -

Denominated in: LATR %118 B 5HE

RMB AR 45,890 -
usD o 83,385 -
Total BET 129,275 =
* Time deposits are made for depending on the . EHTF AR T A& B A BN 3R & ZE ki

immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn
interest at the time deposit rates. The time deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

TE 0 WIRTE B SRR R ERERFS, o E 5
TR AL EAY S (RS2 BV 58 R 4
HERTTA
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21. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 21.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is

ESRAREARENRE

RBERR - EHRNFBERENZERE

ERBAMNRETAOT

as follows:

2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Within 1 year —F R 41,603 113,918
Over 1 year HBiE—F 18,186 1,163
Total 45t 59,789 115,081
Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are B O RENRBREMEETTE - —RRE

normally settled within the normal operating cycle. WEERRASEE -

= =
22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22. HtEAREARESEA
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Deposits received from vendors BE 5 B miLE 6,450 19,814
Payable for property, plant and equipment  EfRI¥% - BE &R E 7K E 59,751 24,060
Accrued research and development JEEHI 3SR 2 134,761 85,140
expenses
Accrued renovation and construction JEETEE R EEMAS 20,401 89,570
expenses

Staff payroll, welfare and bonus payables  JEfF B TH Bl - &7 MIEAT 25,054 33,683
Other payables H fth A 5RIE 22,997 15,849
Total st 269,414 268,116

Other payables and accruals of the Group are non-interest-
bearing and have an average term of three months.

AEENEMENFBEREAERAR2ER

FHHRA=MEEA -
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 23. ESHBITRHEMMER
BORROWINGS
2024 2023
20245 2023F
Effective interest Effective interest
rate per annum % Maturity ~ RMB’000 rate per annum % Maturity RMB'000
BRERE%) HHA  ARETx ERERIZ(%) MR ARETR
Current
Bank loans - secured* K- A 5-year LPR* 2025 19,929 5-year LPR 2024 4,800
SEHLPR* 20255 5EELPR 20245
Bank loans - secured - R 1-year LPR+10bps - 2025 30,807 - = -
1-year LPR+30bps
1EHLPRMIVEEL S 20255
1EHLPRIMIOEES
Bank loans - unsecured B3 - ®ER 1-year LPR-25bps - 2025 146,614 1-year LPR - 2024 25,825
1-year LPR+35bps 1-year LPR+350bps
1£HLPRE2BEELE 2025% 1E£5LPRE 245
1EHLPRINSEEE 1EHLPRINSH EEE
Bank loans - unsecured BER - EiE 3.45% 2025 32,758 = =
20254
Bank loans - unsecured RITER - BEM 3.15% 2025 10,026 = = =
20254
Bank loans - unsecured TEH - EEF 3.30% 2025 32,876 = = =
20255
Borrowings related to sale and ~ EEREEBEMIEZ 6.07% - 6.7% 2025 26,347 6.7% 2024 15,682
leaseback™*
2025 20246
Other loan™** e 3.81% 2025 200,021 = = =
20254
Non-Current FEH
Bank loans - secured 183 - R 5-year LPR  2026-2028 172,477 Syear LPR  2025-2028 195,200
SEMLPR 202652 SESIPR  2026%FE
228 2028
Bank loans - secured RITET - BER 1-year LPR+10bps -  2026-2028 26,832 - - -
1-year LPR+30bps
1EHLPRINMOERSE 202662
1EHLPRINIOEES 20284
Bank loans - unsecured BOER - BHR 1-year LPR-25bps - 2026-2027 135,210 1-year LPR-  2025-2026 364,938
1-year LPR+35bps 1-year LPR+35bps
1EHLPREBEELZ 2026% 1E5lPRE  2026%%
\EHLPRISEEE  Zo027% 1EfLPRINGERY  20%F
Bank loans - unsecured B - BEH 3.15%  2026-2027 20,000 - - -
2026%5%
20275
Borrowings related to sale and £/ BT A BIA{E 7+ 6.07%6.7%  2026-2027 24,359 6.7% 2026 25,195
leaseback™**
2026%5% 2026%
202745
Total @it 878,256 631,640
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23.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

*

*%

Kok ok ok

LPR (Loan Prime Rate) is the basic loan reference rate
calculated and published by the National Interbank
Funding Center authorised by the People’s Bank of
China.

The borrowing was secured by leasehold land, and
bear a floating interest rate.

The borrowings amounting to RMB50,707,000 (31
December 2023: RMB40,877,000) were related to a
finance lease contract with Zhongguancun Science-
Tech Leasing Co., Ltd. (“Zhongguancun”), which were
secured by mortgages over the sale and leaseback
equipment, and bear a fixed interest rate with 6.7%.

The borrowings amounting to RMB200,000,000 (31
December 2023: nil) was provided by Yangtze River
Pharmaceutical. with a repayment date of 31 March
2025, which were unsecured, and bear a fixed interest
rate with 3.81%. Subsequent to 31 December 2024,
the Company entered into a supplementary agreement
with Yangtze River Pharmaceutical, pursuant to which
Yangtze River Pharmaceutical has consented to extend
the repayment period of the borrowing up to 1 April
2026.

23.

HERTREMER (H)

*%

Kok ok ok

LPR (B3 EHAIR) Ak E A RRTHE
e 2 BRI R A IR R DA E D A
HRERERBEFIR -

fEFRATEE T b (EEIR - F BRI KRG

o

HEAENMREAEROBRAR ([
D) ZEITNRERER NABNERS
AR ¥50,707,0007T (2023412 A 31
B : AR#40,877,0007T) * 5% f& KA
EREEREOIRBERR - 26.7%
B & TE M R G o

AR%200,000,0007T (20234 12 A 31
B:Z)WERBE FIEERYE &
KEHA2025F3A31H « AEEH -
EEFEE3.81% ° 120244 12 A 31
Bz#%  AAREBFIIHERT—H
W BHBE T IZEREBER
MERPHRRLEKRE2026F4A18 -
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Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31HILFE

Analysed into: DT :
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®ET T
Analysed into: SR -
Bank loans and overdrafts repayable: EEENRITERRES
Within one year or on demand —FARIZEK 273,010 30,625
In the second year o4 193,020 250,832
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FI3EFLF  BIEHEMRE 161,499 309,306
Subtotal et 627,529 590,763
Other borrowings repayable: FEEENHMER
Within one year —F R 226,431 15,682
In the second year F2F 18,973 16,516
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEIEFSF  BEEEMSF 5,323 8,679
Subtotal /NEF 250,727 40,877
Total HET 878,256 631,640
24. DEFERRED INCOME 24. EIZEIWRA
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®ET T
Government grants BT #85 B) 58,904 75,811

Government grants received related to assets invested in

BERRFEHDERENRBEBENEES

equipment and plant were credited to deferred income and B ST ABREWA - WRIEEEEMTEEA]

are recognised as income over the expected useful lives of

the relevant assets.

ERFHRERSWA -
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25.

DEFERRED TAX 25. EEBIIEA
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE
2024
2024 %
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition of Right-of-use
subsidiaries assets Total
W B B R 2 B
EEW
RFEFE EREEE st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%T T ARBT ARBT T
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12 A31H 5,530 2,691 8,221
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the REREEZEERMN - (1,602) (1,602)
statement of profit or loss during the Bk (5t A) BIELE
year I8
Exchange differences ME 5 R - = =
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 K2024F 12831 H 5,530 1,089 6,619
December 2024 HERER IR B B
]
Deferred tax assets BEEBBEEE
2024
2024 %
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
RMB’ 000
AR¥T T
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12 A31H 2,691
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit ~ HRFERNBBZERT AN ELERIE (1,602)
or loss during the year
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2024 2024512 A31 HHELFIBE E A% 1,089
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DEFERRED TAX (continued)

25. EZEBIIE (8)

Deferred tax liabilities EEREERE
2023
20234
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition of Right-of-use
subsidiaries assets Total
U B 8 1 )
EER
NEEFRE FEREEE HBET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT ARET T ARET T
At 31 December 2022 R2022% 12 A31H 5,530 - 5,530
Effect of adoption of amendments to R4V EIFR &85 - 8,357 8,357
IAS 12 1253 BRI R 2 &
At 1 January 2023 (restated) R2023F 118 (& 5,530 8,357 13,887
=51)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the REREBZEERMN = (5,666) (5,666)
statement of profit or loss during the B (5t A) EYIERE
year (restated) TIE (&)
Exchange differences MEHZERE = = =
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 M2023%F 1231 H 5,530 2,691 8,221
December 2023 (restated) RIREF I8 & E8
B (& E5)
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE
2023
20234
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
RMB’000
ARBTIT
At 31 December 2022 K2022F 12831 H -
Effect of adoption of amendments to IAS 12 RABEBR S ERE125R BT A 2 & 8,357
At 1 January 2023 (restated) K2023F1 18 (&LE75) 8,357
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit ~RERNBEBRRT ARELER A (5,666)
or loss during the year (restated) (&%)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023 2023 12 A31 HHELEFIBE E 4258 2,691

(restated) (gE75)
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25.

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position, The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

ERERE (4])
RERME  ETECHEEERAGREN

MBRARAEE - ARBEEM B RERSE
HRETRIRAE RO T

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
(Restated)
(E75)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in RERE G ARR R N TER A 5,530 5,530
the consolidated statement of financial FIERIE & (& FRE
position
Net deferred tax liabilities in respect of BRI EREEFKRRERE 5,530 5,530
continuing operations BEFE
26. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 26. HMFERBERS
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Accrued renovation and construction JEETEE R BEER T 68,901 =
expenses®
Payable for property, plant and equipment* FEf4% - = LR #ERE* 59,275 =
Total #Et 128,176 =

The amount primarily comprises the non-current portions
of accrued renovation and construction expenses and
property, plant & equipment payables, which are not
contractually due within one year.

ZH AT R BREREREEMTIARE
NWE - BERREBFRNIFERE D - I
FRBAOGERN—FREH -
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SHARE CAPITAL/TREASURY SHARES 27. RBRE /BEEFER
Shares B 15
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Issued and fully paid: BEEITREE
482,963,000 (2023: 482,963,000) ordinary 482,963,000/% (20234 : 482,963 482,963
shares 482,963,000 %) @A

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital RABIRAEBBFN T -

is as follows:

Share capital [N Total

“st
RMB’ 000
AR®T

As at 31 December 2023 #K2023F 12 A31H 482,963

As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12H31H 482,963

Treasury shares EFR Total

#st

RMB’ 000

AR®T

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023%F 12 A31H &2024%F181H (54,005)

Shares purchased under 2022 H Share Incentive RI%2022F HRL B Eh =T 218 A A (14,276)
Scheme (a) B 7 (a)

As at 31 December 2024 MK2024F12A31H (68,281)

Note: Bia -

(a) On 16 September 2022, shareholders of the Group (a) R2022F 916 H » NEBREALE
approved the adoption of the 2022 H share incentive RAN2022 FHAL B B sT 2l ([ 202245 H
scheme (the “2022 H Share Incentive Scheme”). RS E TRl ) o iRIE2022 FEHAR S B ET
Pursuant to the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme, a 2 XFEAR2024FLARBARE
total of 1,787,000 shares were purchased from the 14,276,0007T (R X ) R=_HK M5
secondary market by the trustee under the scheme at a L AS 1,787,000 A% %5 °

total consideration of RMB14,276,000 before expenses
during 2024.
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28.

29.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s reserves
and the movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and in the statement of financial position of the
Company in note 36 to the financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted share award schemes (the
“Schemes”) for certain personnel in order to recognise and
reward the contribution of certain directors and employees
(“Granted employees”) to the growth and development
of the Group, and retain eligible employees for the
continuous operation and development of the Group.
During the year, the Group granted equity interests of the
Company under the Schemes through Taizhou Ruibaitai
Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (L.P.)) (“Ruibaitai”)
and Lianyungang Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical Technology
Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaihe”). Both of Ruibaitai and
Ruibaihe are controlled by the general partners of the
partnerships.

On 25 March 2021, 2.2% of the then equity interests in the
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of the
Company for a consideration of RMB12,738,000 through
Ruiwenshibole. There was no vesting period for these
equity interest granted.

On 25 March 2021, 2.8% of the then equity interests in the
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of the
Company for a consideration of RMB16,212,000 through
Ruibaitai. The vesting period and vesting condition of the
scheme were as follows.

In May 2021, 0.1038% of the then equity interests
(equivalent to 46,544 shares before the Share Allotment,
and 465,436 as adjusted after the Share Allotment) in
the Company were forfeited due to the resignation of one
employee, and were transferred to another employee as
newly granted share awards.

28.

29.

e

RAFREFRBEFE ARERARE
BB LEHNUERRMEI6 2R R
BHRMARBFHRAKREZST

MR A0 SR BT &

ARRRBETAEBRAT RO EZEE (T
g UREEEBETEZLER ([ER
BEDEAEERENRERNER  XAK
SENHELERERREAERESR - 1
FA - AEEBEBRNGEREENRER
X (BRER) ([hA%k]) REZERAM
BEMRABEE (ARAR) (IHEM)DE
SEI TR T ARRRBE - In B 2= Lin B M
VHAEBRET ERE B AZES -

MK2021F3 250 © KRRI2.2%H & RFAX
EBBE B AR 12,738,000 7T HY
REBEFARAMIBRTET  ZSTERR
WD RSB HA o

R2021F3 8258 * KRRI2.8%H ERAX

ERERARUARE16,212,000 TR E

BRYIAREIMNZETERE  ZrEINEBH
BB IR o

M2021F5H  B—HEBSFBRMIKEAR
7]0.1038% #Y & By Ak i (488 P AR 17 B 3% Al
B146,544 B8k 0+ R0 B AL AR
465,436 %) + WE AT LR RE MR
FR—%ES -
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

During July to November 2021, 0.0175% of the then equity
interests (equivalent to 78,533 shares) in the Company
were forfeited due to the resignation of two employees and
were transferred to another employee as newly granted
share awards.

On 27 September 2021, 1.1% of the then equity interests
(equivalent to 4,925,832 shares) in the Company were
granted to 19 selected employees of the Company for a
consideration of RMB9,572,000 through Ruibaihe. The 1.1%
equity interest aforementioned was transferred from Mr.
Yong Liu which has met the vesting condition and thus was
regarded as newly granted share awards.

During May to September 2022, 0.0727% of the then equity
interests (equivalent to 325,878 shares) in the Company
were forfeited due to the resignation of two employees and
were transferred to another employee as newly granted
share awards.

During 2023, 0.2048% of the then equity interests
(equivalent to 989,290 shares) in the Company were
forfeited due to the resignation of seven employees and
were transferred to another employee as newly granted
share awards.

During 2024, 0.0095% of the then equity interests
(equivalent to 45,881 shares) in the Company were
forfeited due to the resignation of one employee, and were
transferred to another employee as newly granted share
awards.

On 18 April 2024, share incentives totalling 4,133,045
shares were granted to 95 employees. The Group
subsequently measures these equity-settled share-based
payments.

29.
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IR 10 S =t & (&)

R2021FE7AEI1 A AMEBEEEHRM
SRULZAN A F0.0175% B0 & B AR (Mg R
78,633 & 1n) + WEAFIE L ARG BB
HETS—ZES -

R2021F 9278 * ARAGE1.1% M & KX
# (FHE 14,925,832 %% (7 ) & BT B A A
AR¥9,572 000 LR ER TFTARF 195
BEEE - P11 %BRECHIIBLAE
EMABRECRABBIGNG  WZER
PR AR B FTIR AR 52 E -

MN2022FE5 8298 AMAEEEBRM
SRR RNTF0.0727% W BB BRE (HBER
325,878k ) + WHERFTH T AR D 2B M
HET S —ZES -

MN2023%F - AtAEEFHBMIAMARF
0.2048% H) & I Ik 1 (1B E 7 989,290 Ik iR
7)) WEAFEHBRMERMEET S —
ZE8 -

MN2024%F - A—ZEEFHBMIAMARF
0.0095% /) & B i i (FAE 745,881 Ik ik
7)) WEAMBRLRMEDNmMERET S —
ZES -

MN2024F4 5188 @ ERFISHEEA R
4,133,045 B D B AX 10 528 - AEBEH 1%
STEZEUARND BEMARAEE MK -
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29. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 29. KRHEBEE (E)
The vesting period and vesting condition of the granted FERIHAREmBNMERERENSTEBEAR
equity interests through Ruibaitai and Ruibaihe were as IRHEOTR o
follows.
Vesting % Vesting Period
BB Bl% 58
20% (i) if employment with the Group exceeds two years: 20% of the share awards granted

can be vested at grant date; (ii) otherwise, the vesting period is defined as grant date
through the date reaching two years’ employment with the Group

(i) WAEEEABAMT : HKERMDEBHH20%RFTLEBEHSEE (VB8 - FEBHATEA
REBH  BEEASEERBHREAMEAR

20% 3 years
KE:3
60% 5 years

54
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 29. RHEBEE (E)

The vesting period and vesting condition of the granted
equity interests under the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme
during the year were as follows.

HREBIREMNT o

Equity granted to the Chief Quality Officer

2022 FHRR FEN AT B F NE B HIRERN F B

RTEFEEENRE
Price Target
Vesting % Vesting Period Performance Target (HKD)
HERLEB% SR REBE BRBEEGERT)
25% 2024/12/1 1. Completion and adjustment of the HPV vaccine industrial base.
2024/12/1 1. SERRNEFEEHPV & & B S E i o
2. Phase | clinical trial enrollment for the shingles vaccine. 24.80
2. BB EE NI BERARET R
15% 2025/12/1 1. Completion of clinical approval application for the HPV vaccine.
2025/12/1 1. SERXHPV R H B R AR AL FR B R BR o
2. Initiation of Phase Il clinical trial enrollment for the shingles 37.20
vaccine.
2. RBERAPEENNISHEASBERL -
20% 2026/12/1 1. Completion of biologics license application submission
acceptance for the HPV vaccine.
2026/12/1 1. TAHPVE & A AR @Al BF IR X IR
2. Submission of registration application materials for the shingles 49.60
vaccine completed.
2. RE RO ERARS R E IR M RS H o
20% 2027/12/1 1. The HPV vaccine has obtained marketing authorization.
2027/12/1 1. HPVE B 15 ETHATA o
2. The shingles vaccine has obtained marketing authorization. 62.00
2. BB R E S ETATA o
20% 2028/12/1 74.40

2028/12/1
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29. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 29. KRHEBEE (E)
Equity granted to the Deputy General Manager
BT B ST 1 IR
Price Target
Vesting % Vesting Period Performance Target (HKD)
BB BI% SR e = BREE(GER)
10% 2024/12/1 1. Completion and adjustment of the HPV vaccine industrial base.
2024/12/1 1. FERC L FHEEHPV R 2 53 o
2. Phase | clinical trial enrollment for the shingles vaccine. 24.80
2. WA E E A | BRER AR S BR B A o
15% 2025/12/1 1. Completion of clinical approval application for the HPV vaccine.
2025/12/1 1. SERXHPV R H B R AR AL FR B R BR o
2. Initiation of Phase Il clinical trial enrollment for the shingles 37.20
vaccine.
2. MEBERAELEEOIIRRARER
20% 2026/12/1 1. Completion of biologics license application submission
acceptance for the HPV vaccine.
2026/12/1 1. SERXHPVR E B AR mTA RERIXIE -
2. Submission of registration application materials for the shingles 49.60
vaccine completed.
2. REEROFRBL R ERZAMBFME -
25% 2027/12/1 1. The HPV vaccine has obtained marketing authorization.
2027/12/1 1. HPVE E B &S LW -
2. The shingles vaccine has obtained marketing authorization. 62.00
2. BB R E B S ETATA o
30% 2028/12/1 74.40

2028/12/1




29.

Annual Report 2024
—E-mEER

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥R R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 29. RHEBEE (E)
Shares granted to the remaining employees
BRTFHATREENRG
Price Target
Vesting % Vesting Period Performance Target (HKD)
BB B1% SR 3= BERBEE(GER)
30% 2024/12/1 1. Completion and adjustment of the HPV vaccine industrial base.
2024/12/1 1. SERC I FHEEHPV R M 2 53 -
2. Phase | clinical trial enrollment for the shingles vaccine. 24.80
2. Wi E A | BRER AR SR B A o
30% 2025/12/1 1. Completion of clinical approval application for the HPV vaccine.
2025/12/1 1. SERXHPV R H B R AR AL FR B R BR o
2. Initiation of Phase Il clinical trial enrollment for the shingles 37.20
vaccine.
2. MEBERAELEEOIIRRRARERL
40% 2026/12/1 1. Completion of biologics license application submission
acceptance for the HPV vaccine.
2026/12/1 1. SERHPVE E B A R mETA RERIXIE -
2. Submission of registration application materials for the shingles 49.60
vaccine completed.
2. REERWFRBL R BRI AMBFEME -

If none of the vesting conditions are met, the corresponding
vesting period will automatically be extended by one year.

The fair value of services received in return for a share
award granted is measured by reference to the fair value
of the share award granted less the consideration received
by the Group. The fair value of the share award granted
is measured as the market value at the grant date, for
the year of 2023 and 2024, the closing share price as of
the grant date is used as a reference of the fair value of
the shares, while for the year of 2021, the fair value is
determined using the discounted cash flow approach. Key
assumptions including the discount rate, terminal growth
rate and DLOM are required to be determined by the
directors of the Company with best estimate.

W EHE RIS HENEERSE S
JE&R—4F o

RIFHB G ZE MBI REAFELE
B HRG 2R A T E R A S =R R (E
FTE c BRHEMRMDEENAFERRAO IR
H B TS EEE - R20234F %2024
F o HEERLABRZKMENEAROATFE
Bz2%  MR2021E 2 A ETFEMER
RERAAETE - TEHRJ[(BEM/RE -
BimiE RERRZ MG REIEITINE) AR
RARERUAREMFTERE o

237



238

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
STERRENRRRAERAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

29.

30.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 29. KRHEBEE (E)

Grant during 2021

72021 FHARERH
Discount rate BRIR &K 14.5% — 16%
Terminal growth rate iR umig R 0%
DLOM BRZ TigmENIE ST = 7.0% - 15%
During the year ended 31 December 2024, share-based B ZE2024F12A31HILFE UK AE
payments of RMB33,658,000 (2023: RMB41,893,000) were RS SR A R #33,658,0007T (20234F A
charged to profit or loss. R#41,893,0007T) KRBz HIK °
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30. #SReReREBXRMT

OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
nil (2023: RMB4,078,000), in respect of lease
arrangements for properties.

The Group had non-cash additions to administrative
expenses, selling and distribution expenses
and research and development costs of
RMB19,760,000, RMB1,005,000 and RMB12,893,000
(2023: RMB28,781,000, RMB1,379,000 and
RMB11,733,000), respectively, in respect of share
award schemes.

The Group had non-cash declines to Interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings-current
of RMB3,563,000 (2023: nil), in respect of the
repayment period extension.

(a)

TEFRERS

FR - ANEBEGMERELERNER
BEEMMEAENIEREAELRS
(20234 : AR¥4,078,0007T) °

RO REFEIME - AEBTHA
¥ HE RS AT R AR IE
BERNED B AAR®E19,760,000
7T AR#1,005,000c R AR
12,893,0007T (20234 : AR
28,781,000 T * ARK#¥1,379,0007T
M AR#11,733,0007T) °

MEREFRPME » AEBERT
MEMTEERNIERSHEAAR
#3,563,0007T (20234 : &) o
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30. SREBE&RERME (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RETBHELENEEEST
activities
Bank and Lease
other loans liabilities Total
RITR
Hi & & HESE Mat

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR AR®TR AR%¥TxR

At 1 January 2024 R2024%1A1H 631,640 19,155 650,795
Additions NE 305,242 - 305,242
Disposals HE - (152) (152)
Interest expense FE RS 26,758 463 27,221
Payment (BN (85,384) (8,627) (94,011)
Including: 2k
— Changes from financing cash flows — B&EH T iz % (77,060) (8,627) (85,687)
— Changes from investing cash flows — REH 27528 (8,324) - (8,324)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%F 12 A31H 878,256 10,839 889,095

Bank and Lease

other loans liabilities Total
HRITR
HEMER MERE 45t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREBTT ARSI

At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1H1H 233,015 49,612 282,627
Additions NE 408,871 4,078 412,949
Disposals HE = (27,151) (27,151)
Interest expense M BFX 19,989 1,363 21,352
Payment (BN (30,235) (8,747) (38,982)
Including: 2k

— Changes from financing cash flows — BEH T TEZE) (22,449) (8,747) (31,196)
— Changes from investing cash flows — RE&EHE 2 7E %8 (7,786) = (7,786)

At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 631,640 19,155 650,795
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30.

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

REREREBRMEE (H)

(c) HERSRHUAHE
AARERERNEENRERE A

BT
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBEFT T

Within operating activities K TRENA 1,297 2,140

Within financing activities REEEA 8,627 8,747

Total #ET 9,924 10,887
31. COMMITMENTS 31. &iE

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

MBEHRR - AEBEHERAEWT

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Contracted, but not provided for: EHEEIDE S
Buildings BF 232,247 25,487
Plant and machinery B KBS 149,528 50,680
Total “ast 381,775 76,167
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BEBAEXRS
The Group had no transactions with related parties during AN 68 B R A 3 A BB B 5 HETTEIAX S o
the year. The Group had no outstanding balances with NG (B R R T SR BB M A A o
related parties.
Compensation of key management personnel of the AEERAREEABTH :
Group:
The remuneration of directors, supervisors and the chief B EERGaRTBRABSHREEASR
executive of key management was as follows: B F N T -
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARKETTT
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e B4 SRR EYH = 6,991 11,974
benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHK 374 364
Share-based payments LA RS9 4 ZE 0 8 51 3K 18,582 22,235
Total compensation paid to key SN TRREEASNT AR 25,947 34,573

management personnel

Further details of directors’, supervisors’ and the chief
executive’'s remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

EREE EERRSTBRABHMNE—
FHBHNP B RERMES
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting periods are as

follows:

As at 31 December 2024

A20245F12A31H

BERABSNEMIA
RBERR  SEEHTANKREENT

Financial assets TRMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
BB ATTERN
SRMEE
RMB’ 000
AR®T
Financial assets included in prepayments, FTATEMRRIE « HAbEWRIE 99,660
other receivables and other assets MEMEENCREE
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 448,315
Total #Et 547,975
As at 31 December 2024 #2024%F12831H
Financial liabilities SEEesE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBHRATTERN
=R
RMB’ 000
AR®T
Trade and bills payables B SN RIERENER 59,789
Financial liabilities included in other payables SAHMENRERESERNERERE 269,414
and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTBERTT R H M 1E K 878,256
Total #aEt 1,207,459
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REHESHERMITA (F)

7A2023F12H31H

Financial assets TRMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
B HEK AT ER
RMB’000
AREET T
Financial assets included in prepayments, other st AFEfIZIA « EtEKFIB R 2,778
receivables and other assets EMEENSREE
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkREEEY 834,983
Total #aEt 837,761
As at 31 December 2023 7A2023%F12831H
Financial liabilities =R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RSB AT ER
TR BE
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Trade and bills payables Z N RIERENRR 115,081
Financial liabilities included in other payables ST AH AR RIE R EETE R 44,521
and accruals TRAE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T EERIT R EH A AR 631,640
Total #Et 791,242
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34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade and bills payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets, and financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
The fair values of other non-current financial liabilities
including interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and redemption liabilities on owners’ capital have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities and the fair
values approximate to their carrying amounts.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of time deposits
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were assessed to be
insignificant. Management has assessed that the fair values
of the non-current portion of time deposits and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At the end of each
of the reporting periods, the finance department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
directors review the results of the fair value measurement
of financial instruments periodically for financial reporting.

34.

THMITANAFERATFEER

AT

EREECHG  T2HRRETANEHE
HHE  ReRREEEY  BEHEMNKA
MEMERE - AR - EfEWFIE
KEAMEEN S RE EIA KT A H MR
ALEFERNERABEZAFERERE
BERBMEE - HtERBER A E (B
BRITREMERREFEABEANERDA
&) AFEDRER  FERRRFHE
PR 77 E AR AR T R e 3R B °] A ) R 47 3R TR A8
ARREREFE - A FEEEKREER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents, and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade and other payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below.

Interest risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
other than time deposits (note 17) and cash and cash
equivalents (note 20). The Group'’s interest rate risk arises
from its borrowings, details of which are set out in note
23. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at variable
rates expose the Group to the risk of changes on market
interest rates. The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt obligations with
a floating interest rate.

As at 31 December 2024,
been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, the loss before tax for the year ended 31
December 2024 would have been RMB2,739,000 (2023:
RMB2,063,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of the
higher/lower interest expense on loans.

if interest rates on loans had
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ArEENFESMTEARERENREEEE
MIARGTERITREMER - ZSZEMI A
NEZEMRALEENEEESEES -
SEEZHAMEREERAE  WEEX
BEZEMNE S RKEA B FKE -

$Elfﬁmﬂilﬂ?$&ﬁiﬁﬂ = PUNSNE

HNERR - EERE /lu@éi}—wﬁi
%%A R RAIEEEZIRER AT E
BEE2aT o

R SR B

BREBEFER (MF17) ARRS KRS EEY
(Mtz£20) 51 - $%IIMEX$§§§ N
EIE’WJTH R EEER - FBEENHE

o FEIMEE BB IRT &Efﬂﬂﬁt”ﬁ
ZlSE@EEEWi%ﬂT“EUE’JHﬁ“ o ANEEI
B R A R SRS R L R R R o AR
SEEBENTIZANZEFHRME R EAREE
HEBEBREIAR

M2024F 128318 - ﬁﬁmﬂ%iﬁh/T
PROOMEEEE - MATA Kt ESRIFTE -
£2024F12A31 B IEFE BRI AIEER
=, mA AR EE2 739,000 (20234
AR¥2063,0007T) ' EEHREZRFEH
g A FTER o

245



246

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
STERRENRRRAERAR

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 BILFE

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. HEEKREEBERBIEK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk SPEE B B
The Group has certain cash and cash equivalents REEREETUNE(EERET ([X
denominated in foreign currencies, mainly United States T RET(ETD)FENEeREESE
Dollars (“USD”) and Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD"), which BEY) - 2mHEINERR - NEEGEEHE
are exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group has not HNEE R
hedged its foreign currency risk.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TRETRIEHNR - EAEMEERES
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in TEERT - AEBEBRT A EE A R
the USD and HKD exchange rates, with all other variables HETRBITER 2 & 18 0] 88 & 8 ) BUX
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax and equity E(RREREBHEEERABNATEE
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and g)) o
liabilities).
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in the rate (decrease) Increase/
of foreign in loss (decrease)
currency before tax in equity
IMESTE R BB AIEE R
#gm,CRd) i CES)  #Em GRS
% RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
% ARET T AR¥TR
31 December 2024 2024%12H31H
If RMB strengthens against US$ EARE S ETHE 5 9,125 9,125
If RMB weakens against US$ BEARKHETEE (5) (9,125) (9,125)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ B AR X B THE 5 140 140
If RMB weakens against HK$ BEAREEBITRE (5) (140) (140)
31 December 2023 20239 12H31H
If RMB strengthens against US$ B AR K ETHE 5 25,498 25,498
If RMB weakens against US$ eARBHETRE (5) (25,498) (25,498)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ — H AR X THE 5 3,933 3,933
If RMB weakens against HK$ BEARBHBTRE (5) (3,933) (3,933)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables and other assets included in the
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

As at the end of the reporting periods, cash and cash
equivalents were deposited in banks with high credit
ratings without significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains the level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Group to finance the
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

35.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. HEEKREEBERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) nEBESEE (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at R|EBR  NEEZRESLHRERNTHRGTE
the end of the reporting periods, based on the contractual MemBEIHERAT
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
As at 31 December 2024 7A2024F12H31H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
RER 15 15ZE5%F 5F L MEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTR ARBTRT AR®TR AR%¥TR
Financial liabilities included in s A b 7708 & 177,546 - - - 177,546
other payables and accruals B ERANESRERE
Trade and bills payables E SR HE R 59,789 - - - 59,789
AN
Interest-bearing bank and FTESRITR - 525,952 399,015 - 924,967
other borrowings H i & 5K
Lease liabilities HEAE 6,881 4,485 - - 11,366
Total 15 244,216 530,437 399,015 - 1,173,668
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F12A431H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
BER 16/ 1FE5F 5F LA F #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARETT ARETRT ARBTT ARETT
Financial liabilities included in 5T AE A ER RIE & 44,521 = = = 44,521
other payables and accruals  [EFfBAMNERHARE
Trade and bills payables 2 SN RIER 115,081 - - - 115,081
ERZE&
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITR - 71,383 622,899 — 694,282
other borrowings H &K
Lease liabilities HEBE 5,042 10,618 4,950 - 20,610
Total st 164,644 82,001 627,849 — 874,494
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. HMKEKREEBEREXE (#)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management EXER
The primary objectives of the Group's capital management REEEAEENEZZENAREAEER
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going BRERERBRERNLEMEN - UIHF
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to HEBIWHRREERAL
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes N5 B A R AR E AR OR B0 8 R AR R B EE Y R
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions SRMEEEERNEEREL AR - B
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To NABREARGERE  ASEARABRRS TRE
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may FIRRE ~ MR SRRE B AN B ITHAR - A&
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital B BAEETEMIIBERRNERRE - RS
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not WMEHR  EREAMER  BERSIEFIT
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. ke o
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital as at the end of each of
the reporting periods.
The gearing ratios of the Group as at 31 December 2024 R20244F % 2023F 124310 » AEBHE
and 2023 were as follows: EABLEAT
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET ARBETTT
Total assets WA E 1,940,232 2,186,277
Total liabilities BEE 1,410,908 1,115,333
Gearing ratio BEAMEEX 72.72% 51.02%
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. ZAATKNEBEMRRER
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the REBEHR - N2 E 8B AR AR E R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ™
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
12024 F 2023 4F
12831 H 12H31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Kt AR¥T AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W~ BB R&E 1,019,188 791,384
Right-of-use assets EREEE 32,032 35,637
Investments in subsidiaries R B A A AIEE 288,833 239,533
Other intangible assets B EE 15,312 19,006
Other non-current assets HMIEREEE 148,951 122,240
Total non-current assets SEMB) B E AT 1,504,361 1,207,800
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 62,162 93,574
Prepayments, other receivables and TEfTFRIE  H A U GRIE & 515,941 451,055
other assets HE&E
Pledged deposits B & FHR 8,231 75,630
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 439,354 820,611
Total current assets MENVEE LR 1,025,688 1,440,870
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,879 8,622
Trade and bills payables B O RENFIERENEE 59,117 110,854
Interest-bearing bank and other FHERTT R E &5 — BIER 499,378 46,307
borrowings -current
Other payables and accruals H b FET 5018 R FEET B A 330,061 294,605
Total current liabilities mE A EREE 896,435 460,388
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFHE 129,253 980,482
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAES 1,633,569 2,188,282

LIABILITIES
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. ZAATMNMERRE (&)
COMPANY (continued)

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
R2024F 1220234
12A31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k3 ARBT T ARBTIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other T EERTT R H AR 378,878 585,333
borrowings
Lease liabilities HEAE - 1,463
Deferred income FEIEU =5 58,904 75,811
Other non-current liabilities HEMIEmEaE 128,176 =
Total non-current liabilities EnRBaERSE 565,958 662,607
Net assets BEE 1,067,611 1,525,675
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the B REHE ABIEER
parent
Share capital &N 482,963 482,963
Treasury shares EFK (68,281) (54,005)
Reserves (A 652,929 1,096,717

Total equity s 4ARE 1,067,611 1,525,675
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

36. ARDAMHBMRRE (FK)

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: ARG BESRENT
Share Share-based
Treasury Capital Other payment Accumulated

shares premium reserves reserve losses Total

WA

AERN
BEER RARE ARl BESE ZiER it
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARBTR ARETn AR%Tn ARBTR  ARET:R
At 1 January 2023 #2023%1A1H - 2,578,840 166,768 185,505  (1,407,711) 1,523,402
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ENEEREEEELE - - - - (468,578)  (468,578)
Shares purchased under 2022 H Share Incentive R 2022FHIR R (54,005) - - - - (54,005)

Scheme EEANRD
Share-based payments DR AERANH - = = 41,893 - 41,893
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12831R (54,005) 2,578,840 166,768 227,398 (1,876,289) 1,042,712
At 1 January 2024 202451818 (54,005) 2578840 166768 227,398  (1,876,289) 1,042,712
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FREEREAEELE - - - - (477,446)  (477,446)
Shares purchased under 2022 H Share Incentive 1R 52022 EHIRH1E) (14,276) - - - - (14,276)
Scheme T8l AR

Share-based payments IR BERAAR - - - 33,658 - 33,658
At 31 December 2024 #202412 8318 (68,281) 2,578,840 166,768 261,056 (2,353,735) 584,648
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2024, the Company
entered into a supplementary agreement with Yangtze
River Pharmaceutical, pursuant to which Yangtze River
Pharmaceutical has consented to extend the repayment
period of the RMB200 million borrowing up to 1 April 2026.

Concurrently, the Group entered into credit facility
agreements, and as of the reporting date, the Group had
a total of RMB146 million of unused credit facilities that
would be available for use beyond 31 December 2025.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
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BREHPRER

MN2024F 12 A31 B 2% » AARIEIGTIT
BEZTT —HOEREE BRI TIEER
EBARE2008EEBTERNERARRT
RE2026F4A18 °

A AEBEHZEEREHS  BHE®R
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Definitions

“‘Annual General Meeting”
or “AGM”
[FERRAS ]

“Articles of Association”

“Audit Committee”
3=

“BD"
[BDJ

“Board”
(B

“CDE”

“China” or “PRC”

B

“Code Provision(s)”
ISEUCSd

“Companies Ordinance”

INSIESY

B=

the annual general meeting of our Company proposed to be held on June
20, 2025;
RN AFERR 20256 A20 B RITHFERRAS ;

the articles of association of Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd., as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
TE IR RHE MR IRH BRA R EE (ETRIERT - #FRsk AE M &)

the audit committee of our Company;
RNARIEAERER

business development;

EBIE

the board of Directors of our Company;

ARTEER

the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (B B R EEE EIE BEREFELF L), a
division of the NMPA mainly responsible for review and approval of IND and
BLA;

HREMEBERRERFNTL  AEREERETHIHE TE88
IND K& BLABY 212 S A

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
AR B SRC PRI (R EIR<PRID (BARHERT ~ FFRsi AR M7 g2k 5

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of the report and
for geographical reference only and except where the context requires,
references in the report to “China” and the “PRC" do not include Hong Kong,
the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan;
REARKME - BERARE RRMMEEEHE - BERXESHBMMEN - K
HERRAR [P W ABEPEES  RFIFITEHR R A EHE

the principles and code provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code;
EE VAT RISE 385 PraEt a [R Bl K <7 RIS

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
BEBENE622F (R THED ) (BARHERT ~ fli7n sk AR M 5 B2



“Company” or “our
Company”

[ ]

“Core Product”

“CSRC”
GEEE

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Domestic Share(s)”

[AE R

“Dr. Liu”

(gL

‘FDA”
[FDAJ

“Global Offering”

“Group”, “our Group”,

“we” or “us”

(&R 5 [ 3]

“Hangzhou Ruibaio’

[N B (A 2
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BEREMrFAR

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. (T & ImRI AT AD BE A F), a joint
stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, the H Shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2179);

i LE IR EMRMBRNBER AR - —KRFPEEMAZORBERAT - AEHR
B P BT (AR SR - 2179)

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules; for the
purpose of the report, our Core Product refers to REC603, a recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate;

| BERELFTRAUE1BAER TZANEE  RABREMS - RMNWRLERE
REC603 (—REANBHPVIRERE ) :

China Securities Regulatory Commission;

b TEESEEEEREE

the director(s) of our Company;

Ec ARRAESE

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value
of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi by
domestic investors;

i RARRAHEREBEARKE1.00THERR - BEAREEUARKRELH
& 5

Dr. Liu Yong, the executive Director, chairman of the Board and general
manager of our Group;

| AEENTES ESSTFNAKEIEEL

the United States Food and Drug Administration;
| FHRREREEEER

the global offering of 30,854,500 H Shares (subject to over-allotment option)
as described in the Prospectus;
i AR E IR Pl 2 B3 E 30,854,500 R HAR (AR T RE AL AR T T IB R M AE)

our Company and all of our subsidiaries or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before our Company became the holding company
of its present subsidiaries, the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or
their predecessors (as the case may be);

£ AABREMEMBAT @ SIRXEME - RAREKAEHBRE A R
ARIZAWEEMS - ZEMBARSNEN S GRIERME) P& a5

Hangzhou Ruibaio Technology Company Limited (fiMImARREARAF),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on February 3, 2023;
i MMIBEREHEARAE - —RN2023F2 A3HEFBEKZNARAR :
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“H Share(s)”

[HAX

“H Share Registrar”
[HARZFEHE TR ]

“HK$” or “Hong Kong dollars”

[t

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“IASB”
[EFR et EREEE ]

“IFRS”

[ B B 75 e 5 A

“IPMT”

[1PMT ]

“Jiangsu MPA”
DIgREZESR |

“Latest Practicable Date”

[RIEBERRRITTRH]

“Listing”
[ E ]

overseas listed foreign share(s) in the share capital of our Company, with a
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are listed on the Stock Exchange and
traded in Hong Kong dollars;

RRABBREHEREEARKE.00TTERII ETINER - REERFT BT R IAETT

25

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited;
BERRRESELDERAT

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;

BEEEEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
PEEBRFIITRE ;

International Accounting Standards Board;
B et ERE RS

the International Financial Reporting Standards, which as collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB;
BB B EER - ZATH B ERE e AR F S E B AP A B A & R BB B
BIREER - BR S ERI MEE

the product investment decision and review body within the IPD system,
which is responsible for formulating the Company’s overall mission, vision,
and strategic direction, guiding and monitoring the operation of each product
line, and facilitating the full-process collaboration among departments, as
well as formulating a balanced business plan of the Company and making
decisions on the generation of new product lines;
IPDERPHERRERRNAERE  AFHER AN EmRRMEBE M@
HEERQEMETEENER  UHSZMMAZRENRE  SITHEHRE)
EHET 8] WHIEmRREEEITREK

Jiangsu Medical Products Administration;
IHEAEREEERER

March 31, 2025, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information in the report prior to its publication;
202543 A 310 « B E I ATFETE B P Prsle TER N REERAITRE

the listing of our H Shares on the Stock Exchange;
HAR BB SZ Py =77



“Listing Date”

[ £ B8

“Listing Rules”

[ LR Al

“Main Board”

[ EHR]

“Model Code”

[EF A

‘NMPA”

E
s

[BEIRZE ]
“Prospectus”

[ AR ETE ]

“Reporting Period”
[ HA ]

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[AR% ]

“Share(s)”

[Bfn ]

“Shareholders”

[ B3R

“Stock Exchange”
[ B8 <2 FfT |
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BEREMrFAR

March 31, 2022, on which dealings in our H Shares first commenced on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange;
202243 H31H « AIHRR B REB A ERFME BN B E

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time;

BEEMARGAAERAARZS ETHRA (EARER] 7 sA B M ) ¢

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange, which is independent from and operated in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange;

QAT BEMESR ST (TR EEEME) - £ KRB ATGrowth Enterprise
Marketlz 812 W17 & 4&

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time;
FiRAIKMERCIPAEM A EMBETABZFETEF R HNRESTA) (B TEHE
7] MR EA R T RS

the National Medical Products Administration of the PRC (B% %@ EE & & 18
=) and its predecessor, the China Food and Drug Administration (ER & @

BEERMENSBEZRmEREEEREER

the prospectus issued by our Company on March 21, 2022 in relation to our
Global Offering and Listing;
RARIBEIREE Rk EmAr T B HR202263 H21 HOHBRERE ;

the year ended December 31, 2024;
HZE2024F12A31BILEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

FEEEEB AR

share(s) in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each, comprising our Domestic Shares, Unlisted Foreign Shares
and H Shares;

AARRAHEGREBEARKE1.00THIRG @ BERER - RETMINERRHRE

holders of our Shares;

BRFHEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;
BEMERZSRAERIHE
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“subsidiary(ies)”

= PNCIN

“Supervisor(s)”

T2 |

“United States” or “U.S.”
[SEE |

“Unlisted Foreign Share(s)”
[REMINERR ]

“U.S. dollars”, “US$” or “USD”
[T

“Wuhan Recogen”
[EEIR R

“Yangtze River

Pharmaceutical”
[$5FiT&e2 |

has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 15 of the Companies Ordinance;
HB R RHEBIE 1558 T % AR

supervisor(s) of our Company;

ARAESE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction;
ERRERE - HEL  BHRIRAEEEEENMEME ;

ordinary share(s) issued by our Company with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each and are held by foreign investors and are not listed on any stock
exchange;

RARBFETHEREEBEARK1.00TTHE R - WHRBIMEERE - BUER
GREECE Ll

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States;

XEEEERET

Wuhan Recogen Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (BZHRIZEAMRIEBERRAR), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on September 28, 2021;
REHRB S EMBRARAR - —KNR2021F9H28HEHBEIKHARAR

Yangtze River Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd. (B FIEXEEER AR, a
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability.
BTIBEEERRAR  —REFRAMKIHBERETARA -
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Glossary of Technical Terms R s 5

“adjuvant” a substance that may be added to a vaccine to enhance the body’'s immune
response to an antigen;

A ] | —TERAIHORINEE E H LAE SR A BRI R R E B W E

“adjuvant system” formulations of classical adjuvants mixed with immunomodulators,
specifically adapted to the antigen and the target population;

[ B %4t ] i HFIEE TR B E AR BT E R EES R R

“AE” adverse events, any untoward medical occurrences in a patient or clinical

investigation subject administered with a drug or other pharmaceutical
product during clinical trials and which do not necessarily have a causal
relationship with the treatment;

[TREH] i BEIGAABRIAERNBARAARPES EEYSHEOERHMRRERNTR
BEEN BT —FELAREGERBRE

“AESI” adverse event of special interest;
[AESI ] i BRI TREN
“antigen” the substance that is capable of stimulating an immune response,

specifically activating lymphocytes, which are the body’s infection fighting
white blood cells;

(LR ] i BESRIM R EENYE - FRIRBEMEARN (ABEBRARNBAEN) ;

“AS01” a liposome-based vaccine adjuvant system, which contains 3-O-desacyl-4'-
monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), as well as the saponin QS-21;

[ASO1 ] i ERRERNERZRS ©E363-0— EME-4'— EWBERBEAMPL) - UKk2
£QS-21

“AS03” an adjuvant system composed of o -tocopherol, squalene and polysorbate
80 in an oil-in-water emulsion;

[ASO03] i Ho— £B - ARKMEILEEZES804H MK KK B m FL A B R 47T

“AS04” an adjuvant system composed of aluminum salt and monophosphoryl lipid A
(MPL), a clinically utilized TLR4 agonist;

[AS04] i —ERIEEAKMNEE RS - RRthE — &K LA TLRA B E B B BB A
A(MPL) :

“B cell(s)” a type of white blood cell that differ(s) from other lymphocytes like T-cells

by the presence of the BCR on the B-cell’'s outer surface, also known as
B-lymphocytes;

[BAAAR ] i< —EEBAMAINR EFEBCRT A E T AR S B M AR ) 5 ABM - JRiEB M
B
“BLA” biologics license application;

[BLA | EY BT A B
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“‘CD4”

[CD4]
‘CD4+T cells”
[CD4+T#AkE |
‘CD8+T cells”
[CD8+T 4t |
‘Che”
e

“CEPI”

[CEPI]

“cervical cancer”

ﬁ
Tid
VA
ol

| —

“CHO cell”

[CHO#AM |

“‘COVID-19"

[ %7 4 |

“ELISPOT and ICS”

[ELISPOT &ICS|

“E.coli”

[ REGH2E

a transmembrane glycoprotein that is expressed as a single polypeptide
chain on the MHC class ll-restricted T-cells;
—EBREED  EFE _HBEMHCRHIMETAM F AR L IR A KR E

a type of important T lymphocyte that helps coordinate the immune response
by stimulating other immune cells to fight infections;

—REBENTHEAR - BERNARCERARSNBERAXEDHARREE

a type of important T lymphocytes for immune defense against intracellular
pathogens, including viruses and bacteria, and for tumour surveillance;
—EHEARARRE (EERSTAR) ETE2EMEUAREEBRREEINEE
B TRES 40 AR

Centre for Disease Control and Prevention;
TR TR IR Sl A L

the Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations, a foundation that
receives donations from the public, private, philanthropic and civil social
organizations to fund independent research projects, thus to develop
vaccines against emerging infectious diseases;

MITRO BRI - — A A A ZERERATCSEBRBDINESD
g URBVARERREES  UREHEIEERRAEE

cancer that occurs in the cervix — the lower part of the uterus that connects
to the vagina;
BAEFEERNEE - FEUSERREN TS TEL:

Chinese Hamsters Ovary Cell, which is widely used in biopharmaceutical
industry to produce recombinant proteins;

TERRINEAN  FzRAREYHETE  BREESHERY

Coronavirus Disease 2019, an infectious disease caused by the most
recently discovered coronavirus, first reported in December 2019;

2019 B MR T &M= A BCA B IR A E AR F o A E LR MERE - 72019412
RERRER

enzyme linked immunospot assay, or ELISPOT, and intracellular cytokine
staining, or ICS based on flow cytometry, the two most commonly used
detection methods to evaluate vaccine-induced immune responses;

Bg B S0 X DEBE R AT (enzyme linked immunospot assay * ELISPOT) FERHR
HARRAT A B R AR F 22 & (intracellular cytokine staining ' ICS) @ ER B H
B REEE & T RMERAG X

Escherichia coli expression system, an expression system used in vaccine
R&D and manufacturing;
ANEREREZRS  ARNEEREREENRERS



“emulsion”

[FLA ]

“epitope”

[ &R0 ]

“‘GFA”
[ EmTE

“‘GMP”
[GMP

‘GMT"
[GMT |

“H. polymorpha”

[RiEEH
“HPV”
[HPV]

“HPV 9-valent vaccine”

[NEHPVEHE |

“HPV bivalent vaccine”

[ ZEHPVEH |

“HPV quadrivalent vaccine”

[PO{EHPV & |

“immune response”

[RRREE]

“immunogenicity”

[ RIE ]

Annual Report 2024
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BEREMrFAR

a mixture of two or more liquids that are normally immiscible (unmixable or
unblendable) owing to liquid-liquid phase separation;
MiBERZE—RE TS (TADES KA R ELEY) B& B8 B & &R 2 B m FZRK 6008
a1

part of an antigen that is recognized by the immune system, specifically by
antibodies, B cells, or T cells;
WHES BARITAREN RERZABNONRN—F5 :

gross floor area,;
HREEEE

good manufacturing practices;
BERLEEEEERE

geometric mean titers;

#EAFLHE

Hansenula polymorpha, a well-known model organism, which can utilize
methanol as the carbon source and energy source, used widely for studying
cellular, metabolic, and genetic issues, and used in vaccine industry for
expression of recombinant proteins;

EHEEE - —ERAANNENEY - RARER/FRKER - BZANH A
B RS REERRE  ARERETERERUNREEERER

human papillomavirus, persistent infection of high-risk types can cause
cervical cancer;
AFBRRERE - SERARNFERLAGL TSR =EE

a vaccine that can help protect individuals against the infections and
diseases caused by nine types of HPV;
—EAIE B REEA R XA NEREIHPV S| AR SRR E H

vaccines that can prevent infections of two HPV types;
A AR R IEHPVAR R B & i

vaccines that can prevent infections of four HPV types;
A FERA UTEHPVAR A B A R

the process by which the body is stimulated by antigens;

TURR SRS R BAE

the ability of an antigen to provoke immune response;

TRSIERREEHEE
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“IND”
[IND]

“influenza” or “flu”

“‘IPD”

[IPDJ

“MF59”

[MF59]

“MRNA”

[mRNA ]

“neutralizing antibodies”

or “NAb”
[HAnFEs |3 [NAD ]

“‘OPTI"

[OPTI]

“pathogens”

[RREE ]

“‘QS-21"
[QS-21]

‘R&D"
[ 7t 3% |

investigational new drug or investigational new drug application;
B PR 70 FR SR 22 5l B R T 9T FR ST 22 FR 35

highly infectious respiratory diseases caused by influenza viruses. It is
characterised by sudden onset of high fever, aching muscles, headache,
fatigue and a hacking cough. Serious outcome of influenza can result in
hospitalization or death;

MR E S| A ERERRE T RERRE - FEERERE  NAKE - 2
B RS RE - EREEAIREAR  EERT

Integrated Product Development, a structure of work and best practices that
causes people to work together more effectively with better communications
and metrics that connect the entire value chain which is the standard of the
matrix management mode;

EXEMRAE  —BILERSKEEBRNARE - AR AMELGT SR RETELTEH
B2 (EMEASBUL R T - WEEREEEE (L ABREERENAEE)

an adjuvant system that uses a derivative of shark liver oil called squalene;

messenger ribonucleic acid, a single-stranded molecule of RNA that
corresponds to the genetic sequence of a gene, and is read by a ribosome
in the process of synthesizing a protein;

EEREZE  AERNEEFIIEHENEERNAD T £aKREAENBGERE
A AR RS TEER

an antibody that is responsible for defending cells from pathogens, which
are organisms that cause disease;

—RAEREAREZRRBREZTONE (RRBAISIRKBHLEY)

the management philosophy adopted by our Company, which referred to
Opportunity, Prudence, Technology and Intellectual Property;

AARRMNEILIES - IS - BE - R RABERE

a bacteria virus, or other microorganism that can cause disease;

BHARROAE RS EMMEY

a purified plant extract used as a vaccine adjuvant;

—RARREER WA CEYIRRY

research and development;
7 R FE
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“SAE” serious adverse events, any untoward medical occurrence in human drug
trials that at any dose: results in death; is life threatening; requires inpatient
hospitalization or causes prolongation of existing hospitalization; results
in persistent or significant disability and/or incapacity; may have caused
a congenital anomaly/birth defect, or requires intervention to prevent
permanent impairment or damage;

[SAE] K[ BRETR FH14] i BEMREN BEATEMBENAREYABRTOHEMEIEREHNELE
B BEOLT : BBAS  FEZEEFARIEBHREGERAELR + E
FENBERRMN, RTATIERE S : ARG BUERMERE HAERKE - (FE
TIELART IEAR A MR ERIBE -

“SARS-CoV-2” severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, the strain of coronavirus
that causes COVID-19;

[SARS-CoV-2] i BESUETRRAGFEESRES2 EEETEMLNERESERK

“shingles” a viral infection that causes a painful rash;

[#AkE 2 | —TESRARBE PR SR

“T cell(s)” cell(s) that originate in the thymus, mature in the periphery, become

activated in the spleen/nodes if their T-cell receptors bind to an antigen
presented by an MHC molecule and they receive additional costimulation
signals driving them to acquire killing (mainly CD8 + T cells) or supporting
(mainly CD4 + T cells) functions;

[T#BME | RN INE AR AN RETARXEBEMHCHY FE2ENMREA K
TEREHE M E A EUE - B E SRR SN RS SR A RIS AR (= E St
CD8+T#AMD) k¥ (= Z I CD4+TAA) ThAE

“B” tuberculosis, an infection caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis that
primarily affects the lungs;

[ 451 i wEiz o AEEREMA AR D IRE S BARR

“TEAE” treatment emergent adverse event;

[TEAE] i EREEENTREMN

“TLR4” a receptor for lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which has a pivotal role in the
regulation of immune responses to infection;

[TLR4] i FEZHE(LPS)HIX 48 - AEAE I RN R R EE T RREMBIIER

“tolerability” the degree to which overt AEs of a drug can be tolerated by a patient.

Tolerability of a particular drug can be discussed in a general sense, or it
can be a quantifiable measurement as part of a clinical study;

[ i 5214 ) | BEHEYNABR IR EMHOMEIEE - FEEWOMZXIER AE—REE L
Tt - A MERERIRIF R — SO ETE(LRIS
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“varicella” an acute infectious disease caused by the first infection of varicella zoster
virus;

k%= ] i BRBRKE — FIRBE RS RNSEERR

“VLPs” virus-like particles, are molecules that closely resemble viruses;

[VLPs | i RSN - RERSIEBHUNS T

‘WHO” World Health Organization.

[t R A A i HERBT B -

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report AWMEMENETEERBAD LEFEELOE
have been subject to rounding adjustments.

For ease of reference, the names of the PRC laws and regulations, A&7 208 - MEUEAFRER - BUFEPPT - #%E - 8
governmental authorities, institutions, natural persons or other AASEMERE (BEAQFNETHEBEAR)HH
entities (including certain of our subsidiaries) have been included  EXEZBHEHARRE - il F E R AE E @]
in this report in both the Chinese and English languages and in &+ BIAR XhRZAR B « B 75 XA TR 3 XX 2
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese versions shall prevail.  ZRR#E 7

English translations of official Chinese names are for identification

purpose only.
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